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On January 31, 2023, Administrative Law Judge John 
T. Giannopoulos issued the attached decision.  Siren Re-
tail Corp. d/b/a Starbucks (the Respondent), the General 
Counsel, and Workers United (the Charging Party) each 
filed exceptions and a supporting brief.  The Respondent 
filed answering briefs in response to the General Counsel 
and the Charging Party, and the Charging Party filed an 
answering brief in response to the Respondent.  The Re-
spondent and the Charging Party each filed a reply brief.

The National Labor Relations Board1 has considered the 
decision and the record in light of the exceptions and 
briefs and has decided to affirm the judge’s rulings, find-
ings, and conclusions only to the extent consistent with 
this Decision and Order.2

The issues in this case primarily arise out of various 
statements that the Respondent’s managers made to em-
ployees during mandatory meetings that the Respondent 
convened to discuss unionization following the Charging 
Party’s filing of a petition for a representation election.3  
We affirm the judge’s findings, for the reasons he states, 
that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Na-
tional Labor Relations Act by threatening employees that 
unionization would cause them to lose the current benefit 

1 The Respondent asserts that Members Prouty and Wilcox should 
recuse themselves, claiming that their “past, present, and perceived rela-
tionships with the Service Employees International Union (SEIU), SEIU 
Local Unions, and their affiliates, including Charging Party Workers 
United” create a conflict of interest.  Members Prouty and Wilcox have 
determined, in consultation with the Board’s Designated Agency Ethics 
Official, that there is no basis to recuse themselves from the adjudication 
of this case.

2 We have amended the judge’s conclusions of law consistent with 
our findings and have modified the judge’s recommended Order con-
sistent with those legal conclusions.  We have substituted a new notice 
to conform to the Order as modified.

3 The General Counsel requests that we overrule Babcock & Wilcox 
Co., 77 NLRB 577 (1948), which addresses the lawfulness of such em-
ployer-mandated campaign meetings.  We decline to do so at this time 
and, thus, affirm the judge’s dismissal of the allegation that the Respond-
ent unlawfully held mandatory or effectively mandatory captive-audi-
ence meetings. 

4 Sec. 8(a)(1) makes it unlawful for an employer “to interfere with, 
restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in 

of Term Limited Assignments and would cause the Re-
spondent to prioritize giving benefits to employees at its 
nonunionized stores over giving benefits to employees at 
its unionized stores.4  We also affirm the judge’s finding 
that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) by implying 
that collective bargaining could not redress the employ-
ees’ current inability to receive tips from customers’ credit 
card payments.  Such statements, which suggest that a un-
ion cannot help employees get better compensation for 
their work, unlawfully threaten employees that unioniza-
tion would be futile.  See, e.g., Bucyrus Foodland North 
& Bucyrus Foodland South, 247 NLRB 284, 286 (1980), 
enfd. in rel. part sub nom. NLRB v. Frederick’s Foodland, 
Inc., 655 F.2d 88 (6th Cir. 1981).5  We further affirm the 
judge’s findings that the social media posts of one of the 
Respondent’s supervisors that threatened that unioniza-
tion would cause the loss of certain employee benefits 
were attributable to the Respondent and violated Section 
8(a)(1).6

We also adopt the judge’s finding that the Respondent 
did not violate Section 8(a)(1) based on its managers’ 
statements concerning the impact unionization would 
have on the employees’ ability to address issues individu-
ally with the Respondent.  However, in reviewing the 
judge’s finding, we have decided to prospectively overrule 
Tri-Cast, Inc., 274 NLRB 377 (1985)—which the judge 
relied on—and adopt, for future cases only, a test con-
sistent with the Board’s pre-Tri-Cast approach.  As dis-
cussed in greater detail in Section I, below, in Tri-Cast and 
its progeny, the Board erred in deeming categorically law-
ful nearly any employer statement to employees touching 
on the impact that unionization would have on the rela-
tionship between individual employees and their em-
ployer.  As we will explain, the purposes of the Act are
better served if the content and context of such statements 

[Sec. 7 of the Act].”  29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1).  Sec. 7 provides, in relevant 
part: “Employees shall have the right to self-organization, to form, join, 
or assist labor organizations, to bargain collectively through representa-
tives of their own choosing, and to engage in other concerted activities 
for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection, 
and shall also have the right to refrain from any or all of such activities 
. . . . ”  Id. § 157.

5 We find it unnecessary to pass on whether the Respondent also un-
lawfully threatened the futility of unionization by its statements concern-
ing the duration of collective bargaining, including that it takes “on av-
erage a year to eighteen months” for parties to reach an agreement.  Any 
such finding would be cumulative and would not affect the remedy.

6 In affirming the judge’s finding that the supervisor’s posts were at-
tributable to the Respondent, we do not rely on Big Ridge, Inc., 358 
NLRB 1006, 1020 (2012), affd. 361 NLRB 1372 (2014), enfd. 808 F.3d 
705 (7th Cir. 2015), because no exceptions were taken in that case to the 
judge’s relevant findings.  Instead, we rely upon Jimmy John’s, 361 
NLRB 283, 290 (2014), enfd. in rel. part 861 F.3d 812 (8th Cir. 2017) 
(en banc), and Wake Electric Membership Corp., 338 NLRB 298, 299–
300 (2002).
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are analyzed on a case-by-case basis, applying the princi-
ples reflected in the Supreme Court’s decision in NLRB v. 
Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575 (1969), which also in-
volved an employer’s prediction of adverse consequences 
from unionization.  Thus, to be deemed lawful, employer 
predictions about the negative impacts of unionization on 
employees’ ability to address issues individually with 
their employer “must be carefully phrased on the basis of 
objective fact to convey an employer’s belief as to demon-
strably probable consequences beyond his control.”  Gis-
sel, 395 U.S. at 618.

Finally, and contrary to the judge, we find in Section II, 
below, that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) by its 
managers’ statements concerning the employees’ union 
membership and strike obligations if a majority of them 
chose to unionize.

I.

At one of the Respondent’s mandatory meetings that it 
had convened to address unionization, a manager told the 
employees:

If you want a union to represent you—uh—you want to 
give your right to speak to leadership through a union, 
you’re going to check off “yes” for the election.  If you 
want to maintain a direct relationship with leadership, 
you’ll check off “no.”

She also said:

[A] representation of a union is the rules of employment 
will then be grounded in a contract.  And if it’s not in 
that contract, it’s not a conversation in my opinion that’s 
going to happen with leadership.  We’ll be bound by the 
contract.  So the union will be bound.  And Starbucks 
will be bound.  So I want to be clear on that.  That a third 
party comes in and speaks for you.  And everything will 
be grounded, from my experience and my opinion 
through the lens of that contract.

In Tri-Cast, decided in 1985, the Board reversed prece-
dent to hold that an employer’s campaign statements like 
these are lawful.  The Tri-Cast holding has since been ap-
plied broadly as a categorical rule to immunize nearly all 
employer statements concerning the relationship between 

7 Our decision to replace Tri-Cast’s categorical rule with the case-
specific approach that immediately preceded it applies to both represen-
tation and unfair labor practice cases.  In representation cases, the Board 
generally assesses whether conduct during a representation campaign is 
objectionable because it interferes with employee free choice and thereby 
warrants setting aside a representation election.  In unfair labor practice 
cases, the Board generally assesses whether the conduct of an employer 
or a union—including in the context of a representation campaign—vio-
lates the Act and thereby warrants a remedial order.  In representation 
cases (or consolidated representation and unfair labor practice cases), the 
Board has long recognized that conduct that is or could be separately 
deemed an unfair labor practice almost always constitutes objectionable 

individual employees and their employer.  In view of Tri-
Cast and its progeny, the judge in this case found the state-
ments at issue lawful.  The General Counsel asks that we 
overrule Tri-Cast and find unlawful campaign statements 
of this sort that threaten employees with the loss of an ex-
isting benefit, i.e., an established practice of permitting 
employees to address issues individually with their em-
ployer.  In turn, she urges the Board to find that the Re-
spondent’s statements in this case violated Section 8(a)(1).  
The Respondent disagrees, arguing that Tri-Cast and its 
progeny are well reasoned.  For the reasons explained be-
low, we overrule the categorical rule established in Tri-
Cast and the cases that have applied it.  We replace it with 
the case-specific approach the Board used in the years im-
mediately preceding Tri-Cast and which the Board gener-
ally uses when analyzing whether allegedly threatening 
statements violate Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.7  However, 
in view of employers’ longstanding reliance on Tri-Cast’s 
categorical rule, we will apply the newly reinstated ap-
proach only prospectively.

A.  Legal Background

We start with the text of the statute.  Section 9(a) of the 
Act grants a union chosen by the majority of a unit of em-
ployees the authority to serve as the employees’ “exclu-
sive representative[]” for the purposes of collective bar-
gaining.8 But Section 9(a) also contains a proviso quali-
fying that exclusive representation.  The proviso states 
that:

[A]ny individual employee or a group of employees shall 
have the right at any time to present grievances to their 
employer and to have such grievances adjusted, without 
the intervention of the bargaining representative, as long 
as the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of a 
collective-bargaining contract or agreement then in ef-
fect: Provided further, That the bargaining representa-
tive has been given opportunity to be present at such ad-
justment.

29 U.S.C. § 159(a) (emphasis added in part).  The proviso 
assures that, even when they are represented by a union, in-
dividual employees or groups of employees are permitted to 

conduct that may warrant setting aside the election.  See Dal-Tex Optical 
Co., 137 NLRB 1782, 1786–1787 (1962) (“Conduct violative of Sec[.] 
8(a)(1) is, a fortiori, conduct which interferes with the exercise of a free 
and untrammeled choice in an election.”); see also Lucky Cab Co., 360 
NLRB 271, 277 (2014).

8 In full, this first part of Sec. 9(a) states: “Representatives designated 
or selected for the purposes of collective bargaining by the majority of 
the employees in a unit appropriate for such purposes, shall be the exclu-
sive representatives of all the employees in such unit for the purposes of 
collective bargaining in respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employ-
ment, or other conditions of employment[.]”  29 U.S.C. § 159(a).
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“present grievances” directly to their employer without going 
through the union, and employers retain the corresponding 
ability to address such grievances directly with those individ-
uals or groups.  Id.  

The version of Section 9(a) in effect prior to the enact-
ment of the Taft-Hartley Act of 1947 provided that indi-
vidual employees could “present” their grievances to their 
employer, 29 U.S.C. § 159(a) (1935), but the Board had 
interpreted this language narrowly to mean that, while em-
ployees could communicate their grievances to their em-
ployer, they had to go through their union to resolve them, 
Hughes Tool Co., 56 NLRB 981, 982–983 (1944), enfd. 
147 F.2d 69 (5th Cir. 1945).  The Taft-Hartley Act 
“amended Section 9(a) . . . to specifically authorize em-
ployers to settle grievances presented by individual em-
ployees or groups of employees, so long as the settlement 
is not inconsistent with any collective bargaining contract 
in effect.”  H.R. Rep. No. 80–510, at 46 (1947) (Conf.
Rep.), reprinted in 1 NLRB, Legislative History of the La-
bor-Management Relations Act, 1947, at 550.  As the Su-
preme Court has explained, “[t]he intendment of the pro-
viso is to permit employees to present grievances and to 
authorize the employer to entertain them without opening 
itself to liability for dealing directly with employees in 
derogation of the duty to bargain only with the exclusive 
bargaining representative.”  Emporium Capwell Co. v. 
Western Addition Community Organization, 420 U.S. 50, 
61 fn. 12 (1975).

In the 1960s and early 1970s, the Board was incon-
sistent in its treatment of employer statements concerning 
the impact of unionization on employees’ ability to ad-
dress issues individually with their employer.  In some 

9 See, e.g., Saticoy Meat Packing Co., 182 NLRB 713, 713–715 
(1970); Henry I. Siegel Co., 172 NLRB 825, 825, 829, 837-838 (1968), 
enfd. 417 F.2d 1206 (6th Cir. 1969), cert. denied 398 U.S. 959 (1970); 
Block-Southland Sportswear, Inc., 170 NLRB 936, 936, 949–950 (1968), 
enfd. 420 F.2d 1296 (D.C. Cir. 1969); Winn-Dixie Stores, 166 NLRB 
227, 227, 234 (1967); Graber Mfg. Co., 158 NLRB 244, 244, 246–247, 
249 (1966), enfd. 382 F.2d 990 (7th Cir. 1967). 

10 See, e.g., Gertz, 197 NLRB 718, 718, 723 (1972); Bostitch Div. of 
Textron, Inc., 176 NLRB 377, 377, 379 (1969); K.O. Steel Casting, Inc., 
172 NLRB 1837, 1837 (1968); National Bookbinding Co., 171 NLRB 
219, 219–220 (1968); Westmont Engineering Co., 170 NLRB 13, 13 
(1968); Skirvin Hotel & Skirvin Tower, 142 NLRB 761, 763 (1963).

11 See, e.g., Mead Nursing Home, Inc., 265 NLRB 1115, 1115-1116 
(1982) (employer statement deemed objectionable campaign conduct); 
Economy Fire & Casualty Co., 264 NLRB 16, 20 (1982) (employer 
statement deemed unfair labor practice); Gould, Inc., 260 NLRB 54, 54 
fn. 3 (1982) (employer statement deemed unfair labor practice); Greens-
boro News Co., 257 NLRB 701 (1981) (employer statement deemed ob-
jectionable campaign conduct); Associated Roofing & Sheet Metal Co., 
255 NLRB 1349, 1350 (1981) (employer statement deemed objectiona-
ble campaign conduct); Limestone Apparel Corp., 255 NLRB 722, 728 
(1981) (employer statement deemed unfair labor practice), enfd. 705 
F.2d 799 (6th Cir. 1982) (mem.); Joe & Dodie’s Tavern, 254 NLRB 401, 
401, 411 (1981) (employer statement deemed unfair labor practice), 

cases, the Board found—often with the approval of the 
federal courts of appeals—that statements were unlawful 
threats where employees were told that, if they chose a un-
ion, they would lose the benefit of their existing ability to 
address issues individually with their employer.9  But in 
other cases, the Board found that substantially similar 
statements were lawful predictions that unionization 
would require employees to go through their chosen un-
ions to address individual issues.10  

By the late 1970s and early 1980s, however, the Board 
began—with the approval of the Fourth, Sixth, Seventh, 
Eighth, and Ninth Circuits—to consistently find unlawful 
employer statements that effectively threatened employ-
ees with the loss of their Section 9(a) ability to address 
issues individually with their employer.11  In those cases, 
the Board recognized that “an employer may explain that 
with union representation the union will be a participant 
in employer-employee relations generally,” but also rec-
ognized that “an employer cannot threaten to retaliate 
against its employees’ selection of a union representative
by cutting off the employees’ Section 9(a) right to deal di-
rectly with management.”  Greensboro News Co., 257 
NLRB at 701.

At the same time as it was consistently remedying em-
ployer threats to abridge employees’ ability to raise indi-
vidualized grievances under the proviso to Section 9(a), 
the Board decided Midland National Life Insurance Co., 
263 NLRB 127 (1982), a representation case that ad-
dressed factual misrepresentations made during a union 
campaign.  There, the Board concluded that it would “no 
longer probe into the truth or falsity of the parties’ cam-
paign statements” and, accordingly, would “not set 

enfd. sub nom. NLRB v. Dick Seidler Enterprises, 666 F.2d 383 (9th Cir. 
1982); Ducane Heating Corp., 254 NLRB 112, 112 fn. 2 (1981) (em-
ployer statement deemed unfair labor practice), enfd. in part 665 F.2d 
1039 (4th Cir. 1981) (mem.); G.F. Business Equipment, Inc., 252 NLRB 
866, 871 (1980) (employer statement deemed objectionable campaign 
conduct and unfair labor practice), enfd. 673 F.2d 1314 (4th Cir. 1982) 
(mem.); Armstrong Cork Co., 250 NLRB 1282, 1282 (1980) (employer 
statement deemed objectionable campaign conduct); LOF Glass, Inc., 
249 NLRB 428, 428–429 (1980) (employer statement deemed objection-
able campaign conduct); Colony Printing & Labeling, 249 NLRB 223, 
224-225 (1980) (employer statement deemed unfair labor practice), enfd. 
651 F.2d 502 (7th Cir. 1981); Sacramento Clinical Laboratory, Inc., 242 
NLRB 944, 944–945 (1979) (employer statement deemed unfair labor 
practice), enf. denied in rel. part 623 F.2d 110 (9th Cir. 1980); Tipton 
Electric Co., 242 NLRB 202, 202, 205–206 (1979) (employer statement 
deemed unfair labor practice), enfd. 621 F.2d 890 (8th Cir. 1980); Rob-
bins & Myers, Inc., 241 NLRB 102, 103–104 (1979) (employer state-
ment deemed objectionable campaign conduct), enfd. 653 F.2d 237 (6th 
Cir. 1980), cert. denied 451 U.S. 938 (1981); C & J Manufacturing Co., 
238 NLRB 1388, 1391–1392 (1978) (employer statement deemed objec-
tionable campaign conduct and unfair labor practice); Han-Dee Pak, 
Inc., 232 NLRB 454, 458–459 (1977) (employer statement deemed ob-
jectionable campaign conduct and unfair labor practice).
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elections aside on the basis of misleading campaign state-
ments.”  Midland, 263 NLRB at 133.  But the Board also 
made clear that it would still “continue to protect against 
other campaign conduct, such as threats, promises, or the 
like, which interferes with employee free choice.”  Id.  

The Board subsequently confirmed that the rule from 
Midland “applied to misleading campaign statements gen-
erally,” such that “there [was] no basis for treating misrep-
resentations of law differently” than misrepresentations of 
fact.  Furr’s Inc., 265 NLRB 1300, 1300 fn. 10 (1982).
But Midland and its extension to misrepresentations of 
law in Furr’s were not initially understood as upsetting the 
consistent approach that had emerged for assessing em-
ployer campaign statements concerning unionization’s 
impact on employees’ ability to address issues individu-
ally with their employer.  The Board in those cases had not 
held that employer statements of this sort violated the law 
merely because they misrepresented the right of employ-
ees to individually present grievances under Section 9(a)’s 
proviso.  Rather, the Board had held that these statements 
violated the law because the employer’s purported misrep-
resentation was for all intents and purposes a threat: that 
the employer would deprive employees of an existing ben-
eficial practice if they chose to unionize, when, in fact, the 
law would not permit that action.  See, e.g., Greensboro 
News Co., 257 NLRB at 701 fn. 5 (“Because we find that 
the statement constitutes a threat, we find it unnecessary 
to pass on the . . . finding that the statement constitutes a 
misrepresentation.”); Associated Roofing & Sheet Metal 
Co., 255 NLRB at 1350 (same); Ducane Heating Corp., 
254 NLRB at 112 fn. 2 (same).

Indeed, on the same day that the Board confirmed in 
Furr’s that the Midland rule applied to misrepresentations 
of law, the Board still found that an employer engaged in 
objectionable conduct by sending a letter to employees 
stating that “[i]f a union is certified, you will have to deal 
through Union representatives and may not be permitted 
to go directly to [the employer] about particular problems 
that you may have.”  Mead Nursing Home, Inc., 265 
NLRB at 1115–1116.  The Board was able to reconcile 
this finding with Midland and Furr’s because the em-
ployer’s statement in Mead Nursing Home, regardless of 
whether it was a misrepresentation of the law, “consti-
tute[d] a retaliatory threat to terminate unilaterally an 

12 In Laidlaw, the Board held that “economic strikers who uncondi-
tionally apply for reinstatement at a time when their positions are filled 
by permanent replacements: (1) remain employees; and (2) are entitled 
to full reinstatement upon the departure of replacements unless they have 
in the meantime acquired regular and substantially equivalent employ-
ment, or the employer can sustain his burden of proof that the failure to 
offer full reinstatement was for legitimate and substantial business rea-
sons.”  171 NLRB at 1369–1370.

existing benefit of employees to deal directly with the Em-
ployer if the Union were selected.”  Id. at 1116 (internal 
footnotes omitted); see also Fiber Industries, 267 NLRB 
840, 841 (1983) (assessing post-Midland whether, based 
on its content and broader context, an employer’s cam-
paign statement that “in a unionized plant individuals can-
not come directly to supervisors to solve job related prob-
lems or to receive action or needed improvements” was an 
“objectionable threat to eliminate a benefit granted em-
ployees”).

Moreover, just two weeks after the Board decided Mid-
land, it issued its decision in Eagle Comtronics, Inc., 263 
NLRB 515 (1982).  At issue in Eagle Comtronics was an 
employer’s statement to its employees that, in the case of 
an economic strike, strikers “could be replaced with appli-
cations on file.”  Id. at 515.  The Board found that the 
statement was lawful because it “truthfully inform[ed] 
employees that they are subject to permanent replacement 
in the event of an economic strike,” even if it failed to 
“fully detail[] the protections” enumerated for economic 
strikers in Laidlaw Corp., 171 NLRB 1366 (1968),
enfd. 414 F.2d 99 (7th Cir. 1969), cert. denied 397 U.S. 
920 (1969).  Id. at 515–516.12  But, critically, the Board 
acknowledged that an employer’s statement on job status 
after an economic strike must “not threaten that, as a result 
of a strike, employees will be deprived of their rights in a 
manner inconsistent with those detailed in Laidlaw.”  Id. 
at 516.  In other words, an employer’s statement on job 
status after an economic strike must be “consistent with 
the law” in order to “[]not be characterized as restraining 
or coercing employees in the exercise of their rights under 
the Act.”  Id. Accordingly, while Eagle Comtronics per-
mits employers to make statements about striker replace-
ments without fully detailing the protections provided by 
law, it also provides that an employer may not make state-
ments that are inconsistent with the law, which effectively 
threaten to deprive employees of their existing rights as a 
consequence of striking.  

In the years since Midland and Eagle Comtronics were 
decided in 1982, the Board has regularly and uncontrover-
sially applied Eagle Comtronics many times, often finding 
employers’ legally inaccurate strike-related statements to 
unlawfully threaten employees based on their content and 
context.13 This precedent confirms that Midland did not 

13 See, e.g., Care One at Madison Avenue, 361 NLRB 1462, 1462, 
1471–1473 (2014) (unfair labor practice where employer’s statement 
asked employees whether they wanted to “give outsiders the power to 
jeopardize your job by putting you out on strike?”), enfd. 832 F.3d 351 
(D.C. Cir. 2016); Gelita USA Inc., 352 NLRB 406, 406–407 (2008) (un-
fair labor practice where employer stated to employees that “economic 
strikers would have no job protection if replaced”), adopted by 356 
NLRB 467 (2011); Wild Oats Markets, Inc., 344 NLRB 717, 718, 740 
(2005) (unfair labor practice where employer stated to employees that 
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demand a fundamental change to the Board’s approach of 
proscribing employers’ coercive campaign statements that 
implicate employees’ protections under the Act.

Even so, in Tri-Cast and its progeny—all decided after 
Eagle Comtronics—the Board took a different approach 
when addressing statements concerning employees’ abil-
ity to address issues individually with their employer after 
unionization. The Tri-Cast Board considered whether an 
employer’s campaign statement to employees was objec-
tionable election misconduct that warranted setting aside 
a representation election.  274 NLRB at 377.  The state-
ment was as follows: “We have been able to work on an 
informal and person-to-person basis. If the union comes 
in this will change.  We will have to run things by the 
book, with a stranger, and will not be able to handle per-
sonal requests as we have been doing.”  Id.  The Board 
reversed the Regional Director’s determination that this 
statement was objectionable because it threatened to cur-
tail employees’ ability to address issues individually with 
their employer, which, as noted, is a practice explicitly au-
thorized by Section 9(a)’s proviso.

The Tri-Cast Board made the general observations that 
“[t]here is no threat, either explicit or implicit, in a state-
ment which explains to employees that, when they select 
a union to represent them, the relationship that existed be-
tween the employees and the employer will not be as be-
fore” and that Section 9(a) “contemplates a change in the 
manner in which employer and employee deal with each 
other.”  Id.  It further observed that “[t]his is especially so” 
when “a collective-bargaining agreement is negotiated” 
and that when an employer tells its employees about such 
changes during an election campaign it “cannot be char-
acterized as an objectionable retaliatory threat to deprive 
employees of their rights, but rather is nothing more or less 
than permissible campaign conduct.”  Id.  It also called it 
a “‘fact of industrial life’ that when a union represents em-
ployees they will deal with the employer indirectly, 
through a shop steward.”  Id. (quoting NLRB v. 

“when unions go on strike, wages can be lost and many have lost their 
jobs because striking workers are replaced”); Saginaw Control & Engi-
neering, Inc., 339 NLRB 541, 542 (2003) (unfair labor practice where 
employer stated to employees that “if you value your job and your con-
tinued future at [the employer] you must come to work regardless of a 
strike!”); Rankin & Rankin, Inc., 330 NLRB 1026, 1026 (2000) (unfair 
labor practice where employer stated to employees that “if the union de-
manded higher wages and the company disagreed, the union could call a 
strike and the employees could be replaced by new employees who 
would be hired for less money”); Mediplex of Danbury, 314 NLRB 470, 
470–471 (1994) (unfair labor practice where employer stated to employ-
ees that employees at another facility who had recently unionized went 
on strike, were terminated, and the facility reopened with permanent re-
placement employees); Baddour, Inc., 303 NLRB 275, 275 (1991) (ob-
jectionable campaign conduct and unfair labor practice where employer 
stated to employees that “union strikers can lose their jobs” and “you 

Sacramento Clinical Laboratory, 623 F.2d 110, 112 (9th 
Cir. 1980)).  

Although the employer’s statement definitively told 
employees that, as a consequence of unionization, the em-
ployer would “not be able to handle personal requests as 
we have been doing,” the Tri-Cast Board characterized 
that specific statement as “simply explicat[ing] one of the 
changes which occur between employers and employees 
when a statutory representative is selected.”  Id.  To the 
extent that the employer inaccurately stated that unioniza-
tion would legally require it to discontinue a beneficial 
practice explicitly authorized by Section 9(a)’s proviso, 
the Tri-Cast Board deemed that unproblematic, because 
the Board in Midland had held that it would “no longer 
probe into the truth or falsity of the parties’ campaign 
statements.”  Id. at 378 (quoting Midland, 263 NLRB at 
133).  

In finding the employer’s statement not objectionable, 
the Tri-Cast Board specifically reversed three prior deci-
sions that had deemed similar statements objectionable.  
Id. at 377 & fn. 5 (overruling Greensboro News Co., 257 
NLRB 701 (1981); Armstrong Cork Co., 250 NLRB 1282 
(1980); LOF Glass, Inc., 249 NLRB 428 (1980)).  As 
noted, those expressly overruled cases—and many others 
that the Board in Tri-Cast did not cite, see supra fn. 11—
found that statements like the one at issue in Tri-Cast
“could reasonably be construed as a threat to deprive em-
ployees of their right” under Section 9(a) to address issues 
individually with their employer.  Greensboro News Co., 
257 NLRB at 701.  The Board in those cases had made the 
same general observation that the Tri-Cast Board did, not-
ing that “an employer may explain that with union repre-
sentation the union will be a participant in employer-em-
ployee relations generally.”  Id.  But in these pre-Tri-Cast 
cases, the Board did not view an employer’s specific state-
ment that employees would no longer be able to address 
individual grievances with the employer after unionization 
as a lawful general statement.  Instead, as noted, the Board 

could end up losing your job by being replaced with a new permanent 
worker”); Texas Super Foods, 303 NLRB 209, 209, 219 (1991) (objec-
tionable campaign conduct and unfair labor practice where employer 
stated to employees that if they struck they would lose their jobs); Fern 
Terrace Lodge, 297 NLRB 8, 8–9 (1989) (unfair labor practice where an 
employer stated to employees that “[a]n employer has the legal right to 
permanently replace the striking employees, and the replaced striker is 
not automatically entitled to his job back just because the strike ends”); 
Larson Tool & Stamping Co., 296 NLRB 895, 895–896 (1989) (objec-
tionable campaign conduct where employer stated to employees that dur-
ing an economic strike “you could LOSE YOUR JOB TO A 
PERMANENT REPLACEMENT”); Gino Morena Enterprises, 287 
NLRB 1327, 1327–1328 (1988) (unfair labor practice where employer 
stated to employees that “it would be futile to engage in a strike and that 
they would not only be out of a job but would probably lose their jobs if 
they struck”).
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held that “an employer cannot threaten to retaliate against 
its employees’ selection of a union representative by cut-
ting off the employees’ Section 9(a) right to deal directly 
with management.”  Id.  

Following the categorical rule of Tri-Cast and its prog-
eny, and notwithstanding the clear statutory protections of 
Section 9(a), the Board, in both representation cases and 
unfair labor practice cases, has since repeatedly found 
lawful employer statements that unionization would elim-
inate employees’ ability to address workplace issues indi-
vidually with their employer—notwithstanding that some 
of these statements could be understood to threaten em-
ployees with a loss of an established benefit, when viewed 
from the perspective of a reasonable employee.14  There 
have been criticisms of this approach over the years, in-
cluding Member Block’s concurring opinion in Dish Net-
work Corp., 358 NLRB 174 (2012).15  Member Block en-
couraged “reexamining Tri-Cast in an appropriate future 
case” in view of her conclusion that Tri-Cast is “at odds 
with the Board’s overall treatment of employer predic-
tions about the outcome of unionization.”  358 NLRB at 
176–177.  Specifically, she pointed out that under the Su-
preme Court’s decision in Gissel, such predictions “‘must 
be carefully phrased on the basis of objective fact to con-
vey an employer’s belief as to demonstrably probable con-
sequences beyond his control.’”  Id. at 175–176 (quoting 
Gissel, 395 U.S. at 618). Member Block also noted that 
Eagle Comtronics, unlike Tri-Cast, was implicitly 

14 See, e.g., Tesla, Inc., 370 NLRB No. 101, slip op. at 7 (2021) (em-
ployer’s “statement that if the employees selected the Union as their rep-
resentative, only the Union would have a voice and not the employees 
did not violate the Act”), enf. denied on other grounds 86 F.4th 640 (5th 
Cir. 2023); Holy Cross Health d/b/a Holy Cross Hospital, 370 NLRB 
No. 16, slip op. at 1 fn. 3 (2020) (employer’s “statements that union rep-
resentation might limit direct access to management … are not threats”); 
Stern Produce Co., 368 NLRB No. 31, slip op. at 4 (2019) (dismissing 
unfair labor practice allegation that employer unlawfully told employees 
“that if they chose the Union to represent them, they would no longer 
have direct dealings with the Respondent’s owner and would have to wait 
until the Union negotiated with him”); Hendrickson USA, LLC, 366 
NLRB No. 7, slip op. at 1 fn. 2 (2018) (dismissing unfair labor practice 
allegation that employer unlawfully “told employees that signing union 
authorization cards or electing the union would negatively impact their 
ability to individually represent themselves”), enf. denied on other 
grounds 932 F.3d 465 (6th Cir. 2019); Office Depot, 330 NLRB 640, 642 
(2000) (dismissing unfair labor practice allegation that employer unlaw-
fully told employees that they “wouldn’t be able to communicate with 
management in the same way that [they] are right now because there 
would be a representative from the union that would be the middle per-
son”); Ben Venue Laboratories, 317 NLRB 900, 900 (1995) (dismissing 
unfair labor practice allegation that employer unlawfully told its employ-
ees that its “‘open-door policy’ would no longer exist if employees voted 
to unionize”), enfd. 121 F.3d 709 (6th Cir. 1997) (mem.); Overnite 
Transportation Co., 296 NLRB 669, 671 (1989) (dismissing unfair labor 
practice allegation that employer unlawfully “threaten[ed] employees 
with the loss of their right to bring grievances to the attention of manage-
ment if they became unionized”), enfd. 938 F.2d 815 (7th Cir. 1991); 

consistent with Gissel in that it allows employers to make 
statements about striker replacements but also requires 
employers’ statements to be objectively based—i.e., it 
“provides an important qualification [that] the employer 
may not threaten to deprive employees of existing rights 
as a consequence for striking.”  Id. at 176.  In Member 
Block’s view, “the Tri-Cast Board erred in not applying a 
similar qualification” and, consequently, “Tri-Cast ha[d] 
proven to be a blunt instrument, applied in such a broad
fashion that almost any statement involving employees’ 
ability to pursue grievances individually is permissible.”  
Id.

B.  Analysis

The Board’s administrative process is one of “constant 
. . . trial and error” informed by our “[c]umulative experi-
ence” administering labor-management relations.  NLRB 
v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S. 251, 266 (1975) (quoting 
NLRB v. Seven-Up Bottling Co. of Miami, Inc., 344 U.S. 
344, 349 (1953)).  Consistent with that process, informed 
by our experience and our careful consideration of this is-
sue, we overrule Tri-Cast.  Even if it constitutes a permis-
sible construction of the Act, Tri-Cast was poorly rea-
soned when it was decided, and its later application has 
categorically immunized employer campaign statements 
that, based on their content and context, could reasonably 
be understood to threaten employees with the loss of an 
established workplace benefit.  As a consequence, Tri-

Hyatt Regency Memphis, 296 NLRB 259, 259 fn. 3 (1989) (dismissing 
unfair labor practice allegation that employer unlawfully “threatened em-
ployees with the loss of the privilege of going directly to supervision with 
employee problems”), enfd. 939 F.2d 361 (6th Cir. 1991); SMI Steel, 286 
NLRB 274, 274 (1987) (dismissing unfair labor practice allegation that 
employer unlawfully told its employees that its “‘open-door policy’ 
would no longer exist if the employees voted to unionize”); Koons Ford 
of Annapolis, 282 NLRB 506, 506 (1986) (dismissing unfair labor prac-
tice allegation that employer unlawfully told its employees that “if the 
Union got in he would not be able to talk directly to the employees as he 
had been doing but would have to go to the Union”), enfd. 833 F.2d 310 
(4th Cir. 1987) (mem.), cert. denied 485 U.S. 1021 (1988); FGI Fibers, 
280 NLRB 473, 473 (1986) (overruling election objection based on em-
ployer “tell[ing] its employees about changes in its open door policy 
which will result from their selection of a bargaining agent”); Port Plas-
tics, 279 NLRB 362, 362 (1986) (dismissing unfair labor practice alle-
gation that employer unlawfully told employees “that he had been able 
to speak on a one-on-one basis to employees, but would no longer be 
able to do so if the Union came into the warehouse”); Michael’s Markets, 
274 NLRB 826, 826–827 (1985) (dismissing unfair labor practice alle-
gation and overruling election objection based on employer telling em-
ployees, “There is no room for discussion because once [the union] is 
voted in, the union does the talking and the employees do the listening.  
At least right now if an employee has a difference of opinion with you, 
he can discuss it with you on a one-to-one basis.  With the union, this 
opportunity is totally eliminated.”).

15 Although the recess appointment of Member Block was invalid, 
NLRB v. Noel Canning, 573 U.S. 513, 519 (2014), we find her concurring 
opinion persuasive on this issue.
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Cast inhibits, rather than promotes, employees’ freedom 
to exercise the organizational rights guaranteed by Section 
7 of the Act.  The case-specific approach that we return to 
today is more carefully calibrated to ensure that employer 
campaign statements are nonthreatening.  That approach 
is also more consistent with the Supreme Court’s decision 
in Gissel and better protects employees’ Section 7 rights 
without infringing on employers’ speech protected under 
Section 8(c) of the Act, which only shields statements that 
“contain[] no threat of reprisal or force or promise of ben-
efit.”  29 U.S.C. § 158(c). 

As a preliminary matter, we take no issue with the gen-
eral observations that the Tri-Cast Board made.  Generally 
speaking, “[t]here is no threat, either explicit or implicit,” 
in an employer statement that merely says to employees 
that “when they select a union to represent them, the rela-
tionship that existed between the employees and the em-
ployer will not be as before.”  Tri-Cast, 274 NLRB at 377 
(emphasis added).  In light of the Act’s collective-bargain-
ing provisions, this is an objectively true statement, of 
course.  Most obviously, and as Section 9(a) sets out, after 
employees choose a union, the union will be their exclu-
sive representative for purposes of collective bargaining, 
and bargaining may culminate in a collective-bargaining 
agreement that defines terms and conditions of employ-
ment.  Accordingly, we do not disagree that Section 9(a), 
to this extent, “contemplates a change in the manner in 
which employer and employee deal with each other.”  Id.

We fundamentally disagree, however, that the specific 
employer campaign statement at issue in Tri-Cast was
such a statement, and we further disagree that, as a cate-
gorical matter, all employer statements on the general sub-
ject of employees’ ability to address issues individually 
with the employer after unionization are always lawful.  
The specific statement at issue in Tri-Cast was, in most 
relevant part, that “[i]f the union comes in” the employer 
“will not be able to handle personal requests as we [i.e., 
the employer] have been doing.”  Id.  The Tri-Cast Board 
offered no compelling rationale as to why this specific 
statement (or others like it) was not contrary to the guar-
antee of the Section 9(a) proviso and did not threaten em-
ployees that, as a consequence of unionization, they would 
lose an existing benefit.  Instead, Tri-Cast made the con-
clusory assertion that this statement “simply explicates 
one of the changes which occur between employers and 

16 See also, e.g., Armstrong Cork Co., 250 NLRB at 1282 (“We find 
that the above-quoted portion of the Employer’s letter constitutes a threat 
to employees that selection of the union would result in the loss of an 
existing benefit; namely the right under the Sec[.] 9(a) proviso . . . . ”); 
LOF Glass, Inc., 249 NLRB at 428–429 (“The Employer argues that its 
statement was intended to inform employees that under [a collective-bar-
gaining agreement] its ‘open door’ policy could no longer exist . . . . 
[T]he statement remains a serious misrepresentation of the employees’ 

employees when a statutory representative is selected” 
and the equally conclusory assertion that it “cannot be 
characterized as an objectionable retaliatory threat to de-
prive employees of their rights, but rather is nothing more 
or less than permissible campaign conduct.”  Id.  What is 
particularly confounding about these assertions is that the 
specific statement at issue in Tri-Cast (and others like it) 
does not explicate “one of the changes” that comes from 
unionization under the Act.  To the contrary, Section 
9(a)’s proviso ensures precisely the opposite: that an em-
ployer being “able to handle personal requests”—as the 
employer’s statement colloquially put it in Tri-Cast—is 
precisely one of the things that does not inevitably change 
upon unionization.

Because the Tri-Cast Board described the statement at 
issue so generally, it failed to address, much less refute, 
the rationale of the consistent line of cases in the preceding 
years explaining that employer statements concerning the 
impact of unionization on the employer-employee rela-
tionship can be unlawfully coercive if they amount to a 
threat to eliminate a beneficial practice.  Instead, the Tri-
Cast Board cited the three decisions relied upon in the un-
derlying Regional Director’s report—without noting the 
many others (including those enforced by reviewing 
courts), see supra fn. 11—and, without further elabora-
tion, overruled those three cases.  Id. at 377 fn. 5 (ex-
pressly overruling Greensboro News Co., 257 NLRB 701 
(1981); Armstrong Cork Co., 250 NLRB 1282 (1980); 
LOF Glass, Inc., 249 NLRB 428 (1980)).  Those cases 
acknowledged, consistent with Tri-Cast’s general obser-
vations, that “an employer may explain that with union 
representation the union will be a participant in employer-
employee relations generally.”  Greensboro News Co., 
257 NLRB at 701.  But, instead of treating all statements 
touching on the employer-employee relationship as if they 
were the same, the pre-Tri-Cast cases looked at the spe-
cific content and context of the particular statement at is-
sue to assess whether it “was an improper threat by the 
Employer to terminate the existing beneficial situation.”  
Id.16 In other words, prior to Tri-Cast, the Board asked 
whether a statement concerning unionization’s impact on 
the employer-employee relationship threatened the loss of 
a beneficial practice and, if so, properly deemed such a 
statement an unlawful threat that interfered with employ-
ees’ free exercise of their organizational rights.  The Tri-

right under Sec[.] 9(a) of the Act to present their own grievances and 
have them adjusted without reference to any contractual procedures as 
long as the substance of the adjustment is not inconsistent with the con-
tract.  That employees frequently made use of the Employer’s ‘open 
door’ policy makes its reputed loss something that they well could con-
sider a significant reason to reject union representation.”) (internal foot-
note and citations omitted).
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Cast Board failed to persuasively explain why this ap-
proach should be rejected.

Although the Tri-Cast Board cited Midland in an at-
tempt to buttress its reasoning, its treatment of Midland
was misleadingly superficial.  Relying on Midland’s hold-
ing that the Board would “no longer probe into the truth 
or falsity of the parties’ campaign statements,” the Tri-
Cast Board said its own analysis would thus not change 
even if the employer’s statement were understood “to have 
misrepresented employee rights.”  274 NLRB at 378.  
However, as noted above, the Board in Midland made 
clear that it would continue to prohibit “campaign con-
duct, such as threats, promises, or the like, which inter-
feres with employee free choice.”  263 NLRB at 133.  
Thus, even if a misrepresentation is not per se unlawful, a 
statement that incorporates a misrepresentation may still 
constitute an unlawful threat.  And that was precisely the 
rationale of the cases that, without any reasoned explana-
tion, Tri-Cast overruled.  See, e.g., Greensboro News Co., 
257 NLRB at 701 fn. 5 (“Because we find that the state-
ment constitutes a threat, we find it unnecessary to pass on 
the . . . finding that the statement constitutes a misrepre-
sentation.”).  In short, contrary to the apparent suggestion 
of Tri-Cast, Midland does not somehow require the pre-
posterous outcome that the Board immunize employer 
threats simply because they are premised on a misrepre-
sentation of the Act and its effects on employees. 

The Tri-Cast Board also cited Eagle Comtronics fol-
lowing its conclusory assertion that the statement at issue 
was “nothing more or less than permissible campaign con-
duct.”  274 NLRB at 377 & fn. 5.  But that citation is in-
apposite because the reasoning of Eagle Comtronics actu-
ally supports the rationale of the cases that Tri-Cast over-
ruled.  Specifically, in Eagle Comtronics, the Board rea-
soned that if an employer’s statements concerning em-
ployees’ job status after a strike are not “consistent with 
the law,” then they may “be characterized as restraining or 
coercing employees in the exercise of their rights under 
the Act.”  Eagle Comtronics, 263 NLRB at 516.  In other 
words, Eagle Comtronics confirms the general proposi-
tion—wrongly rejected by Tri-Cast—that a statement that 
misrepresents the law can still be unlawful if, depending 
on its content and context, it threatens interference with 
employees’ Section 7 rights.

Perhaps most fundamentally, Tri-Cast, unlike Eagle 
Comtronics, is at odds with the law’s general treatment of 
employer predictions about the potential adverse impacts 
of unionization. In Gissel, the Supreme Court described it 
as “obvious” that any balancing of an employer’s speech 
rights and employees’ Section 7 rights “must take into ac-
count the economic dependence of the employees on their 
employers, and the necessary tendency of the former, 

because of that relationship, to pick up intended implica-
tions of the latter that might be more readily dismissed by 
a more disinterested ear.”  395 U.S. at 617.  Accordingly, 
the Supreme Court instructed that if an employer “make[s] 
a prediction as to the precise effects he believes unioniza-
tion will have on his company,” then “the prediction must 
be carefully phrased on the basis of objective fact to con-
vey an employer’s belief as to the demonstrably probable 
consequences beyond his control.”  Id. at 618.  Thus, “[i]f 
there is any implication that an employer may or may not 
take action solely on his own initiative for reasons unre-
lated to economic necessities and known only to him, the 
statement is no longer a reasonable prediction based on 
available facts but a threat of retaliation based on misrep-
resentation and coercion.”  Id. (emphasis added).

Under this generally applicable framework, when an 
employer makes a statement explicitly or implicitly based 
on what the Act allows or requires, the statement must be 
measured against what the Act actually allows or requires.  
A statement that inaccurately conveys what the Act allows 
or requires is not “carefully phrased on the basis of objec-
tive fact” and, as such, may be “a threat of retaliation 
based on misrepresentation and coercion” depending on 
its content and context.  Id.  Employer statements that 
broadly predict that unionization will necessarily fore-
close employees’ ability to address issues individually 
with their employer are not reasonable predictions about 
the legal consequences of unionization that follow from 
the Act.  Put somewhat differently, the Act does not com-
pel employers to end all direct interaction with individual 
employees over workplace issues if employees choose un-
ion representation.  Section 9(a) explicitly provides other-
wise.  Thus, when an employer’s statement, based on its 
content and context, contradicts Section 9(a) by asserting 
that an existing practice of permitting individual employ-
ees to address their issues with management must end if 
employees choose union representation, that statement 
amounts to an unlawful threat of retaliation that an em-
ployer may end existing practices “solely on his own ini-
tiative.”  Id.  

As noted, experience under Tri-Cast shows that it has 
been broadly applied to immunize employer statements 
that, when subjected to normal Section 8(a)(1) scrutiny 
under Gissel, could have a reasonable tendency to coerce 
employees.  See supra fn. 14.  There is no compelling rea-
son to accept this result.  To the contrary, Gissel makes 
clear that employers must carefully phrase their predic-
tions about the consequences of unionization on the basis 
of objective facts.  Despite not expressly citing Gissel, the 
Board in Eagle Comtronics implicitly followed its instruc-
tions in the context of employer statements about strikers’ 
job status rights.  As a consequence, Eagle Comtronics has 
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been a useful and uncontroversial tool for distinguishing 
employer statements on that topic that are not unlawfully 
threatening17 from those that are.18  By bringing scrutiny 
of employer statements concerning the employer-em-
ployee relationship into compliance with Gissel’s instruc-
tions, we will henceforth have a similarly sensible tool for 
those types of statements too.  Accordingly, we adopt an 
approach for assessing the lawfulness of employer state-
ments concerning the impact of unionization on the rela-
tionship between individual employees and their employer 
that is grounded in Gissel, informed by Eagle Comtronics, 
and consistent with the pre-Tri-Cast approach.19  

Adopting this approach promotes the policy of the Act 
in a manner that Tri-Cast does not.  The Act declares it “to 
be the policy of the United States” to “encourag[e] the 
practice and procedure of collective bargaining” and to 
“protect[] the exercise by workers of full freedom of asso-
ciation, self-organization, and designation of representa-
tives of their own choosing.”  29 U.S.C. § 151.  Tri-Cast’s 
approach—to effectively give employers carte blanche to 
misrepresent their obligations under the Act in order to de-
ter employees from exercising their right to organize—is 
anathema to this policy.  The generally applicable threat 
analysis that we reinstate—which, consistent with the Su-
preme Court’s decision in Gissel, reasonably requires em-
ployers to ground their predictions concerning the conse-
quences of unionization in objective fact—better protects 
employee self-organization and thereby advances the 
Act’s goal of encouraging collective bargaining.

Under the approach we reinstate today, statements con-
cerning the consequences of unionization on the relation-
ship between individual employees and their employer, in-
cluding the ability of employees to address issues individ-
ually with their employer, are to be treated the same as all 
other employer statements concerning the consequences 
of unionization.  Consequently, employers retain robust 
protection under Section 8(c) to express their views to em-
ployees about unionization.  However, to be protected un-
der Section 8(c), all such employer predictions must be 
grounded in objective fact.  That familiar requirement is 
rooted in Supreme Court precedent and fair to employers.  
As the Supreme Court has recognized: 

[A]n employer, who has control over that relationship 
and therefore knows it best, cannot be heard to complain 
that he is without an adequate guide for his behavior. He 
can easily make his views known without engaging in 

17 See, e.g., River’s Bend Health & Rehabilitation Services, 350 
NLRB 184, 184–186 (2007); Novi American, 309 NLRB 544, 545-546 
(1992); John W. Galbreath & Co., 288 NLRB 876, 877 (1988).

18 See supra fn. 13.
19 To the extent that a statement assessed under this standard is 

deemed to violate Sec. 8(a)(1), we note that such a violation, depending 

brinkmanship when it becomes all too easy to overstep 
and tumble over the brink. At the least he can avoid co-
ercive speech simply by avoiding conscious overstate-
ments he has reason to believe will mislead his employ-
ees.

Gissel, 395 U.S. at 620 (cleaned up; emphasis added).

C.  Prospective Application

The Board’s usual practice is to apply new policies and 
standards retroactively to all pending cases, including the 
case in which the new rule is announced, unless doing so 
would amount to a manifest injustice.  SNE Enterprises, 
Inc., 344 NLRB 673, 673 (2005).  To determine whether 
retroactive application amounts to a manifest injustice, we 
consider the reliance of the parties on preexisting law, the 
effect of retroactivity on accomplishment of the purposes 
of the Act, and any particular injustice arising from retro-
active application.  Id.  Here, on balance and in the cir-
cumstances of this particular case, prospective application 
only is warranted.  

First, we recognize the reliance interest of the parties on 
preexisting law.  In 1985, the Tri-Cast Board announced 
what was almost immediately understood as a broad cate-
gorical rule covering a wide swath of employer campaign 
statements.  Accordingly, for nearly 40 years, Tri-Cast’s 
broad rule has been in effect. Employers thus reasonably 
came to rely on the fact that predictions specifically about 
unionization’s consequences for the employer-employee 
relationship were lawful, however anomalous that may 
have been under the standard that governed their other pre-
dictions.  Accordingly, there are relatively strong em-
ployer reliance interests weighing against retroactive ap-
plication.  

On the other hand, employees have a strong interest in 
the Board applying the reinstated pre-Tri-Cast approach 
that follows Gissel’s instructions and that more effectively 
accomplishes the Act’s purposes.  As noted, Tri-Cast is 
contrary to the Act’s express policies, whereas the Gissel-
compliant approach we reinstate effectively promotes 
those policies.  Retroactive application would thus help 
accomplish the Act’s purposes.  

Third, and last, we would find some injustice in apply-
ing the reinstated pre-Tri-Cast approach in this case be-
cause the Respondent would likely be judged to have com-
mitted an unfair labor practice based on speech that was 
clearly lawful at the time of utterance.  

on the circumstances, usually is also sufficient to set aside an election.  
Cemex Construction Materials Pacific, LLC, 372 NLRB No. 130, slip 
op. at 26 fn. 142 (2023) (citing Lucky Cab Co., 360 NLRB at 277); Clark 
Equipment Co., 278 NLRB 498, 505 (1986); Dal-Tex Optical Co., 137 
NLRB at 1786–1787.
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After carefully considering the particular circumstances 
of this case, we conclude that, on balance, it would amount 
to a manifest injustice to apply the new standard in this 
case, and prospective application is the more appropriate 
course.  Although the issue is close, we think that future 
application of the standard we reinstate today will suffi-
ciently promote the policies of the Act while giving ap-
propriate weight to the reasonable reliance employers 
have previously placed on Tri-Cast’s categorical rule and 
avoiding unjust results.

D.  Response to the Dissent

We respectfully disagree with the arguments raised by 
our dissenting colleague and explain below the following 
errors in his analysis.

First, the dissent contends that because Tri-Cast was a 
representation case and this is an unfair labor practice 
case, the Board has no authority to address Tri-Cast and 
our overruling of Tri-Cast and its progeny is somehow 
mere “dicta” without precedential effect.  This contention 
is unfounded.  In the nearly 40 years since Tri-Cast was 
decided, the Board has never hesitated to apply Tri-Cast’s 
categorical rule across both representation and unfair la-
bor practice cases, indistinguishably.  We have collected 
more than a dozen cases to prove the point.  See supra fn. 
14.  Indeed, less than 2 weeks after it decided Tri-Cast, the 
very same Board applied Tri-Cast’s rule in a consolidated 
representation and unfair labor practice case to jointly re-
solve both an election objection and an unfair labor prac-
tice allegation.  Michael’s Markets, 274 NLRB at 826–
827.  Even our dissenting colleague—when he was in the 
majority just a few years ago—applied Tri-Cast’s rule to 
decide unfair labor practice allegations.  See, e.g., Holy 
Cross Health d/b/a Holy Cross Hospital, 370 NLRB No. 
16, slip op. at 1 fn. 3; Stern Produce Co., 368 NLRB No. 
31, slip op. at 4.20 Tri-Cast provides a categorical rule for 
assessing whether an employer’s statement amounts to a 
threat, regardless of whether the alleged threat is scruti-
nized as potential objectionable campaign conduct or as 
an alleged unfair labor practice.  Michael’s Markets, cited 

20 Notably, the analytical framework from Eagle Comtronics, on 
which we rely to overrule Tri-Cast, is also indistinguishably applied to 
assess both election objections and alleged unfair labor practices.  See, 
e.g., Texas Super Foods, 303 NLRB at 209, 219; see also Larson Tool & 
Stamping Co., 296 NLRB at 895–896.

21 Our dissenting colleague relatedly and alternatively faults us for 
not hypothetically applying the new standard to the facts of the case to 
find that “the statements at issue in this case would be found unlawful” 
(emphasis added).  Making such hypothetical determinations is not and 
never has been a required practice when the Board opts to use adjudica-
tion to change its standards.  See, e.g., Piedmont Gardens, 362 NLRB at 
1140; see also General Motors LLC, 369 NLRB No. 127, slip op. at 10–
11 (2020) (overruling precedent but remanding to the judge for applica-
tion in the first instance).  Our dissenting colleague says that he is “not 

above, clearly demonstrates as much.  So does Ben Venue 
Laboratories, 317 NLRB at 900.  In that consolidated rep-
resentation and unfair labor practice case, the Board also 
assessed whether an employer’s statement constituted 
both objectionable campaign conduct and an unfair labor 
practice.  After citing Tri-Cast and a handful of cases cit-
ing that decision, the Board explained that it had assessed
the employer’s statement “in light of th[o]se cases,” had 
“conclude[d] that it did not constitute an unlawful threat,” 
and “[a]ccordingly . . . dismiss[ed] the complaint allega-
tion and overrule[d] the election objection relating to this 
conduct.”  Id.  Insofar as Tri-Cast has been applied repeat-
edly in unfair labor practice cases, including by the judge 
in this case, it obviously can be overruled in this unfair 
labor practice case.

Second, our dissenting colleague offers another sup-
posed reason why today’s decision is mere dicta:  because 
we overrule Tri-Cast prospectively and accordingly have 
found the Respondent’s statements here to be lawful under 
Tri-Cast.  Contrary to our colleague’s implication, the 
Board is not required to adopt new legal rules retroactively 
in order for them to be valid.  As our dissenting colleague 
knows, in cases where the Board overrules precedent, it 
almost invariably examines, pursuant to the same long-es-
tablished criteria we have considered in this case, see SNE 
Enterprises, 344 NLRB at 673 (citing, inter alia, SEC v. 
Chenery Corp., 332 U.S. 194, 203 (1947)), whether the 
overruling will have retroactive or prospective effect.  Ac-
cepting the dissent’s premise would require us to reject the 
analysis that the Board has consistently and uncontrover-
sially brought to bear in precedent-shifting cases.  See, 
e.g., Piedmont Gardens, 362 NLRB 1135, 1140–1151 
(2015) (overruling precedent prospectively only over two 
vigorous dissents, neither of which suggested the Board 
could not change precedent prospectively), enfd. sub nom. 
American Baptist Homes of the West v. NLRB, 858 F.3d 
612 (D.C. Cir. 2017).  Our dissenting colleague does not 
explain how, under his understanding of the law, the 
agency could ever overturn precedent but decide that the 

equities merited doing so only on a prospective basis.21

aware of any case establishing that it was appropriate to change the law 
prospectively without actually applying the law to the present case” (em-
phasis in original), but Piedmont Gardens is just such a case.  As noted 
above, in enforcing the Board’s decision, the District of Columbia Cir-
cuit gave no indication that the Board could not change its precedent on 
a prospective-only basis.  See American Baptist Homes, 858 F.3d at 614-
616.  Moreover, contrary to the dissent’s suggestion, we find that apply-
ing the new standard here would constitute a “manifest injustice,” which 
is why we are adopting it prospectively.

Our dissenting colleague is also similarly mistaken in his reliance on 
the Sixth Circuit’s recent decision in NLRB v. McLaren Macomb, Nos. 
23-1335/1403, 2024 WL 4240545 (6th Cir. Sept. 19, 2024) (unpublished 
per curiam).  There, the Board found a Sec. 8(a)(1) violation under prior 
precedent and “[a]lternatively” also found a Section 8(a)(1) violation 
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Third, the dissent advances yet another baseless claim 
that today’s decision is dicta:  because the standard we re-
introduce will be applied to “other unidentified state-
ments” not currently before the Board (emphasis in origi-
nal).  Of course our standard will be applied to assess other 
future statements not presently before the Board.  To say 
so is just to acknowledge that we are adopting a general 
standard that necessarily will apply to specific cases going 
forward.  Those cases will turn on the new general stand-
ard being applied to their specific facts.  Our colleague 
does not explain how the Board could ever set a standard 
through adjudication that was not “dicta,” as he under-
stands it.  Under our colleague’s reasoning, Tri-Cast itself 
would be “dicta.”  When the Tri-Cast standard was an-
nounced, it was clearly intended to be applied to “other 
unidentified statements” not then before the Board.  Two 
weeks later, the Board was applying the Tri-Cast standard 
in Michael’s Markets to a statement similar to—but hardly 
identical with—the statement at issue in Tri-Cast.  Such is 
the nature of precedent and analogical reasoning.  

Fourth, the dissent contends that we “have failed to pro-
vide any reasoned explanation for why it was necessary, 
in the instant case, to revisit [Tri-Cast].”  There is no basis 
for that claim.   Here, the judge squarely relied on Tri-Cast
to resolve the relevant issue.  The General Counsel argued 
on exceptions that the Board should overrule Tri-Cast; the 
Respondent offered counter-arguments.  In reaching our 
decision, we have explained, at some length, why overrul-
ing Tri-Cast is consistent with Supreme Court precedent 
(Gissel), our own precedent (most notably, Eagle 
Comtronics), and the policy of the Act (Section 1).  In re-
visiting Tri-Cast, we address the issue squarely presented 
to the Board.  Our dissenting colleague is free to disagree 
with our decision, to be sure, but we have hardly reached 
out to decide an issue not presented or failed to explain the 
basis for our decision.22

Finally, we respond to the dissent’s view on the merits.  
At bottom, our dissenting colleague disagrees with us as a 
matter of policy as to the proper framework for assessing 
the coercive tendency that a certain type of employer state-
ment could have on employees’ free exercise of their 

after having overruled that precedent and returned to earlier law.  Id. at 
*6–7.  The court found the former rationale sufficient for enforcement 
and so did “not address” the Board’s other rationale that had relied on 
the reversal of precedent.  Id. at *8.  Contrary to the dissent’s implication, 
nothing in the Sixth Circuit’s decision suggests that the Board did any-
thing improper by changing precedent even if doing so did not change 
the underlying finding of a Sec. 8(a)(1) violation.   

22 The judge correctly determined that Tri-Cast was dispositive here, 
as the parties’ briefing confirms.  Thus, the dissent is simply wrong to 
contend that we could decide this case “without reaching” Tri-Cast.  

The dissent’s assertion that overruling Tri-Cast makes “no difference” 
in this case is nothing more than a reflection of the fact that we have 
chosen—based on a careful consideration of the relevant factors—not to 

Section 7 rights.  He is entitled to his contrary view, but 
we are not persuaded by it.  

Our dissenting colleague contends that we have charac-
terized a number of Board decisions as being “wrongly 
decided under Tri-Cast,” and he proceeds to offer his pre-
ferred analysis of the employer statements from some of 
those cases.  Here, however, we need not decide how prior 
cases would have come out under the standard we adopt 
today, which rejects the categorical rule of Tri-Cast, for 
the reasons carefully explained.  Had our new standard 
been in place when the prior cases were decided, each case 
would have turned on its particular facts, not on the gen-
eral subject matter of the employer’s statement.  It may be 
that some, or even most, of the prior cases would have 
been decided differently under today’s standard, while in 
others the result would have been the same.  That fact is 
immaterial.  Today’s decision is based on the demonstra-
ble flaws of the Tri-Cast standard, not on our disagree-
ment with the result in any individual prior case.   

In turn, we reject the dissent’s remarkable assertion that 
“it is fair to say that,” under Tri-Cast, “the Board has gen-
erally distinguished objectively fact-based predictions 
about the changed employee-employer relationship from 
unlawful threats.”  Our dissenting colleague fails to cite a 
single case from the last 40 years in which, under Tri-Cast, 
an employer’s statement was found to be a threat.  The 
absence of such cases confirms that Tri-Cast has been ap-
plied categorically, immunizing a broad swath of poten-
tially coercive statements.  By contrast, Eagle Comtron-
ics—on which, as noted, we rely in replacing Tri-Cast—
reflects a preferable approach, focused on the facts of a 
particular case, and so allows for noncoercive statements 
to continue to be deemed lawful while requiring those that 
are coercive to be found unlawful.  See supra fns. 13 & 17.

The dissent also misunderstands our position on the pro-
viso to Section 9(a) of the Act.  Recall that the proviso 
says in key part that “any individual employee or a group 
of employees shall have the right at any time to present 
grievances to their employer and to have such grievances 
adjusted, without the intervention of the bargaining repre-
sentative.” 29 U.S.C. § 159(a) (emphasis added). 

apply our decision retroactively.  Had we applied the standard adopted 
today to the facts presented, the result in this case could have very well 
been different.   

In view of the judge’s decision and the parties’ briefing, the dissent is 
also wrong in arguing that the parties did not have “notice” that the Board 
would consider revising the law. We note that it is curious that our dis-
senting colleague would raise this argument, as he was part of the Board 
majority in multiple prior cases that did, indeed, reach out to decide is-
sues that were not outcome-determinative and did so without any notice 
to, or briefing by, the parties involved.  See, e.g., Hy-Brand Industrial 
Contractors, 365 NLRB 1554, 1588–1589 (2017) (dissenting opinion); 
Boeing Co., 365 NLRB 1494, 1522–1526 (2017) (dissenting opinion).  
Inexplicably, he would now find such a practice illegitimate.
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To begin, our dissenting colleague asserts that our posi-
tion is that the Section 9(a) proviso “establishes a substan-
tive right for represented employees to have their griev-
ances heard by their employer.”  Of course, because the 
proviso itself expressly refers to “the right . . . to present 
grievances,” our colleague’s quarrel might seem to be with 
Congress, not us.  But our position is not that the Section 
9(a) proviso grants employees a right as Section 7 does.  
Rather, the proviso reflects the clear intent of Congress to 
ensure that when employees choose union representation, 
they will not automatically lose the ability to present 
grievances to the employer without the union’s interven-
tion.  Thus, to repeat what we said earlier:  Section 9(a) 
makes clear that after employees choose representation, an 
employer may maintain, under specified circumstances, 
its pre-unionization practice of addressing employees’ 
grievances individually without engaging in unlawful di-
rect dealing in violation of Section 8(a)(5). Emporium 
Capwell Co., 420 U.S. at 61 fn. 12.  The Act does not re-
quire an employer to adopt such a practice, but it permits 
such a practice.  When such a practice exists, the proviso 
to Section 9(a) ensures that the practice can continue after 
unionization.  When an employer tells employees other-
wise—when it tells employees that it will be required to 
abandon the practice if they choose union representa-
tion—then the employer is unlawfully threatening em-
ployees with the loss of a benefit.23

Next, the dissent mistakenly asserts that, under today’s 
decision, we “requir[e]” an employer “to tell its employ-
ees of their rights under the Act” to avoid making an un-
lawful threat.  However, the standard adopted today en-
sures that an employer may not threaten employees with 

23 Our dissenting colleague’s analysis of Sec. 9(a) misses this point, 
while misunderstanding our position here.  

We address the situation where an employer makes a statement that 
could reasonably be understood by employees as a threat to end a bene-
ficial practice of addressing employees’ grievances individually, if the 
employees choose union representation.  For example, an employer 
might state that it will end its existing open-door policy if employees 
organize.  Sec. 9(a), as we have explained, does not require employers 
to end such a practice once a union represents employees.  Indeed, as 
noted above, the proviso to Sec. 9(a) protects employees’ right to present 
concerns individually to their employer.  Thus, Sec. 9(a) cannot provide 
an objective factual basis for the employer’s statement about the conse-
quences of unionization.  Instead, as discussed extensively above, such a 
statement is an impermissible threat of the loss of a benefit.  See Gissel, 
395 U.S. at 618.

We do not find that Sec. 9(a) requires an employer to maintain its prior 
practice, regardless of the union’s position, only that it is possible for the 
practice to continue after unionization.  Our colleague is mistaken, then, 
when he seems to ascribe to us the view that Sec. 9(a) “provide[s] the
. . . benefit” at issue.  It is the employer, rather, that has provided a ben-
efit to employees, and Sec. 9(a) that makes it possible for the employer 
to continue the benefit.  Employer statements to the contrary are incon-
sistent with Sec. 9(a) and its proviso, and no part of Sec. 9(a) immunizes 
the threatened loss of an existing benefit.

the loss of a beneficial practice if they choose union rep-
resentation.  As explained, determining whether a state-
ment amounts to such a threat will depend on its content 
and context.  An employer need not explain to employees 
how the Section 9(a) proviso operates—just as under Ea-
gle Comtronics, supra, an employer “may address the sub-
ject of striker replacement without fully detailing the pro-
tections enumerated in [Board case law] so long as it does 
not threaten that, as a result of a strike, employees will be 
deprived of their rights in a manner inconsistent with those 
detailed in [Board case law].” 263 NLRB at 516.  Con-
sistent with the Supreme Court’s Gissel decision, how-
ever, the employer’s statement must be based on objective 
fact—and a statement (for example) that the Act requires 
the employer to eliminate any practice of individual griev-
ance resolution if employees choose union representation 
is not based on objective fact, because the Section 9(a) 
proviso expressly says otherwise.  To repeat the observa-
tion of the Gissel Court, in this area, as in others, an em-
ployer “can avoid coercive speech simply by avoiding 
conscious overstatements he has reason to believe will 
mislead his employees.”  395 U.S. at 620.

For all these reasons, we cannot agree with our dissent-
ing colleague’s position here.

II.

We now turn to the remaining issue in this case.  At one 
of the mandatory meetings that the Respondent convened 
to address its employees about unionization, an employee 
inquired about “walkouts” to pressure the Respondent to 
comply with the terms of a contract or to bargain a contract 
modification.  A manager facilitating the meeting 

Instead of genuinely addressing our position, our colleague essentially 
argues that the Sec. 9(a) proviso is a nullity and is somehow inconsistent 
with other statutory provisions.  Thus, he insists that “it is not true that 
the proviso gives the employer a green light to resolve grievances of its 
represented employees ‘without the intervention’ of their exclusive bar-
gaining representative.”  First, the Sec. 9(a) proviso literally says other-
wise, stating that “any individual employee or a group of employees shall 
have the right at any time to present grievances to their employer and to 
have such grievances adjusted, without the intervention of the bargaining 
representative,” if certain conditions are met.  29 U.S.C. § 159(a) (em-
phasis added).  Second, and even more fundamentally, employer state-
ments of the kind we address in today’s decision often sweep more 
broadly and threaten the loss of channels of communication for “pre-
sent[ing] grievances” that will not result in the “adjustment” of griev-
ances within the meaning of either the first or second proviso to Sec. 9(a).  
Id.  Even on our colleague’s interpretation, nothing in Sec. 9(a) provides 
any basis for immunizing such statements.

We adhere to the Supreme Court’s understanding of Sec. 9(a) in Em-
porium Capwell, supra, that Congress intended the proviso to insulate 
employers from direct-dealing allegations under Sec. 8(a)(5).  Neces-
sarily, then, we reject our colleague’s apparent view that the proviso is 
meaningless.  The canon against surplusage in statutory interpretation 
rules out that position.  See generally Pulsifer v. U.S., 601 U.S. 124, 143 
(2024).
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responded by saying “for that all union partners would 
have to strike”; a second manager added “there is no opt-
out in the State of Washington.  Everyone will be union, 
if you go union, and the contract is ratified”; and the first 
continued “the strike would be a simple majority as well.”  
The judge found that these statements were lawful because 
they were not coercive even if they misstated the law.24  
We disagree.  

Consistent with Midland, 263 NLRB at 133, and with 
the Supreme Court’s decision in Gissel, we do not deem 
these statements unlawful simply because they misrepre-
sented the law—which they did.  See Machinists Local 
Lodge 1414 (Neufeld Porsche-Audi, Inc.), 270 NLRB 
1330, 1333 (1984) (“[Section 7] encompasses not only 
the right to refrain from strikes, but also the right to re-
sign union membership.”).  Rather these misrepresenta-
tions are unlawful because they lacked an objective basis 
in the Act and had a reasonable tendency to coerce eco-
nomically dependent employees to refrain from choosing 
union representation.

Employees hearing these statements could reasonably 
conclude (1) that if a simple majority of their coworkers 
voted to unionize, they would be required to join the union 
(making them subject to union discipline and the financial 
obligations of membership), and (2) that if a simple ma-
jority of the employees voted to strike, they would be re-
quired to take part in the strike.  These false statements—
having no support in the Act at all—would thus tend to 
discourage employees from voting for the union, if they 
desired representation, but did not wish to become union 
members or to join a strike.  Because joining a strike 
would mean foregoing wages and other benefits, moreo-
ver, these statements amount to a threat of economic harm: 
if there were a strike, employees would have to participate 
and, as a consequence, forfeit pay and other benefits.  We 
thus disagree with the judge’s analysis that these state-
ments were not coercive because they were made in re-
sponse to a “narrow hypothetical” concerning a strike to 
create pressure for a contract modification.  We thus con-
clude that these statements violated Section 8(a)(1) of the 
Act.25   

AMENDED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.  Siren Retail Corp. d/b/a Starbucks, the Respondent, 
is an employer engaged in commerce within the meaning 
of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

24 Specifically, the judge relied on the managers’ refraining from the 
even more clearly coercive pronouncements that “a strike would be an 
inevitable result of unionizing” or “that the employer, by its own action, 
would impose dire consequences upon employees” and on the fact that 

2.  Workers United, affiliated with the Service Employ-
ees International Union, is a labor organization within the 
meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

3.  The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act 
by threatening employees that existing benefits will be re-
duced if they select union representation.

4.  The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act 
by threatening employees that they will lose existing ben-
efits if they select union representation.

5.  The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act 
by threatening employees that it would be futile for them 
to select union representation.

6.  The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act 
by threatening employees that, if they select union repre-
sentation, the company will prioritize non-union stores 
and union-represented stores will not receive added bene-
fits.

7.  The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act 
by threatening employees about their union membership 
and strike obligations if they select union representation.

8.  The above unfair labor practices affect commerce 
within the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act.

ORDER

The Respondent, Siren Retail Corp. d/b/a Starbucks, Se-
attle, Washington, its officers, agents, successors, and as-
signs, shall

1.  Cease and desist from
(a) Threatening employees that existing benefits will be 

reduced if they select union representation.
(b) Threatening employees that they will lose existing 

benefits if they select union representation.
(c) Threatening employees that selecting union repre-

sentation would be futile.
(d) Threatening employees that, if they select union 

representation, the company will prioritize non-union 
stores and union-represented stores will not receive added 
benefits.

(e) Threatening employees that, if they select union 
representation, they would have to be union members and 
that, if there were a strike, they would have to participate 
in the strike.

(f) In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2.  Take the following affirmative actions necessary to 
effectuate the policies of the Act.

the managers’ statements came in response to an employee’s “narrow 
hypothetical.”   

25 Accordingly, we decline the Charging Party’s request to revisit 
Midland.
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(a) Direct its supervisor Elijah De La Vega to delete the 
February 14, 2022 Facebook posts—“if union vote is 
passed, TLA opportunities would be on the table.  As they 
wouldn’t be considered a part of the theoretical union.  
Since they are two different entities, we can’t share part-
ners anymore for legality reasons” and “Nothing will be 
guaranteed and everything will be on the table.  Some 
might lose their free ASU others their healthcare.  And 
much else.  Even negotiating higher wages wouldn’t be 
guaranteed.”—and take appropriate steps to ensure De La 
Vega complies with this directive.

(b) Post at its Seattle, Washington facility copies of the 
attached notice marked “Appendix.”26 Copies of the no-
tice, on forms provided by the Regional Director for Re-
gion 19, after being signed by the Respondent’s author-
ized representative, shall be posted by the Respondent and 
maintained for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous places, 
including all places where notices to employees are cus-
tomarily posted. In addition to physical posting of paper 
notices, notices shall be distributed electronically, such as 
by email, posting on an intranet or an internet site, and/or 
other electronic means, if the Respondent customarily 
communicates with its employees by such means. Rea-
sonable steps shall be taken by the Respondent to ensure 
that the notices are not altered, defaced, or covered by any 
other material. If the Respondent has gone out of business 
or closed the facility involved in these proceedings, the 
Respondent shall duplicate and mail, at its own expense, a 
copy of the notice to all current employees and former em-
ployees employed by the Respondent at any time since 
February 14, 2022.

(c) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with 
the Regional Director for Region 19 a sworn certification 
of a responsible official on a form provided by the Region 
attesting to the steps that the Respondent has taken to com-
ply.

Dated, Washington, D.C.  November 8, 2024

______________________________________
Lauren McFerran,                            Chairman

26 If the facility involved in these proceedings is open and staffed by 
a substantial complement of employees, the notice must be posted within 
14 days after service by the Region.  If the facility involved in these pro-
ceedings is closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of employ-
ees due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, the no-
tice must be posted within 14 days after the facility reopens and a sub-
stantial complement of employees has returned to work. If, while closed 
or not staffed by a substantial complement of employees due to the pan-
demic, the Respondent is communicating with its employees by elec-
tronic means, the notice must also be posted by such electronic means 

________________________________________
David M. Prouty,                                Member

________________________________________
Gwynne A. Wilcox,                             Member

(SEAL)            NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

MEMBER KAPLAN, concurring in part and dissenting in part. 
At issue in this unfair labor practice case is a determi-

nation whether certain statements made by the Respond-
ent in reaction to the employees' union organizing activi-
ties violate Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.  For the reasons ex-
plained below, I agree with my colleagues' findings that 
some of the Respondent’s statements violated Section 
8(a)(1) of the Act, and I disagree with their findings that 
certain other statements were unlawful.  Of particular im-
portance, however, is the fact that my colleagues and I all
adopt the judge's finding that the managers' statements 
concerning the effect that unionization would have on the 
employees' ability to address issues individually with the 
Respondent did not constitute unlawful threats under Sec-
tion 8(a)(1) of the Act. 

Yet, even though we all agree with regard to the dismis-
sal of that complaint allegation, my colleagues have nev-
ertheless written a lengthy decision explaining why they 
are overruling "Tri-Cast and its progeny" and, further, 
why they believe that this case presents them with the op-
portunity to do so.  As I will explain, however, their rea-
soning is based in abstraction and fails to engage with the 
actual facts and law presented in this case.   

To begin, although my colleagues assert that they are 
overruling Tri-Cast, Inc., 274 NLRB 311 (1985), in this 
case, they are not.  The only issue presented in Tri-Cast, 
which was a representation case, was whether or not a cer-
tain statement rose to the level of objectionable conduct
sufficient to warrant setting aside the results of a represen-
tation election.  The case currently before the Board, how-
ever, does not present the question of whether or not the 
statements at issue constituted objectionable conduct.  Ra-
ther, the case before us presents the issue of whether those 

within 14 days after service by the Region.  If the notice to be physically 
posted was posted electronically more than 60 days before physical post-
ing of the notice, the notice shall state at the bottom that “This notice is 
the same notice previously [sent or posted] electronically on [date].”  If 
this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court of appeals, 
the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the National Labor 
Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judgment of the United 
States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the National Labor Rela-
tions Board.”
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statements constitute an unfair labor practice under Sec-
tion 8(a)(1).

It is settled law pursuant to Pergament United Sales, 
296 NRB 333 (1989), that the Board cannot reach an issue 
not alleged in the complaint unless two factors are satis-
fied:  the issue is closely connected to the subject matter 
of the complaint and the issue has been fully litigated.  
See, e.g., Dalton Schools d/b/a The Dalton School, 364 
NLRB 132, 133 (2016) (declining to reach the issue of 
whether the respondent engaged in an unlawful interroga-
tion because the issue failed to satisfy the Pergament test). 
There is no question that, if my colleagues were to attempt 
to find that the statement at issue did, or did not, constitute 
objectionable conduct, they would not be able to do so be-
cause that issue would not satisfy the requirements of Per-
gament.  Indeed, I am not aware of any case in which the 
Board has addressed whether or not conduct rose to the 
level of objectionable conduct where, as here, no election 
had been held.1    

It is not clear to me on what basis my colleagues believe 
that, even though they do not have the ability under Per-
gament to make any finding regarding objectionable con-
duct in the instant case, they have the ability to overrule 
Tri-Cast and thus effectively find that the conduct at issue 
in this case would now constitute objectionable conduct.2  
To my knowledge, the Board has never held that it has the 
ability to make law, let alone overrule precedent, based on 
an issue that is inarguably not before it.3  Nor am I aware 
of any case in which the Board has overruled law pertain-
ing to representation cases through the vehicle of an unfair 
labor practice case, or vice versa.  

1  Because the issue of whether or not the Respondent engaged in ob-
jectionable conduct is not before us, if the judge applied the holding in 
Tri-Cast as binding precedent, that was clear error.  The fact that the 
Board has applied the rationale in Tri-Cast to unfair labor practice cases 
in the past does not establish that Tri-Cast itself needs to be overruled to 
decide an alleged violation in an unfair labor practice case.  Contrary to 
the suggestion of the majority, the judge's error in that regard does not 
place the question of whether or not Tri-Cast needs to be overruled be-
fore the Board.   

In fact, this is not the first time my colleagues, or the Board, have 
erroneously conflated these two separate areas of the law.  In Cemex 
Construction Materials Pacific, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 130, slip op. at 6 
(2023), my colleagues cited both Tri-Cast and Midland Life Insurance, 
263 NLRB 127 (1982), another post-election representation case, as 
grounds for reversing the judge's finding that statements made to drivers 
violated Sec. 8(a)(1) of the Act.  But my colleagues also cited New Pro-
cess Co., 290 NLRB 704, 707 (1988), enfd. 872 F.2d 413 (3d Cir. 1989) 
(unpublished), a combined unfair labor practice and representation case, 
in which the Board appears to have made the same error, reversing the 
judge's finding that a statement violated Sec. 8(a)(1) on the basis of Tri-
Cast, finding "that holding is dispositive of the alleged violation here."  
290 NLRB at 707.

2  Which is a particularly odd result given that my colleagues are not 
finding that the statements at issue in this case even violated Section 
8(a)(1), which is inarguably a lower bar.    

My colleagues cannot challenge the validity of these 
points.  Rather, they attempt to justify using this unfair la-
bor practice case to overrule law pertaining to representa-
tion cases, which involve an entirely different section of 
the Act, by asserting that "[i]n representation cases . . . 
conduct that is or could be separately deemed an unfair 
labor practice almost always constitutes objectionable 
conduct that may warrant setting aside the election."  Sim-
ilarly, they contend that "[i]n the nearly 40 years since Tri-
Cast was decided, the Board has never hesitated to apply 
Tri-Cast's categorical rule across both representation and 
unfair labor practice cases.”  Even assuming that those 
statements are true, my colleagues have skipped a logical 
step.  My colleagues refuse to concede, as they must, that 
the Board does not use the same analysis for determining 
whether a statement constitutes an unlawful threat and 
thereby violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act and for deter-
mining whether a statement constitutes objectionable con-
duct in determining whether to uphold election results.  
Accordingly, just because violations of Section 8(a)(1) of-
ten strongly support a determination that objectionable 
conduct has occurred, that does not turn the instant unfair 
labor practice case into a representation case presenting 
the issue of whether certain statements constitute objec-
tionable conduct.  And because that issue is inarguably not 
before us, my colleagues cannot use this case to change 
the law pertaining to what constitutes objectionable con-
duct.

Still unpersuaded, my colleagues assert that they "have 
collected more than a dozen cases to prove the point."  But, 
to the extent that they are citing unfair labor practice cases 

3  Nor would courts likely enforce a decision by the Board on an issue 
not presented in the case before it.  Cf. Berman v. Dept. of the Interior, 
447 F.App'x 186, 192 (Fed. Cir. 2011) (remanding Merit System Protec-
tion Board decision giving preclusive effect to a later-reversed jury ver-
dict on a 18 U.S.C. § 209(a) allegation because, inter alia, “the merits of 
a Section 209(a) violation were not before the Board”).

I also note that my colleagues' attempt to reach the issue of objection-
able conduct in this unfair labor practice case--if successful--would com-
pletely overhaul the Board's practice of deciding cases.  If my colleagues 
are correct, then nothing would stop the Board from using a case only 
alleging a single unlawful Sec. 8(a)(1) threat to overturn Wright Line, the 
long-standing precedent for determining whether an employer's adverse 
action against an employee violates Sec. 8(a)(3) and (1) of the Act.  Like 
the determination of objectionable conduct, the determination of an un-
lawful adverse action under Wright Line is not the same analysis as that 
used for determining a Sec. 8(a)(1) violation.  However, it cannot be de-
nied that, often, the Board's finding of an unlawful threat under Sec. 
8(a)(1) is the determinative factor in finding that the General Counsel 
has met her initial Wright Line burden and that that determination con-
trols the Sec. 8(a)(3) and (1) analysis, so long as the respondent cannot 
rebut it.  Similarly here, although the finding of an unlawful Sec. 8(a)(1) 
threat may very well end up being the determinative factor in finding that 
a future employer engaged in objectionable pre-election conduct, the 
Board in that future case must still undertake an objectionable conduct 
analysis.   
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that have applied the rationale in Tri-Cast, those cases do 
not establish that the decision whether or not to overrule 
Tri-Cast is before us.4  Instead, what is arguably before 
the Board is whether the Board should continue to apply 
the Tri-Cast rationale in determining whether or not state-
ments constitute unlawful threats under Section 8(a)(1).5   

Finally, I note an additional reason why my colleagues 
are not overruling Tri-Cast: the Board's holding in Tri-
Cast had two separate bases.  Specifically, the Board 
found that the statement at issue "[could] not be character-
ized as an objectionable retaliatory threat"6 and that "the 
Regional Director's finding of an objectionable misrepre-
sentation cannot stand" in light of Midland National Life 
Insurance Co., 263 NLRB 127 (1982) (emphasis added).  
The decision in Midland flowed directly from the Su-
preme Court's decision in NLRB v. A.J. Tower, Co., in 
which the Supreme Court held that, in establishing "the 
proceedings necessary to insure the free and fair choice of 
bargaining representatives by employee," the Board was 
required to weigh multiple factors.  Midland, 263 NLRB 
at 131 (citing NLRB v. A.J. Tower, Co., 329 U.S. 324, 330 
(1946)).  As the Board stated:

[T]he Board must weigh and accommodate not only the 
principle of majority rule, but several other conflicting 
factors, such as preserving the secrecy of the ballot, in-
suring the certainty and finality of election results, and 
minimizing unwarranted and dilatory claims by those 
opposed to the election results. 

Id. (citing A.J. Tower, 329 U.S. at 331).  Because such a wide 
range of interests were at stake, the Board rejected prior cases 
that had required that the Board undertake an inquiry into the 
truth or falsity of election campaign misstatements.  Rather, 
it concluded that the proper standard was that, in determining 

4  In a future appropriate case raising the issue of whether certain state-
ments are objectionable, my colleagues would be free to overrule Tri-
Cast.  They just can't do so in this case because the issue is not before us.  

5  My colleagues find it significant that two majority decisions in 
which I participated "applied Tri-Cast's rule to decide unfair labor prac-
tice allegations," citing Holy Cross Health d/b/a Holy Cross Hospital, 
370 NLRB No. 16, slip op. at 1 n.3 (2020), and Stern Produce Co., 368 
NLRB No. 31, slip op. at 4 (2019).  But there is nothing remarkable about 
that.  I am not disputing the fact that the Board has a practice of applying 
the principle set forth in Tri-Cast to unfair labor practice cases.  But that 
does not establish that the holding in Tri-Cast--that certain conduct was 
not objectionable--was before the Board in those cases.  Indeed, it would 
have been as inappropriate to overrule Tri-Cast in those prior cases in 
which I participated as it is in the instant case.  I further note that nothing 
in Holy Cross or Stern Produce suggests that any party argued to the 
Board that it should stop applying the Tri-Cast reasoning to unfair labor 
practice allegations.          

6  I will refer to this basis of the Board's holding in Tri-Cast as the 
"absence of threat" analysis.   

7  The Board also noted that it believed "that Board rules in this area 
must be based on a view of employees as mature individuals who are 

whether misstatements constituted objectionable conduct, the 
Board should not rely on the "substance of the representa-
tion" but rather on whether the representation was made in a 
"deceptive manner."  Id. at 131.  The Board concluded that, 
because employees would be capable of evaluating state-
ments made in the context of a campaign, this standard would 
promote "definite [election] results [that] are both predictable 
and speedy," reduce "[t]he incentive for protracted litigation" 
over election results, and reduce "the possibility of disagree-
ment between the Board and the courts."7  Id. at 131–132.  
For these reasons, the Board concluded that "we will no 
longer probe into the truth or falsity of the parties' campaign 
statements, and that we will not set elections aside on the ba-
sis of misleading campaign statements."  Id. at 133.8  Thus, 
the Board expressly decided Tri-Cast in light of the high 
standard applicable for finding conduct objectionable under 
Midland.  The instant case, by contrast, has nothing to do with 
the Board's Midland precedent. 

In addition to the fact that the factors to be weighed in 
determining objectionable conduct are entirely absent in 
determinations whether statements violate Section 8(a)(1), 
there is another obvious reason why the Board would cre-
ate a lower standard for Section 8(a)(1) violations.  The 
ramifications for finding violations in the two contexts are 
very different.  The remedy imposed by the Board for ob-
jectionable conduct involving coercive statements results 
in overruling employees' choice whether or not to be rep-
resented as expressed through a secret ballot election.  In 
the case of Section 8(a)(1) violations, in contrast, the rem-
edies ordered are far more limited, ultimately centering on 
a cease-and-desist order and a notification to employees 
of the violation, including a statement that such conduct 
will not happen again.9  Consistent with this difference, 

capable of recognizing campaign propaganda for what it is and discount-
ing it."  Id. at 131 (internal quotation marks omitted).

8  It may well be that my colleagues disagree with the Board's decision 
in Tri-Cast to rely on Midland in finding that the conduct at issue was 
election propaganda and, therefore, did not constitute objectionable con-
duct.  However, there is no argument whatsoever for the Board reaching 
that issue here, unless my colleagues are taking the position that the 
Board may use any case to overrule any precedent, whether or not the 
issue is remotely before the Board.  If that is indeed my colleagues' po-
sition, they appear to be giving future Boards carte blanche to overrule 
any precedent, at any time.  In addition, they must answer the question 
why, if the issue is not before us, the Board is free to ignore the rulemak-
ing provisions mandated in the Administrative Procedure Act.  

9  The contrast in the two questions is also demonstrated in the recent 
representation case Coway USA, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 145 (2024).  In that 
case, the question presented was whether the union engaged in objection-
able conduct by threatening or informing employees that voting against 
the union would be futile.  Specifically, the union president informed 
employees "that, if the employees voted against representation, he would 
'hire lawyers and file a lawsuit' and that the Union would eventually pre-
vail."  Id., slip op. at 1 n.1.  Two of my colleagues found that the state-
ment at issue in Coway did not constitute objectionable conduct, in part, 
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the Board in Midland cited the Supreme Court for its un-
derstanding that it was acceptable to allow parties to make 
misrepresentations to employees based on the principle 
that "a Board rule governing a representation proceeding 
need not be an 'absolute guarantee' that the election will, 
without exception, reflect the choice of a majority of the 
voting employees.”  Midland, 263 NLRB at 131 (citing 
A.J. Tower, 329 U.S. at 332, 333).

In a future appropriate case, three members of the Board 
may choose to overrule the holding in Tri-Cast that the 
statement at issue in that case did not constitute objection-
able conduct.  Or, in the absence of a case presenting the 
issue, three Board members could engage in rulemaking 
to make that change to the law.  What the majority of the 
Board may not do, however, is reverse long-standing 
Board precedent that involves an entirely different area of 
the law than what is before the Board in the instant case.10    

THE RESPONDENT’S ALLEGED SECTION 8(a)(1) 
VIOLATIONS 

Allegations Where I Join My Colleagues in Finding 
Violations

I agree with my colleagues’ conclusion that the Re-
spondent violated Section 8(a)(1) by threatening employ-
ees when their managers made certain statements about 
the effects of unionization in meetings on March 11 and 
22, 2022, and in postings on Facebook.  Specifically, I join 
my colleagues in finding that the Respondent unlawfully 
threatened employees that unionization would cause them 
to lose the current benefit of Term Limited Assignments 
(TLAs), but only to the extent that a manager stated that 
TLAs would be “off the table.”  By that statement, em-
ployees would reasonably understand that the Respondent 
would refuse to bargain over a mandatory bargaining sub-
ject concerning temporary work assignments.11  

I also agree that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) 
when its manager told employees that the Respondent 
would “prioritize, frankly, ununionized stores over union-
ized stores” if employees voted to unionize, particularly 

because "the statement [was] a permissible forecast of the Union’s legal 
options following a hypothetical unsuccessful election. To the extent that 
it may have misrepresented the extent to which the Union’s ‘lawsuit’ 
might be successful, the Board does not ‘probe into the truth or falsity of 
the parties’ campaign statements.’ Midland National Life Insurance Co., 
263 NLRB 127, 133 (1982).”  Id.  If Coway had been an unfair labor 
practice case, by contrast, my colleagues would presumably not have ap-
plied Midland and, instead, would have considered whether a reasonable 
employee would feel coerced by a union president threatening to file a 
lawsuit and not accept the results of the election should the employees 
vote not to be represented.  Certainly, it is hard to imagine a scenario in 
which an employer making the exact same statements would not be 
found to violate Sec. 8(a)(1).  

10  I further note that I will explain that, to the extent that my col-
leagues are attempting to overrule Board precedent involving Sec. 

after telling them that “for unionized stores to get a super 
great deal, it’s going to be hounding, I think, for Starbucks 
to move all those billions of dollars that go to partners over 
to their legal department that’s constantly negotiating con-
tracts.”  I further agree that the Respondent, by one of its 
manager’s Facebook posts, unlawfully threatened that un-
ionization would cause the loss of certain employee bene-
fits, but only to the extent that the manager stated, “we 
can’t share partners anymore for legality reasons.”  Addi-
tionally, I join my colleagues in affirming the judge’s dis-
missal of the allegation that the Respondent unlawfully 
held mandatory or “effectively mandatory” captive-audi-
ence meetings to discourage union activity.12      

Finally, I join my colleagues in finding that the Re-
spondent did not violate Section 8(a)(1) when its manager 
told employees, in pertinent part, that a “yes” vote would 
give their “right to speak to leadership [to] a union” and 
“[t]hat a third party comes in and speaks for” them upon 
selection of a union.  Despite our unanimous decision on 
this issue, my colleagues have found it necessary to spec-
ulate at length, in dicta, whether different statements not 
presently before the Board should be found to violate the 
Act.  As will be discussed below, such speculation has no 
precedential value because it has no bearing on the issues 
presently before the Board.

Allegations Where I Do Not Join My Colleagues in 
Finding Violations

I disagree with my colleagues that the Respondent oth-
erwise violated Section 8(a)(1) as alleged.  Unlike my col-
leagues, I would affirm the judge’s finding, for the reasons 
he stated, that the Respondent did not violate Section 
8(a)(1) when its manager responded to an employee ques-
tion about walkouts by saying that all union partners 
would have to strike and that there is no opting out in the 
State of Washington.   

Further, contrary to my colleagues’ conclusion, I would 
reverse the judge’s finding that the Respondent’s store op-
erations manager unlawfully gave employees the impres-
sion that selecting the Union would be futile because it 

8(a)(1) violations without addressing how the change in law would affect 
the case presently before us, their dicta clearly qualifies as arbitrary and 
capricious and is therefore barred by the Administrative Procedure Act.  

11  See generally Southern California Edison Co., 284 NLRB 1205, 
1210 (1987) (finding that “temporary work assignment practice” is a 
mandatory subject of bargaining “within the category of wages, hours, 
and terms and conditions of employment”), enfd. 852 F.2d 572 (9th Cir. 
1988). 

12  Like my colleagues, I decline the General Counsel’s request to 
overrule Babcock & Wilcox Co., 77 NLRB 577 (1948), which addresses 
the lawfulness of employer-mandated campaign meetings, but I note that 
the majority’s decision to prospectively overrule Tri-Cast in this case
undermines Babcock by severely restricting lawful employer statements 
about the effects of unionization and by blurring the clear guidance that 
the Agency is obligated to provide and, for decades, has provided.  
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would not result in a change in credit-card processing 
technology, which employees believed reduced their po-
tential tips.  In this respect, the manager told employees: 

[If] credit card tips … could just be switched on—that 
would be amazing. That server, that code, doesn’t exist 
yet.  And, um, contract negotiations isn’t going to create 
the code.  We use registers that are used in every other 
Starbucks.  What updates on ours will impact every 
other Starbucks. When we talk about like mobile—you 
know when you go to [the credit-card processing tech-
nology] like Square, or whatnot, like that front end, 
credit card, those registers flip, so that a customer can 
make a personal choice as to how much to tip.  Our 
equipment doesn’t do that.  And negotiations is going to 
have a hard time in us getting brand new equipment in 
here, plus server code.  It’s just honest.

To begin, the statements that my colleagues view as 
threats are not alleged to have been false or inaccurate.  
Furthermore, contrary to my colleagues' suggestions, 
nothing in the statement suggested that the Union could 
not "help employees get better compensation for their 
work."  The Respondent did not suggest that it would re-
fuse to bargain about tips, nor did it suggest that it was 
unwilling to bargain over higher wages to compensate for 
the unavailable technology.  

Finally, and perhaps most significantly, because the se-
lection of banking or credit card-processing technology is 
not a mandatory subject of bargaining, nothing in this 
statement can be construed as a threat that the Respondent 
would unlawfully refuse to bargain.13  Because it is not a 
statement of futility to refuse to bargain over a permissive 
subject of bargaining, if employees had an expectation 
that such bargaining was required, they were wrong.  

In addition to dismissing the allegation(s) that the state-
ments above were unlawful, I would also dismiss the alle-
gation that the Respondent’s manager unlawfully threat-
ened that bargaining would be futile by stating that nego-
tiations at the Respondent’s Buffalo, New York store had 
been ongoing for 12 to 18 months without a contract.  My 
colleagues do not dispute that this statement accurately 
characterized the status of bargaining at the Buffalo store.  
Unlike my colleagues, I conclude that because these fac-
tual statements did not threaten action by the Respondent 
nor imply that the length of negotiations was attributable 

13  The cases cited by the judge to find this violation do not establish 
that the choice of technology is itself a mandatory subject of bargaining.  
Contrary to my colleagues’ finding, the Respondent has no obligation to 
bargain about capital investments such as purchasing new technology, 
which, as the Supreme Court has made clear, would infringe its right to 
manage its business. See generally Fibreboard Corp. v. NLRB, 379 U.S. 
203, 213 (1964) (reasoning that company’s decision to contract out 
maintenance work was a mandatory subject of bargaining because, inter 

to any one party’s intransigence, the General Counsel did 
not establish a violation of Section 8(a)(1).14    

INSOFAR AS MY COLLEAGUES' DECISION 
CONTAINS SPECULATION THAT IS NOT 

RELEVANT TO DECIDING THE CASE BEFORE US, 
SUCH SPECULATION IS NOT BINDING 

PRECEDENT

As mentioned above, my colleagues and I unanimously 
decided, based on a shared rationale, that the statements at 
issue in this case addressing the potential changes to the 
relationship between the employees and the Respondent 
do not violate the Act.  That, of course, should be the end 
of the matter.  Instead, my colleagues seek to address an 
entirely different question, neither pled in the complaint 
nor at issue in the case before us:  whether to change the 
standard used to determine whether other unidentified 
statements, but not the statements currently before the 
Board, would violate Section 8(a)(1).  Insofar as my col-
leagues' language purporting to overrule Tri-Cast is en-
tirely irrelevant to their determination whether the lan-
guage before us violates the Act, it is not only dicta but it 
is clearly contrary to the provisions of the Administrative 
Procedure Act given that, to decide the instant case, the 
question whether other statements not before us are un-
lawful is entirely irrelevant.  

Indeed, as Chairman McFerran recognized in an earlier 
case, the Board's scope to change the law through its 
quasi-judicial process is not unlimited.  As part of the dis-
sent in Hy-Brand Industrial Contractors, then-Member 
McFerran found that the Board there "fail[ed] to engage in 
the reasoned decisionmaking required of administrative 
agencies by the Administrative Procedure Act" when it en-
gages in overreach.  Id., 365 NLRB 1554, 1588 (2017) 
(Members Pearce and McFerran, dissenting) (overruled 
on procedural grounds, 366 NLRB No. 26 (2018)).  In Hy-
Brand, the dissent concluded that the following aspects of 
that case demonstrated the majority decision's failure to 
comply with the Administrative Procedure Act.  First, the 
case could be "easily decided without reaching the [] issue
. . . ."  That is undeniably true here.  Second, the change 

in the joint-employer standard there "ma[d]e no differ-
ence" with regard to determining whether the respondent 
was a joint employer.  Again, undeniably true here.  Third, 
the dissent criticized the majority for "breaking with 

alia, “[n]o capital investment was contemplated” and, therefore, requir-
ing bargaining “about the matter would not significantly abridge [the em-
ployer’s] freedom to manage the business”).  Again, nothing the Re-
spondent said precluded bargaining over increased wages or other tip-
ping options to make up for the Respondent’s technological limitations.      

14  See NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575 (1969) (distinguish-
ing lawful, objectively fact-based statements from unlawful threats).  
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established practice" by failing "to give notice that it was 
considering a change in the law" and failing "to provide 
interested persons with an opportunity to file briefs on the 
issue."  That is true here as well.15

Based on these factors, the dissent in Hy-Brand con-
cluded that the decision there was "arbitrary" and could 
not be reconciled with the requirements of the Adminis-
trative Procedure Act.  See id. at 1589, 1598 fn. 55.  But 
if then-Member McFerran found that to be true in Hy-
Brand, I cannot discern any reasoned basis for deciding 
that the majority's attempt to overrule the absence of threat 
analysis here does not also violate the Administrative Pro-
cedure Act.  In particular, I note that the precedent at issue 
in Hy-Brand had been in place for two years.  The analysis 
that my colleagues seek to overrule here, by contrast, has 
been in place for approximately 40 years.  Nevertheless, 
my colleagues have failed to provide any reasoned expla-
nation for why it was necessary, in the instant case, to re-
visit that analysis.  Which is not surprising, because none 
exists.16  

Of course, the current majority has not been afraid to 
overreach the bounds of the case before them to reverse 
other precedent similarly at odds with then-Member 
McFerran's criticism of Hy-Brand.  See, e.g., American 
Federation of Children, 372 NLRB No. 137, slip op. at 14 
(2023) (reaching broader question not necessary to decide 
the case as an "alternate holding"); Miller Plastic Prod-
ucts, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 134, slip op. at 3 fn. 10 (2023) 
(same).17  In those cases, at least, my colleagues attempted 
to defend their position as an "alternate holding."  That 
justification, however, is not available to my colleagues 

15  The Hy-Brand dissent also noted two additional facts: no party had 
asked the Board to reconsider the joint-employer standard, and the D.C. 
Circuit was considering a case involving the joint-employer standard.  
Nothing in Hy-Brand, however, indicates that, absent those two facts, the 
dissent would have concluded that Hy-Brand was a proper vehicle for 
reconsidering the joint-employer standard.  Indeed, the fact that no court 
is currently considering the issue undermines my colleagues' suggestion 
that they have a reasoned basis for attempting to use this case, which 
does not present the issue, to jettison the long-standing "absence of 
threat" analysis.  The fact is that no court is currently considering the 
issue because no court, or Board, decision has questioned the “absence 
of threat” analysis for the 40 years that it has been in place.   

16  The General Counsel’s error in requesting that the Board overrule 
Tri-Cast in an unfair labor practice case does not mean that the relevant 
issue in that case—whether an employer has engaged in objectionable 
conduct—is properly before the Board.

17 Notably, in NLRB v. McLaren Macomb, the Sixth Circuit recently 
found, as the dissent had asserted in the Board case, that it was entirely 
unnecessary to reach the question of whether the law pertaining to sev-
erance agreements should be changed in order to decide the case.  Rather, 
the court found that because the "the Board held that even under [the 
prior precedent]," the respondent's conduct violated the Act, the case 
could be decided under that prior precedent.  And, indeed, the court ap-
plied the prior precedent that had allegedly been overruled by the Board 
in that case in deciding the case.  NLRB v. McLaren Macomb, Nos. 23-

today.  There is nothing in their prejudgment that they will 
find certain statements not currently before us violate Sec-
tion 8(a)(1) that is necessary or relevant to deciding the 
case presently before us.  Accordingly, my colleagues' 
comments suggesting such prejudgment are clearly noth-
ing more than dicta and are without precedential value.18  

My colleagues refuse to accept this fact, asserting that I 
do "not explain how, under [my] understanding of the law, 
the agency could ever overturn precedent but decide that 
the equities merited doing so only on a prospective basis."  
Allow me to explain.  As my colleagues conceded, the 
Board decides to apply a change in law prospectively be-
cause applying the new policies and standards retroac-
tively would "amount to a manifest injustice."  In other 
words, the Board decides not to find a violation based on 
the new law because it would be unfair to the parties.  But 
that is not the case here.  My colleagues are not finding 
that applying the new standard here would constitute a 
manifest injustice because, if the new standard applied, the 
Respondent's statement would then be unlawful.  Instead, 
they are deciding to apply the change in law prospectively 
because, in their view, "the Respondent would likely be 
judged to have committed an unfair labor practice based 
on speech that was clearly lawful at the time of utter-
ance."19  I am not aware of any case establishing that it 
was appropriate to change the law prospectively without 
actually applying the law to the present case and deter-
mining that such application would create a manifest 

1335/1403, 2024 WL 4240545 at 7 (6th Cir. Sept. 19, 2024) (unpublished 
per curiam). 

18  My colleagues have also attempted to rely on language from Su-
preme Court cases to support their assertions that the Board must be al-
lowed to formulate rules through its quasi-judicial function.  See, e.g., 
Miller Plastic Products, 372 NLRB No. 134, slip op. at 3 fn.10.  None 
of the cases relied upon by my colleagues, however, support the propo-
sition that the Board may use its quasi-judicial function to formulate rules 
that are not properly presented in the case before it.  See Beth Israel v. 
NLRB, 437 U.S. 483, 501 (1978) (affirming Board decision where it was 
supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole); NLRB v. 
Bell Aerospace, 416 NLRB 267 (1974) (affirming Board decision that 
was supported by the record facts).  

19  Similarly, my colleagues reject my contention that their language 
overruling Tri-Cast is dicta irrelevant to the case before us, stating that 
my position is "nothing more than a reflection of the fact that we have 
chosen--based on a careful consideration of the relevant factors--not to 
apply our decision retroactively."  But of course, that is not the basis for 
my assertion that their attempt to overrule Tri-Cast is non-precedential 
dicta.  Rather, I believe that they have not overruled Tri-Cast because 
they have not shown that overruling Tri-Cast would have had any effect 
on the case before us, let alone resulted in a "manifestly unjust" outcome.  
Stating that "the result in this case could have very well been different" 
is not enough to establish that the proposed change in law was actually 
relevant to the case before us.  
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injustice.20  Accordingly, because my colleagues are not 
finding that their proposed change in law would affect the 
outcome of this case, that proposed change in law is 
dicta.21  

My colleagues also assert that my fundamental criticism 
with their holding today is that I "disagree with [them] as 
a matter of policy as to the proper framework for assessing 
the coercive tendency that a certain type of employer state-
ment could have on employees' free exercise of their Sec-
tion 7 rights."  Although it is true that I disagree with their 
current standard for evaluating whether statements are co-
ercive, that is not my fundamental criticism of their deci-
sion.  Rather, to be clear, my fundamental disagreement is 
two-fold.  First, my colleagues are attempting to overrule 
a representation case, which presents the question of 
whether conduct is objectionable, through an unfair labor 
practice case that does not present that question.  Second, 
my colleagues are attempting to use this case to change 
the law even though they have not shown that the change 
in law would have any effect whatsoever on the facts pre-
sented in the case before us.  Accordingly, because their 
alleged change in law is entirely irrelevant to deciding the 
case before us, it is non-precedential dicta.  

MY COLLEAGUES' DICTA FAILS TO PROVIDE A 
REASONED BASIS FOR JETTISONING THE LONG-

STANDING TRI-CAST "ABSENCE OF THREAT" 
ANALYSIS

Assuming that, in a future appropriate case, my col-
leagues are able to reach the issue and overturn Tri-Cast, 
I will explain here, also in dicta, why they do not have a 
reasonable basis for doing so.  My colleagues and I agree 
that, when employees vote to be represented by a union, 
they are selecting an exclusive representative to bargain 
with the employer on their behalf about their terms and 
conditions of employment.  As a result, employees' choice 
to be represented by a union necessarily, and dramatically, 

20 My colleagues, for their part, assert that they are finding that ap-
plication of the new law to the Respondent in this case would constitute 
a manifest injustice, contending that this case presents the same circum-
stances as Piedmont Gardens, 362 NLRB 1135, 1140–1151 (2015), enfd. 
sub nom. American Baptist Homes of the West v. NLRB, 858 F.3d 612 
(D.C. Cir. 2017).  However, in Piedmont Gardens, unlike in the instant 
case, there was no question that the application of the new standard 
would have changed the outcome of the case.  Under extant law, the re-
spondent’s refusal to provide the union with witness statements did not 
violate the Act; following the change in law, it did.  Accordingly, the 
injustice or “ill effect” to the respondent that would have resulted from 
applying the decision retrospectively in Piedmont Gardens was clear and 
obvious.  See generally SNE Enterprises, Inc., 344 NLRB 673, 673 
(2005) (stating that “the propriety of retroactive application is deter-
mined by balancing any ill effects of retroactivity against “‘the mischief 
of producing a result which is contrary to a statutory design or to legal 
and equitable principles’”) (emphasis added) (quoting Security & Ex-
change Commission v. Chenery Corp., 332 U.S. 194, 203 (1947)).  In 

transforms the relationship they have with their employer.  
In particular, the employer’s previous authority to unilat-
erally and directly deal with those employees on all mat-
ters related to their employment is significantly con-
strained. 

My colleagues, however, conclude that when an em-
ployer makes statements that do not entirely accurately 
characterize the scope of this change, the Board should 
find that such statements violate Section 8(a)(1).  Their 
reasoning is based on two fundamental principles.  First, 
they contend that cases that have failed to find that such 
statements violate Section 8(a)(1) do not comport with 
Gissel, above, which distinguishes an employer’s lawful, 
objectively fact-based statements about its beliefs from 
unlawful threats.  They further argue that, to the extent that 
the Board has relied on the theory in Tri-Cast to determine 
Section 8(a)(1) allegations, that theory has served to “cat-
egorically immunize[] employer campaign statements that 
. . . threaten employees with the loss of an established 
workplace benefit,” specifically the “ability” to bring 
some personal grievances directly to the employer within 
the limitations established in the proviso to Section 9(a) of 
the Act.  

As I explain below, however, the “absence of threat” 
rationale set forth in Tri-Cast properly draws the line be-
tween an employer’s unlawful threats and its lawful state-
ments about changes brought on by unionization and is 
consistent with the Act and Supreme Court precedent.  In 
finding otherwise, my colleagues rely on inaccurate char-
acterizations of Tri-Cast and its progeny and a misunder-
standing of the proviso to Section 9(a) as describing an 
“ability” or “statutory protections” afforded represented 
employees to have their grievances settled directly by their 
employer.  As discussed further below, my colleagues 
concede that that “ability” is not a substantive or enforce-
able right guaranteeing that an employer must entertain 
any such grievances.22  Finally, my colleagues say that 

addition, my colleagues assert that “in enforcing the Board’s decision [in 
Piedmont Gardens], the District of Columbia Circuit gave no indication 
that the Board could not change its precedent on a prospective-only ba-
sis.”  Contrary to my colleagues’ suggestion, however, I am not taking 
the position that the Board cannot establish new law without retroactive 
application where—as in Piedmont Gardens—ill effects constituting 
manifest injustice would result if the new standard were to be applied to 
the case at issue.  Rather, our disagreement centers on whether it has been 
established that retroactive application would produce ill effects for the 
Respondent in this case and, if not, whether the changed law can be con-
sidered relevant to deciding the case before us.   

21  For this reason, my colleagues' suggestion that Tri-Cast raised the 
same problem is utterly baseless.  In Tri-Cast, the Board applied the law 
to the facts presented in the case at issue.  

22 Emporium Capwell Co. v. W. Addition Cmty. Org., 420 U.S. 50, 61 
(1975) (affirming that “the Act nowhere protects this [9(a) proviso] 
‘right’ by making it an unfair labor practice for an employer to refuse to 
entertain” a represented employee’s grievance).
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they will return to a case-by-case approach.  Of course, the 
proper standard to use in determining whether a Section 
8(a)(1) violation has occurred has almost always been a 
case-by-case approach.  But, contrary to their assertion, it 
appears that they want to put in place a categorial rule; 
specifically, that to be deemed lawful, employer predic-
tions about the changing employer-employee relationship 
must recite almost verbatim even barely relevant and often 
misleading legal principles. 

1.  To begin, any rule pertaining to whether the type of 
statements at issue violated Section 8(a)(1) must protect objec-

tively reasonable employer predictions about the effect of 
unionization.

When employer speech is alleged to violate Section 
8(a)(1) of the Act, the Board’s analysis must adhere to 
Section 8(c)’s provision that “[t]he expressing of any 
views, argument, or opinion” by an employer is not an un-
fair labor practice if the expression “contains no threat of 
reprisal or force or promise of benefit.”  The Supreme 
Court has characterized Section 8(c) as “favoring uninhib-
ited, robust, and wide-open debate in labor disputes,” 
stressing that “freewheeling use of the written and spoken 
word . . .  has been expressly fostered by Congress and 
approved by the NLRB.” Letter Carriers v. Austin, 418 
U.S. 264, 272–273 (1974).  Section 8(c) therefore recog-
nizes an employer’s right of free speech under the First 
Amendment as explained in Gissel, 395 U.S. at 617: 

[A]n employer is free to communicate to his employees 
any of his general views about unionism or any of his 
specific views about a particular union, so long as the 
communications do not contain a threat of reprisal or 
force or promise of benefit.  He may even make a pre-
diction as to the precise effects he believes unionization 
will have on his company.  In such a case, however, the 
prediction must be carefully phrased on the basis of ob-
jective fact to convey an employer's belief as to demon-
strably probable consequences beyond his control ….  

Id. at 618 (internal quotations omitted).  
Certain employer statements, namely those about the 

changed employer-employee relationship after unioniza-
tion, are also evaluated with consideration of Section 9(a) 
of the Act, which provides:

Representatives designated or selected for the purposes 
of collective bargaining by the majority of the employ-
ees in a unit appropriate for such purposes, shall be the 
exclusive representatives of all the employees in such 
unit for the purposes of collective bargaining in respect 

23  The Tri-Cast Board also overruled Greensboro News Co., 257 
NLRB 701 (1981), Armstrong Cork Co., 250 NLRB 1282 (1980), and 
LOF Glass, Inc., 249 NLRB 428 (1980), cases in which the Board had 
found objectionable employer statements that, upon selection of an 

to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, or other 
conditions of employment[.]  

In addition, the proviso to Section 9(a) affirms that it is 
not necessarily an unfair labor practice for an employer to 
hear the grievances of its represented employees within 
certain constraints: 

[A]ny individual employee or a group of employees 
shall have the right at any time to present grievances to 
their employer and to have such grievances adjusted, 
without the intervention of the bargaining representa-
tive, as long as the adjustment is not inconsistent with 
the terms of a collective-bargaining contract or agree-
ment then in effect: Provided further, That the bargain-
ing representative has been given opportunity to be pre-
sent at such adjustment.

Specifically, Section 9(a) and its proviso affirm that when 
employees select a union as their bargaining representative 
they may still individually present their grievances to their 
employer for adjustment, but any action taken on such griev-
ances must be consistent with a collective-bargaining agree-
ment in effect and the exclusive bargaining representative 
must be given an opportunity to be present at such adjust-
ment.  In terms of the role of 9(a), the Board in Tri-Cast gen-
erally explained: 

Section 9(a) [] contemplates a change in the manner in 
which employer and employee deal with each other.  For 
an employer to tell its employees about this change dur-
ing the course of an election campaign cannot be char-
acterized as an objectionable retaliatory threat to deprive 
employees of their rights, but rather is nothing more or 
less than permissible campaign conduct.  As the Ninth 
Circuit has observed, ‘[I]t is a ‘fact of industrial life’ that 
when a union represents employees they will deal with 
the employer indirectly, through a shop steward.’  NLRB 
v. Sacramento Clinical Laboratory, 623 F.2d 110, 112 
(9th Cir. 1980).

274 NLRB at 377.  Accordingly, in concluding that the em-
ployer statement did not constitute objectionable conduct, the 
Tri-Cast Board reasoned that the “[e]mployer’s statement, 
crafted in layman’s terms, simply explicates one of the 
changes which occur between employers and employees 
when a statutory representative is selected" and that, there-
fore, “[t]here is no threat, either explicit or implicit, in a state-
ment which explains to employees that, when they select a 
union to represent them, the relationship that existed between 
the employees and the employer will not be as before.”  Id.23  

exclusive bargaining representative, employees would not be able to in-
dividually address workplace issues with management as they previously 
had done. Those decisions were inconsistent with the principles of Gis-
sel. In their dicta in this case, my colleagues lean into their predecessors’ 
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Contrary to my colleagues' assertions, the "absence of 
threat" rationale in Tri-Cast is consistent with both Section 
8(c) and Gissel in drawing a distinction between lawful, 
objectively fact-based predictions and unlawful threats, as 
the employer there accurately described the changed em-
ployee-employer relationship upon employees’ selection 
of an exclusive bargaining representative under Section 
9(a).  Because it is a matter of fact that the employer will 
have to comply with significant statutory and contractual 
requirements brought on by union representation, the em-
ployer did not threaten its employees by stating that, with 
a union, it could not “handle personal requests as [it] ha[d] 
been doing.”  In this respect, the “absence of threat” anal-
ysis in Tri-Cast recognized that, although an employer has 
absolute authority to change its unrepresented employees’ 
terms of employment and adjust grievances however it so 
chooses (subject only to state and federal law), an employ-
er's ability to make any such changes unilaterally upon the 
request of employees once they have an exclusive bargain-
ing representative is severely limited.  The proviso to Sec-
tion 9(a), which my colleagues repeatedly invoke, is not 
to the contrary.24  Because a vote to unionize is a vote to 
bring in an exclusive representative for the employees in 
dealing with the employer, the existing relationship, and 
the employer’s exclusive manner of dealing with its em-
ployees directly, cannot continue as before.  By stating as 
much, an employer does not, as my colleagues claim, 
threaten to unilaterally take away a “benefit” in retaliation 
for employees’ choice to unionize.25

2.  My colleagues' decision mischaracterizes the “absence of 
threat” rationale set forth in Tri-Cast as well as the long line of 

cases applying that rationale.

My colleagues assert that the Tri-Cast “absence of 
threat” analysis created a “categorical rule” that disregards 
“the clear statutory protections of Section 9(a)” and led the 
Board to “repeatedly f[ind] lawful employer statements 
that unionization would eliminate employees’ ability to 
address workplace issues individually with their em-
ployer—notwithstanding that some of these statements 

error by concluding that those cases involve “misrepresentation[s that 
were] for all intents and purposes a threat.”    

24  The Board's reliance in Tri-Cast on Sacramento Clinical Labora-
tory, 623 F.2d 110 (9th Cir. 1980), underscores the consistency of its 
“absence of threat” rationale with Gissel.  In the underlying decision in 
Sacramento Clinical Laboratory, the Board found that the respondent’s 
business manager unlawfully threatened an employee when he told her 
“that if the Union came in she would not be able to talk to him as she 
had, but would have to go through channels.”  242 NLRB 944, 944, 947–
948 (1979).  The court reversed, explaining that the employer’s manager 
“‘was not threatening anybody [with this statement] and that the employ-
ees were only being reminded of the substantive meaning of collective 
bargaining.’”  623 F.2d at 112.  Tri-Cast’s citation to Sacramento 

could be understood to threaten employees with a loss of 
an established benefit, when viewed from the perspective 
of a reasonable employee.”  Building upon that assump-
tion, my colleagues assert that the “absence of threat” ra-
tionale in Tri-Cast must be “replace[d] . . . with [a] case-
specific approach” to reviewing allegedly threatening 
statements.  

Ultimately, my colleagues are taking issue with a straw 
man of their own making. They claim that, under Tri-
Cast, “as a categorical matter, all employer statements on 
the general subject of employees’ ability to address issues 
individually with the employer after unionization are al-
ways lawful.”  Tri-Cast says nothing of the sort.  Nor do 
the cases applying its rationale.  In fact, the “absence of 
threat” principle set forth in Tri-Cast is that “[t]here is no 
threat, either explicit or implicit, in a statement which ex-
plains to employees that, when they select a union to rep-
resent them, the relationship that existed between the em-
ployees and the employer will not be as before.”  Id.   My 
colleagues do not, nor can they, disagree with this general 
principle.  

The majority also relies upon several Board decisions 
that they assert were wrongly decided under Tri-Cast.  In 
doing so, however, they fail to accurately characterize 
those cases.  For example, the majority points to Holy 
Cross Health d/b/a Holy Cross Hospital, 370 NLRB No. 
16 (2020), as a case in which the Board “found lawful em-
ployer statements that unionization would entirely elimi-
nate employees’ ability to address workplace issues indi-
vidually with their employer.”  My colleagues’ character-
ization is nonsense.  The respondent there actually stated 
that “the presence of a union might limit employee access 
to management by requiring that union representatives be 
present for such meetings.”  Id., slip op. at 7.  And as the 
Board there found, the employer’s “statements that union 
representation might limit direct access to management … 
are not threats; rather, they factually advise that represen-
tation will change employees’ relationship with their em-
ployer.”  Id., slip op. at 1.  After all, the proviso to Section 
9(a) expressly states that a union representative must at 

Clinical Laboratory signals that the Board there was fully cognizant of 
Gissel’s distinction between lawful expressions and unlawful threats.

25  In this respect, the Tri-Cast “absence of threat” rationale is on all 
fours with Eagle Comtronics, Inc., 263 NLRB 515 (1982), in which the
Board broadly affirmed that an employer does not violate the Act by tell-
ing employees its legal prerogatives in response to union activity without 
also advising employees of their rights under the Act.  As discussed be-
low, my colleagues’ efforts to analogize Eagle Comtronics is unavailing 
and, like the rest of today’s decision, is premised on their mistaken view 
that the Sec. 9(a) proviso essentially establishes a right or “benefit,” alt-
hough an admittedly unenforceable one, for employees to have griev-
ances adjusted without the intervention of their exclusive bargaining rep-
resentative.  As I explain below, however, the proviso provides no such 
right and far less of a “benefit” than my colleagues appear to believe. 
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least have the opportunity be present for any adjustment, 
essentially as the employer said.26  Importantly too, the 
Holy Cross Hospital Board distinguished the employer’s 
lawful, factual statements about the changed relationship 
from its unlawful “statements indicating that the 
[r]espondent’s leave policies might become less generous 
and its shift scheduling less flexible” should the union 
come on the scene.  Id. at 1 fn. 3.  The Board made clear 
that these statements, which were “unaccompanied by any 
qualification that changes to leave policies and shift 
scheduling would be collectively bargained,” “threatened 
adverse changes to specific terms and conditions of em-
ployment,” whereas “the statements at issue in Tri-Cast . 
. . did not.”  Id.  Such a distinction is accurate, analytically 
sound, and provides crucial clarity and guidance of the 
sort my colleagues would eradicate if they were to over-
rule Tri-Cast in a future appropriate case.27  

My colleagues also target Office Depot, 330 NLRB 640 
(2000), in which the Board reversed the judge’s finding 
that the respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) by telling em-
ployees that “we wouldn’t be able to communicate with 
management in the same way that we are right now

26  And not simply to be present: as Judge Learned Hand, writing for 
the majority in Douds v. Local 1250, 173 F.2d 764, 769 (2d Cir. 1949), 
read the proviso, any agreement arrived at between the employer and 
employees is “subject to [the union’s] power to cancel it,” for in so doing 
the union “acts for [the employees] as their agent,” and the union’s 
“power to represent all within the ‘unit’ is absolute and beyond ques-
tion.”  Id.  Given the union’s ultimate authority, it is not accurate to un-
equivocally assert that an employer can resolve grievances after employ-
ees choose a representative without the intervention of the union, not-
withstanding the proviso’s plain language.  Because this perceived abil-
ity to go around the union is the “benefit” my colleagues refer to, they 
err in finding that such a benefit must continue after the employees 
choose an exclusive representative for the purpose of representing them 
in bargaining and the adjustment of grievances.  

27  My colleague’s characterization of Holy Cross Hospital under-
scores the error of their contention that Tri-Cast “has been broadly ap-
plied to immunize employer statements that, when subjected to normal 
Sec[.] 8(a)(1) scrutiny under Gissel, could have a reasonable tendency to 
coerce employees.”  As noted above, in Holy Cross Hospital, the Board 
carefully distinguished lawful statements that union representation might 
limit direct access to management, which is fully consistent with the ex-
press language of the Sec. 9(a) proviso, from unlawful threats to change 
employees’ terms and conditions of employment.  The Holy Cross Hos-
pital Board’s analysis is consistent with Gissel, yet the majority would 
use some alternate, ill-defined “normal Sec[.] 8(a)(1) scrutiny under Gis-
sel,” to hold the employer liable for its objectively factual predictions 
because the employer theoretically could coerce employees with its 
“might limit” statement.  This is untenable because, as the Board has 
noted in dismissing a Sec. 8(a)(1) threat allegation, “employee conclu-
sions are certainly not to be viewed as employer predictions.”  Michael’s 
Markets, 274 NLRB 826, 826 (1985) (reversing judge’s Sec. 8(a)(1) 
threat findings and “coextensive” objections where employer circulated 
a former employee’s opinion letter against unionization during union 
campaign).  

28  Likewise, in Ben Venue Laboratories, 317 NLRB 900, 900 (1995), 
enfd. 121 F.3d 709 (6th Cir. 1997) (mem.), the employer told employees 

because there would be a representative from the union 
that would be the middle person.”  Id. at 642 (emphasis 
added).  Considering the specific language presented to 
employees, the Board correctly explained that “Section 
9(a) contemplates a change in the manner in which em-
ployer and employee deal with each other, and an employ-
er's reference to this change cannot be characterized as a 
retaliatory threat to deprive employees of their rights.”  Id.  
Similarly, in Stern Produce Co., 368 NLRB No. 31 
(2019), the respondent told its employees “that if they 
chose the Union to represent them, they would no longer 
have direct dealings with the Respondent’s owner and 
would have to wait until the Union negotiated with him.”  
Id., slip op. at 4.  The Board found that the respondent had 
“accurately described the precise effect of unionization, 
conveying that employees would deal with the [r]espond-
ent through the [u]nion rather than directly with the 
[r]espondent’s owner.”  Id.  The accuracy of the statement 
established its lawfulness.  And of course, the Board was 
correct in its assessment—Section 8(a)(5) prohibits direct 
dealing with employees after they have selected an exclu-
sive bargaining representative.28

that “if the Union did get in, that [employees] would not have that open-
door policy that [they] have with the company now ... [employees] would 
lose that because the Union would have to do the negotiation for [them]” 
and that ‘‘there would no longer be an open-door policy.” 317 NLRB at 
900 fn. 7.  The Board went on to describe how the respondent’s current 
practice could not continue and concluded that it would indeed have to 
change were the employees to choose representation.  In Hyatt Regency 
Memphis, 296 NLRB 259, 259 fn. 3, 272 (1989), enfd. in part and re-
manded in part on other grounds 939 F.2d 361 (6th Cir. 1991), the Board 
found a supervisor’s statement to an employee that, “if you come in this 
office, that once the union got in there, that we would have to have a 
witness in there with us,” was a lawful statement about the effects of 
unionization.  And in Koons Ford of Annapolis, 282 NLRB 506, 506 
(1986), enfd. 833 F.2d 310 (4th Cir. 1987) (mem.), cert. denied 485 U.S. 
1021 (1988), the employer told employees that “if the Union got in he 
would not be able to talk directly to the employees as he had been doing 
but would have to go to the Union.”  As with the aforementioned cases, 
the respondent’s statement in Koons did “not constitute a threat but 
‘simply explicat[ed] one of the changes which occur between employers 
and employees when a statutory representative is selected.’”  282 NLRB 
at 506.  My colleagues’ reliance on these cases as wrongly decided under 
Tri-Cast shows how they would find accurate statements about the ef-
fects of unionization to be unlawful—or, more to the point, that state-
ments not repeating NLRA language of my colleagues’ choice will be 
found unlawful.  As with the other cases discussed herein, the Board’s 
findings in these decisions that such statements accurately explicated the 
effects of unionization would preclude findings of unlawful threats under 
Gissel.  

Although I do not pass on every relevant decision over the nearly forty 
years that have passed since the Board issued Tri-Cast, it is fair to say 
that the Board has generally distinguished objectively fact-based predic-
tions about the changed employee-employer relationship from unlawful 
threats. Again, in light of the extent to which the Board has relied on the 
facts of each particular case, my colleagues err by asserting that the “ab-
sence of threat” rationale in Tri-Cast established any per se rule for de-
termining these cases.  
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Other cases my colleagues discuss in their decision sug-
gest that the breadth of the changes they would make in a 
future appropriate case are far broader than they have 
made clear.  Their discussion of Hendrickson USA, LLC, 
366 NLRB No. 7, slip op. at 1 fn. 2 (2018), enf. denied on 
other grounds 932 F.3d 465 (6th Cir. 2019), for instance, 
suggests that employers’ negative statements about pre-
dictable effects of unionization should almost always be 
found unlawful.  In that decision, the Board dismissed an 
allegation that the employer unlawfully “told employees 
that signing union authorization cards or electing the un-
ion would negatively impact their ability to individually 
represent themselves.”  Id.  The Hendrickson USA Board, 
with two members (including then-Member McFerran) 
not passing on whether Tri-Cast was correctly decided, 
adopted the judge’s application of Tri-Cast to find that the 
respondent had not threatened employees with the loss of 
any benefit.  366 NLRB No. 7, slip op. at 1 fn. 2, 6–7.  My 
colleagues' current position that the language in Hendrick-
son USA was threatening indicates that, in their view, em-
ployers’ negative predictions about unionization should 
almost always be considered unlawful.  Not only does this 
create the exact type of per se rule that they allege Tri-
Cast created, but it entirely ignores employer speech 
rights under Section 8(c) and congressional intent to en-
courage “robust [] and wide-open debate in labor dis-
putes,” as the Court described in Letter Carriers, above.29     

Cases like the above are illustrative of decisions apply-
ing the “absence of threat” rationale in Tri-Cast that affirm 
the right of an employer to state that, if employees select 
a bargaining representative, they will indeed have an ex-
clusive representative in their dealings with the employer, 
and that will necessarily change the way employers and 
employees deal with each other.  As noted above, this is 
of course what the employees are seeking when they select 
a representative.  And while the majority claims to accept 
Tri-Cast’s general principle that statements about that 

29  As I note above, and contrary to my colleagues’ assertion, today’s 
decision cannot be reconciled with Eagle Comtronics, Inc., 263 NLRB 
515.  The Board there held that an employer did not violate the Act by 
telling employees that economic strikers “could be replaced with appli-
cations on file” without also advising them of their reinstatement rights.  
Id. at 515.  The Board explained that “unless the statement may be fairly 
understood as a threat of reprisal against employees or is explicitly cou-
pled with such threats, it is protected by Sec[.] 8(c) of the Act. . . .  Such 
a statement, simply describing an employer's legal prerogative … is en-
tirely consistent with the law.  Respondent was not required to delineate 
more specific rights.” Id. at 515–516.  My colleagues are stuck with a 
contradiction: they note that the employer’s statement that it could re-
place striking employees without acknowledging their statutory rights is 
lawful, but that a statement apprising employees that if they unionize 
they will not be able to deal with the employer as they have in the past is 
unlawful.  I see no legally coherent rationale for my colleagues’ distinc-
tion.  Eagle Comtronics, consistent with Gissel and Sec. 8(c), affirms 
that an employer may advise employees of actions it may take without 

change are lawful, they simultaneously, and inconsist-
ently, criticize these cases.  In asserting, in dicta, that Tri-
Cast should be overruled based on their view that the de-
cision “inhibits, rather than promotes, employees’ free-
dom to exercise the organizational rights guaranteed by 
Section 7 of the Act,” my colleagues ignore the fact that 
unionization is about selecting an exclusive representa-
tive; that except in very limited circumstances, the repre-
sented employee does lose the ability to be their own rep-
resentative in matters related to their terms and conditions 
of employment; and that an employer’s previously un-
checked authority will indeed be checked by the selection 
of the union. So long as an employer’s statements are 
predicated on the fact that the employees will from now 
on have an exclusive representative when dealing with the 
employer, the statement that the employee-employer rela-
tionship will change and that the employer could no longer 
deal with employees or resolve their grievances in ways it 
could do in the past does not indicate a threat of retaliatory 
action by the employer to take away a “benefit” that the 
employer is not obligated to provide in the first place.  
Such changes may not be welcomed by the employer 
whose authority will be diluted by a union, but, again, the 
fact that the employer describes such changes in the neg-
ative does not transform them into threats.  

Further, my colleagues’ criticisms of Tri-Cast and the 
above cases reveal a fundamental flaw in their analysis:  
Although my colleagues indicate that they would apply a 
case-by-case Gissel analysis to cases presenting the ques-
tion of whether such statements violate Section 8(a)(1) go-
ing forward, it is clear to me then that, under Gissel, the 
cases applying the “absence of threat” rationale set forth 
in Tri-Cast would have turned out the same.  Under either 
standard, accurate predictions about the effects of unioni-
zation are not unlawful threats.  Many of the cases dis-
cussed above, and on which my colleagues rely in arguing 
that the “absence of threat” rationale in Tri-Cast should be 

apprising them of their rights so long as it does not threaten to retaliate 
against them for protected activity.  With today’s decision, my col-
leagues contend that an employer’s failure to apprise employees of their 
preferred interpretation of the Sec. 9(a) proviso is itself a threat to take 
away certain so-called protections.  Specifically, they assert that state-
ments found lawful in the past should be deemed threatening going for-
ward because they failed to include an explanation of the 9(a) proviso.  
But explaining employee rights is precisely the burden the Board deter-
mined should not be put on employers in Eagle Comtronics.  Contrary to 
my colleagues’ assertion, for all relevant purposes the two standards are 
substantively identical in their particular contexts.  Or they would be if 
the proviso to Sec. 9(a) actually provided the benefit my colleagues claim 
that it does by permitting the employer to adjust dissident employees’ 
grievances without “intervention” by the bargaining representative.  As 
I note below, the proviso provides no such practical assurance or benefit, 
at least not without exposing the employer to unfair labor practice 
charges or a formal grievance by the union if the union does not join in 
the adjustment.  
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overturned, involve just that: statements that the Board ei-
ther expressly or implicitly found to have been accurate 
predictions of the effects of unionization.  For that reason, 
I believe that my colleagues are not simply attacking the 
“absence of threat” rationale in Tri-Cast, but are question-
ing the very bases for distinguishing objective, fact-based 
predictions from unlawful threats.  

3.  My colleagues misstate the significance of the proviso to 
Section 9(a) in determining whether an employer’s prediction 

about unionization is an unlawful threat.   

My colleagues’ near-complete reliance on the proviso 
to Section 9(a) is a red herring:  As explained above, the 
employer’s statement in Tri-Cast did not contravene the 
proviso.  Further, the proviso neither establishes a substan-
tive right for represented employees to have their griev-
ances heard by their employer30 nor establishes a “benefit” 
of permitting grievance adjustments affecting employ-
ment terms without providing the exclusive bargaining 
representative notice and opportunity to bargain.    

I recognize that, in my colleagues’ view, an employer 
who tells employees that it will no longer handle any 
grievances whatsoever upon their selection of an exclu-
sive bargaining representative does not account for the 
narrowly circumscribed path opened for an employer by 
the proviso.  An employer can, under some circumstances, 
handle grievances of its represented employees if it so 
chooses.  But because the employer is not obligated to do 
so, my colleagues’ description of the proviso as establish-
ing a “clear statutory protection[]” for employees is 
simply wrong.  Accordingly, neither Tri-Cast itself nor the 
decisions discussed above involved statements contrary to 
the proviso. 

More broadly, however, an employer does not categor-
ically threaten employees when it misstates its own ability 
to unilaterally handle requests or grievances by failing to 
expressly account for the proviso, subject to the em-
ployer’s willingness to hear a represented employee’s 
grievance.31  First, the Section 9(a) proviso does not de-
scribe a right.  In the words of the Second Circuit: 

Despite Congress' use of the word ‘right’, which seems 
to import an indefeasible right mirrored in a duty on the 
part of the employer, we are convinced that the proviso 

30  See Emporium Capwell Co., 420 U.S. at 61.
31  My colleagues’ repeated reference to Tri-Cast as a “categorial” rule 

is nothing more than an acknowledgment that Tri-Cast established a 
clear and predictable standard that has served parties to a union election 
well.  Further, as noted above, the majority is simply attempting to re-
place what they criticize as one “categorical rule” with another.  My col-
leagues also note that I do not cite any cases in which Tri-Cast was ap-
plied to find an unfair labor practice.  But my colleagues’ quip is irrele-
vant.  What is relevant here is my colleagues’ inability to cite any prece-
dent to support their attempt to overrule an objections case in an unfair-
labor practice proceeding, or vice versa.  Instead, they baldly assert that 

was designed merely to confer upon the employee the 
privilege to approach his employer on personal griev-
ances when his union reacts with hostility or apathy.  
Prior to the adoption of this proviso in section 9(a), the 
employer had cause to fear that his processing of an in-
dividual’s grievance without consulting the bargaining 
representative would be an unfair labor practice; section 
9(a) made the union the exclusive representative of the 
employees in the bargaining unit, and section 8(a)(5) 
made a refusal to bargain with the exclusive representa-
tive an unfair labor practice. The proviso was apparently 
designed to safeguard from charges of violation of the 
act the employer who voluntarily processed employee 
grievances at the behest of the individual employee, and 
to reduce what many had deemed the unlimited power 
of the union to control the processing of grievances.32

Second, Gissel, which my colleagues would apply in-
stead of Tri-Cast, does not require an employer to display 
a precise, encyclopedic knowledge of Board law such as a 
seasoned NLRB attorney might have.  And the Board de-
cision in Eagle Comtronics expressly affirms that an em-
ployer is not obligated to tell its employees of their rights 
under the Act.  By implicitly requiring an employer to 
have and share such precise knowledge before it addresses 
its employees, my colleagues flatly contravene Gissel and 
Eagle Comtronics and turn the robust sharing of views and 
opinions about unionization that Congress envisioned on 
its head.  

Moreover, my colleagues err by suggesting that em-
ployers may rely on the Section 9(a) proviso when adjust-
ing represented employees’ grievances without interven-
tion of their exclusive bargaining representative.  They 
take the view that an employer can still adjust represented 
employees’ grievances without intervention of their un-
ion, subject to the proviso’s requirements, and therefore 
an employer who says that it cannot do so threatens to take 
away a “benefit.”  This claim is deeply flawed for several 
reasons: first, the proviso as written is inconsistent with 
requirements of Section 9(a) and 8(a)(5) affirming the role 
of the exclusive bargaining representative; and specifi-
cally, despite the proviso, the union will invariably have 
the opportunity to intervene in the adjustment of 

the Board’s reliance by analogy on objections case principles in unfair 
labor practice cases “obviously” permits them to overrule the objections 
decision in an unfair labor practice proceeding.  Their view is neither 
obvious nor supported by our precedent. 

32 Black-Clawson Co., Paper Machine Division v. Int'l Ass'n of Ma-
chinists Lodge 355, Dist. 137, 313 F.2d 179, 185–186 (2d Cir. 1962) (af-
firming that “section 9(a) does not confer upon an individual grievant the 
power, enforceable in a court of law, to compel the employer to arbitrate 
his grievance”) (cited with approval in Emporium Capwell Co., 420 U.S. 
at 61).     
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grievances and cannot be excluded from the process as-
suming that the adjustment involves the grievant’s em-
ployment terms.  In this respect the proviso does not pro-
vide the vaunted benefit as my colleagues perceive it.33

To begin, the proviso’s only constraints on the employer 
who adjusts represented employees’ grievances directly 
and “without the intervention of the bargaining repre-
sentative” is that “the adjustment is not inconsistent with 
the terms of a collective-bargaining contract” and that “the 
bargaining representative has been given opportunity to be 
present.”  Under this language, the employer need not give 
the bargaining representative notice and opportunity to 
bargain, notwithstanding whether the grievance or com-
plaint affects mandatory subjects of bargaining.34  The 
precise “benefit” for employees, as my colleagues see it, 
is that the employer may preclude union intervention and 
adjust the grievance directly with the employee or em-
ployees. This would be true even if the employer set 
wildly new and different employment terms for an em-
ployee or a group of employees despite union objections 
and without offering an opportunity to bargain.  That is 
what the proviso suggests.  My colleagues’ implication 
that an employer may rely on it is reckless; I'm sure that 
they would agree that an employer who enters into a bilat-
eral agreement with employees and changes certain terms 
and conditions of employment prior to execution of a col-
lective-bargaining agreement and without giving the un-
ion notice and opportunity to bargain violates Section 
8(a)(5).  E.g., NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 747 (1962) 
(holding that an “employer may not unilaterally change 
the terms and conditions of employment of represented 
employees without providing their representative with 
prior notice and an opportunity to bargain over such 
changes.”).  According to my colleagues, however, this 
ability to adjust employee grievances and presumably 
change a grievant’s terms and conditions of employment 
“without the intervention” of the union is the “benefit” that 

33  Further, to my knowledge, the proviso has not been applied to 
shield employers from liability for preventing the exclusive bargaining 
representative from “intervening” in the adjustment of grievances or not 
providing notice and opportunity to bargain.

34 In this respect, see Archibald Cox, Some Aspects of the Labor Man-
agement Relations Act, 1947, 61 Harv. L. Rev. 274, 302 (1948), noting 
the proviso’s ambiguity about, inter alia, the role of the exclusive bar-
gaining representative in adjusting grievances.

35  See Cox, 61 Harv. L. Rev. at 302, noting that, despite the proviso’s 
ambiguity about the role of the exclusive bargaining representative, con-
flicts over adjustments will likely have to be resolved “by permitting the 
union to protest any adjustment . . . and to appeal it through the grievance 
machinery to arbitration despite the mutual agreement of the individual 
and the employer.” Id.  Hardly a shield for the employer hearing griev-
ances without the intervention of the union, nor a “benefit” for employ-
ees who believe their grievances can be adjusted without the union only 
to find that their so-called “benefit” keeps them in limbo for the pen-
dency of litigation or a formal grievance procedure. 

an employer “threatens” to take away when it tells em-
ployees that it will not continue to resolve complaints or 
grievances with them directly.  Given Sections 9(a) and 
8(a)(5) (and the opinion in Douds, 173 F.2d at 769), it is 
not accurate to claim that an employer retains its prior 
ability to resolve grievances affecting employment terms 
directly with represented employees and be shielded from 
liability by the Section 9(a) proviso.  Further, because any 
adjustment to mandatory bargaining subjects must require 
the opportunity to bargain, not merely to be present, the 
proviso’s “benefit” of adjusting complaints or grievances 
without union intervention is, for all practical purposes, 
nonexistent.   

Further, nothing in the proviso prevents a union from 
filing Board charges or pursuing grievances over changes 
to an employee’s employment terms as a result of resolv-
ing a complaint or grievance without union agreement.  In 
this respect, the first proviso to Section 9(a) says that the 
employer may adjust grievances with employees “as long 
as the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of a 
collective-bargaining contract.”  A tall order, largely un-
realistic in practice, that gives no protection to an em-
ployer unless the employer accedes to the union’s inter-
pretation of the contract and, if applicable, the require-
ments of a contractual grievance procedure.  In this re-
spect, Section 9(a) does not indicate how disputes about 
the consistency of the adjustment with the collective-bar-
gaining agreement is to be resolved.35  But as my col-
leagues are well aware, disputes over contract interpreta-
tion are among the most common to come before the 
Board.  An employer relying on the proviso to adjust 
grievances affecting employment terms without obtaining 
union agreement with the adjustment simply invites Sec-
tion 8(a)(5) charges or grievances filed by the union over 
a lack of opportunity to bargain, contract interpretation 
with regard to the adjustment, and/or adherence to a con-
tractual grievance process.  For these reasons, it is not true 

More potential confusion about the proviso’s so-called “benefit” is 
what it actually covers and what “group” of employees may bring griev-
ances.  See West Texas Utilities Co. v. NLRB, 206 F.2d 442, 446-448 
(D.C. Cir. 1953) (noting disagreement with the Second Circuit’s inter-
pretation of the proviso over the distinction between grievances and other 
complaints under the Act and the definition of “a group of employees” 
as used in the proviso).   

Moreover, if there is a collective-bargaining agreement, and assuming 
a grievance procedure is in place, the 9(a) proviso will likely be applica-
ble only to the period before a contract is reached and at a time when any 
reliance on it is unlikely to provide an employer with statutory protection 
if it bilaterally resolves, with employees, disputes about their employ-
ment terms without permitting the union notice and opportunity to bar-
gain.  See Katz, supra.  That would nullify my colleagues’ “benefit” of 
proceeding without the union as the employer would have done in the 
past.  Further, the lack of cases actually applying the proviso to shield 
employers from unfair labor practice liability suggests its obsolescence 
in any practical sense.
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that the proviso gives the employer a green light to resolve 
grievances of its represented employees “without the in-
tervention” of their exclusive bargaining representative.  
When the employer says it will not or cannot hear griev-
ances or resolve complaints directly once employees vote 
in the union, it is not the employer who would take away 
the “benefit” of dealing with their employer without the 
union, but the operation of the Act.   

As it is neither unlawful nor objectionable for an em-
ployer to refuse to hear employee grievances despite the 
proviso, e.g., Emporium Capwell, it follows that it is nei-
ther unlawful nor objectionable for an employer to say so, 
e.g., Gissel.  And under, e.g., Midland and Eagle 
Comtronics, it is neither objectionable nor unlawful for an 
employer to misstate the law or my colleague’s misper-
ceptions about it to employees—even if my colleagues 
were correct about the employer’s options or obligations, 
which they are not.   

As should be clear from the above, an employer who is 
familiar with the body of Board law applying Section 
8(a)(5) and understands that a union is the exclusive rep-
resentative of its employees would have good reason to 
believe, based on the objective, fact-based understanding 
of Board decisions, that it could not unilaterally resolve 
grievances without the participation of the exclusive bar-
gaining representative, as doing so may amount to direct 
dealing or effect unilateral changes to terms and condi-
tions of employment and subject an employer to 8(a)(5) 
liability notwithstanding my colleagues’ interpretation of 
the proviso.  Needless to say, the boundary between lawful 
resolution of grievances and unlawful Section 8(a)(5) con-
duct is not precise in the proviso or in the cases addressing 
it and would not be clear even to the reasonably informed 
employer who actually knew that the proviso existed.  
Therefore, to avoid potential liability, an employer may 
very reasonably refuse to put its faith in the proviso.  In 
light of the above, my colleagues’ position that an em-
ployer’s failure to account for the proviso when explaining 
changes resulting from unionization is a threat to strip em-
ployees of a “benefit” is wholly contrary to Gissel, Section 
8(c), and Eagle Comtronics, and puts far too heavy a bur-
den on the robust exchange of opinions Congress sought 
the Act to encourage.                 

CONCLUSION

This case would make Shakespeare proud.  It is truly a 
decision full of sound and fury that signifies nothing.  My 
colleagues assert that they are overruling Tri-Cast, but 
they are doing no such thing.  In order to overrule that 
case, my colleagues will need to decide a case that pre-
sents the question of whether the Board, in Tri-Cast, cor-
rectly found that the statement at issue in that case 

constituted objectionable conduct.  That question is un-
questionably not at issue in this case.  

Arguably, my colleagues could be attempting to over-
rule past cases in which the Board applied the reasoning 
in Tri-Cast in determining whether statements violated 
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act, but there is no reason whatso-
ever to reach that issue either.  Because my colleagues are 
finding the statement at issue in the instant case to be law-
ful, they are not changing the law as an "alternate theory" 
for their conclusion.  Nor are they asserting that, were they 
to apply their new standard here, the statements at issue in 
this case would be found unlawful.  Rather, they are stat-
ing that they are overruling extant precedent on a prospec-
tive basis, even though they fail to establish that applica-
tion of their new standard would have any effect, let alone 
create a manifest injustice, if applied to the case actually 
before us.  This has never been, and should never be, how 
the Board operates when exercising its quasi-judicial 
function.  Rather, the Board is tasked with deciding cases 
based on the facts before us.  Should my colleagues wish 
to change the law in the absence of an appropriate case, 
they are required to follow the procedures set forth in the 
Administrative Procedure Act.    

Finally, even if my colleagues were able to reach and 
overrule the “absence of threat” Tri-Cast rationale as ap-
plied to unfair labor practice cases, I have explained in 
dicta why that analysis appropriately distinguishes nonco-
ercive statements about some of the effects of unionization 
from threats.  Overruling Tri-Cast in a future appropriate 
case would therefore be inconsistent with Section 8(c) and 
would contravene the bedrock decisions in Gissel, Mid-
land, and Eagle Comtronics.  Moreover, their decision is 
premised on their misunderstanding of the significance of 
the proviso to Section 9(a), so that the loss of the “right” 
or “benefit” to which they refer is, simply put, neither a 
right nor a meaningful “benefit” in the sense that they as-
sert.  

As discussed above, I dissent from my colleagues' find-
ings that certain conduct currently before us violated Sec-
tion 8(a)(1).  I further dissent, for the reasons set forth 
above, to their attempt both to use a case not presenting 
the relevant issues to overrule precedent and to create new 
law through dicta without actually determining whether 
that new law would affect the outcome of the case cur-
rently before us.  Because my colleagues cannot overrule 
Tri-Cast, a representation case, in the unfair labor practice 
case before us, it is clear to me that that case remains good 
law.  
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Dated, Washington, D.C.  November 8, 2024

______________________________________
Marvin E. Kaplan,                              Member

                  NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES

POSTED BY ORDER OF THE

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we vi-
olated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and 
obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on your 

behalf
Act together with other employees for your bene-

fit and protection
Choose not to engage in any of these protected ac-

tivities.

WE WILL NOT threaten you that existing benefits will be 
reduced if you select union representation.

WE WILL NOT threaten you that you will lose existing 
benefits if you select union representation.

WE WILL NOT threaten you that selecting union repre-
sentation would be futile.

WE WILL NOT threaten you that, if you select union rep-
resentation, we will prioritize nonunion stores and union-
represented stores will not receive added benefits.

WE WILL NOT threaten you that, if you select union rep-
resentation, you would have to be union members and that, 
if there were a strike, you would have to participate in the 
strike.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere 
with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights 
listed above.

WE WILL direct our supervisor Elijah De La Vega to de-
lete the February 14, 2022 Facebook posts that threaten 
you with the reduction or loss of existing benefits, and WE 

WILL take appropriate steps to ensure De La Vega com-
plies with this directive.

1 All dates are in 2022 unless otherwise noted.

SIREN RETAIL CORP. D/B/A STARBUCKS

The Board’s decision can be found at 
https://www.nlrb.gov/case/ 19-CA-290905 or by using the 
QR code below.  Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of 
the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor 
Relations Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 
20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940

Sarah M. McBride, Esq., Alice J. Garfield, Esq., and Sarah K. 
Burke, Esq., for the General Counsel.

Ben Berger, Esq. and Gabe Frumkin, Esq. (Barnard Iglitzin & 
Lavitt, LLP), for the Charging Party.

Renea I. Saade, Esq., Noah J. Garber, Esq., and Jeffrey E. 
Dilger, Esq. (Littler Mendelson PC), for the Respondent.

DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

JOHN T. GIANNOPOULOS, Administrative Law Judge.  This 
case was tried before me on September 14, 15, and 16, 2022, in 
Seattle, Washington.1  Based upon a charge filed by Workers 
United, affiliated with the Service Employees International Un-
ion (Union or Workers United), on May 18, a complaint and No-
tice of Hearing (complaint) issued alleging that Siren Retail 
Corp. d/b/a Starbucks (Siren Retail or Respondent) violated Sec-
tion 8(a)(1) of the National Labor Relations Act (the Act) by 
making various threats to employees during a union election 
drive, and by holding captive audience meetings with employees 
to discourage union activity.  Respondent denies the allegations. 

Based upon the entire record, including my observation of wit-
ness demeanor, and after considering the briefs filed by the Gen-
eral Counsel, the Union, and Respondent, I make the following 
findings of fact and conclusions of law.2

I. JURISDICTION AND LABOR ORGANIZATION

Siren Retail is a corporation organized under the laws of the 
State of Washington, and is a subsidiary of Starbucks 

2 Testimony contrary to my findings has been specifically considered 
and discredited.  Unless otherwise noted, witness demeanor was consid-
ered in making all credibility resolutions.
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Corporation.3  (Tr. 360)4  Respondent operates destination estab-
lishments in a limited number of large metropolitan areas known 
as the Starbucks Reserve Roastery, where the company roasts 
coffee and sells food and beverages to the public including cof-
fee, tea, alcoholic drinks, pastries, pizzas, and related items and 
merchandise.  Siren Retail maintains one such store in Seattle, 
Washington, located at 1124 E. Pike Street (Seattle Roastery or 
Roastery).  At the Seattle Roastery, Respondent derives gross 
revenues in excess of $500,000 and purchases and receives 
goods or services exceeding $50,000 directly from points located 
outside the State of Washington.  Respondent admits, and I find, 
that it is an employer engaged in commerce within the meaning 
of Sections 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.  Respondent also admits, 
and I find, that the Union is a labor organization within the mean-
ing of Section 2(5) of the Act.  Accordingly, I find that this dis-
pute affects commerce and the National Labor Relations Board 
(NLRB or the Board) has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 10(a) 
of the Act.  Siren Retail Corp., 372 NLRB No. 10 (2022). 

II. FACTS

A. Seattle’s Starbucks Reserve Roastery

The Seattle Roastery is located in the Capitol Hill neighbor-
hood of the city.  Unlike regular Starbucks coffee shops, referred 
to as “core” stores, the Roastery is situated in a much larger 
building, and contains a roasting/manufacturing plant within the 
facility where patrons can watch as Respondent roasts and pack-
ages coffee to be sold throughout the country.  The Roastery also 
employs many more workers than a regular Starbucks coffee 
shop.  On any given day, up to 40 retail employees can be found 
working the various sales counters and bars which the Roastery 
uses to provide a distinctive retail experiences for patrons.  (Tr. 
42–48)  

The Seattle Roastery has two floors with open seating.  The 
centerpiece of the facility, on the main floor, is a large copper 
cask that is used as part of the roasting/manufacturing process.  
A glass barrier separates the manufacturing area from the rest of 
the facility.  The main bar is located on the first floor near the 
entrance.  Here, patrons can order coffee drinks to enjoy in the 
store, or to take home, an experience that is similar to a tradi-
tional Starbucks coffee shop.  To the right of the entrance is the 
“mixology bar” where customers can enjoy specialty cocktails 
crafted using alcohol mixed with Starbucks coffee and tea.  Just 
to the right of the mixology bar is the “Princi” bakery which sells 
oven baked pastries, pizzas, and related items.  The first floor 

3 See https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/ed-
gar/data/829224/000082922422000058/sbux-20221002.htm (including 
Exhibit 21) (Starbucks Corporation Form 10-K, with exhibits, filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on November 18, 2022, 
for the fiscal year ending October 2, 2022).  For purposes of background, 
I take administrative notice of the 10-K filed by Starbucks with the Se-
curities and Exchange Commission.  Pacific Greyhound Lines, 4 NLRB 
520, 522 fn. 2 (1937) (Board takes judicial notice of facts stated in com-
pany’s annual report filed with the Security and Exchange Commission); 
Fed. R. Evid. 201(b).  All filings referenced herein were last accessed on 
January 30, 2023. See also Tr. 360.

4 Transcript citations are denoted by “Tr.” with the appropriate page 
number.  Citations to the General Counsel, Respondent, and Joint exhib-
its are denoted by “GC,” “R,” and “J” respectively.  Transcript and 

also contains a “lifestyle area,” where shoppers can buy various 
coffee related merchandise, clothing, and items from local area 
artists.  (Tr. 44–46)  

Going downstairs Roastery customers will find the “experi-
ence bar,” a craft coffee area where baristas make drinks with 
showmanship using different specialty brew methods.  Also 
downstairs is the “library,” which resembles a conference room 
with books, chairs, and a large table that seats between 20 to 25 
people.  The library has sliding doors made of wood and glass 
that allows the area to be closed off from customers for employee 
meetings when needed.  (Tr. 44–45, 74–75, 146–148)

B. Retail employees at the Seattle Roastery

Just over 100 retail employees work at the Seattle Roastery.  
Just like other Starbucks retail employees, workers at the 
Roastery are referred to as “partners.”  Starbucks Coffee Co., 354 
NLRB 876, 881 (2009) (“Starbucks stores are staffed by employ-
ees known as ‘partners.’”).  And, Roastery employees enjoy sim-
ilar benefits and work arrangements available to all Starbucks 
employees, including free tuition to attend university online 
through a program between Arizona State University (ASU) and 
Starbucks, known as the “Starbucks College Achievement Plan.”  
According to Starbucks, under this program, which was started 
in 2014, eligible partners in the United States can complete their 
college education for free; Starbucks provides them with 100% 
upfront tuition coverage for a first-time bachelor’s degree 
through ASU’s online program.  Starbucks estimates that, as of 
January 2022, more than 20,000 partners throughout the country 
were taking online classes at ASU through the Starbucks College 
Achievement Plan, and more than 7,500 partners will have grad-
uated through this program.5 (Tr. 36, 51, 62) 

Roastery employees can also apply to participate in a program 
which allows them to work in other areas of the Starbucks or-
ganization, known as time or term limited assignments (TLAs).  
TLAs were described as “essentially a paid internship within 
Starbucks,” where employees can “intern” in various job posi-
tions to get work experience in other areas of the overall com-
pany.  (Tr. 61)  For example, retail partners at the Roastery have 
worked under a TLA on the manufacturing side of the facility, 
which is owned by a different corporate subsidiary named Star-
bucks Manufacturing.  TLAs ranges in duration from 3 to 6 
months, and they can sometimes turn into a permanent position 
at the new location/job.  Otherwise, employees go back to their 
old jobs, which remain open during this time.  Both TLAs and 
the free ASU online university tuition were considered by 

exhibit citations are intended as an aid only.  Factual findings are based 
upon the entire record and may include parts of the record that are not 
specifically cited.

5 See https://www.sec.gov/Archives/ed-
gar/data/829224/000120677422000270/sbux3974881-def14a.htm (Star-
bucks Corporation 2022 Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on January 
28, 2022).  Roastery employees also participate in a Starbucks employee 
equity plan known as “Bean Stock.”  Id.  (See also Tr. 161)  For back-
ground, I take administrative notice of the Starbucks 2022 Proxy State-
ment, which contains public statements made by the company regarding 
the Starbucks College Achievement Plan and the Bean Stock employee 
equity plan.  Pacific Greyhound Lines, 4 NLRB at 522 fn. 2.; Fed. R. 
Evid. 201(b).
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Roastery employees to be important benefits.  (Tr. 61–63, 104, 
357–358) 

During the relevant time period, Elijah De La Vega (De La 
Vega) and Tam Marpoe (Marpoe) were the associate managers 
at the Seattle Roastery.  They reported to the store operations 
managers, which included Scott Underriter (Underriter) and 
Heather Kaufman (Kaufman).6  Mary Clare Barth (Barth) was 
Respondent’s managing director responsible for overseeing all 
of the retail operations at the Seattle Roastery, including the part-
ners and their various supervisors and managers.  The supervi-
sory/agency status of De Le Vega, Marpoe, Underriter, and 
Barth, while they were working in their various capacities at the 
Roastery, are not in dispute.  As discussed later, Respondent dis-
putes whether De La Vega was acting as Respondent’s supervi-
sor/agent at the time he made various Facebook posts.  (Tr. 37, 
50, 128–131, 135, 143, 157, 170, 234–235, 248, 351–352; GC 
1(i) ¶4; J. 1)

C. Seattle Roastery Reserve retail employees unionize

On February 14, Respondent received a letter signed by 
Roastery partners, informing the company of their intentions to 
form a union.  The letter, which is on Starbucks Workers United 
letterhead, is signed by fifteen employees and says the other 
baristas supporting the union drive wished to remain anonymous.  
That same day the Union filed a petition to represent a unit of the 
approximately 100 baristas, bakers, mixologists, and operation 
leads working at the Seattle Roastery.  The parties contested 
whether the election should occur by mail-ballot, or if a manual 
election was appropriate; the Union wanted a mail-ballot elec-
tion due to the state of Covid-19 pandemic and Respondent 
sought a manual election.  The parties entered into a stipulated 
record and submitted written position statements to the Regional 
Director of NLRB Region 19 (Regional Director).  On March 17, 
the Regional Director issued a Decision and Direction of Elec-
tion finding that a mail-ballot election was appropriate.7  (R. 3; 
Tr. 360–361; J. 1)

The mail-ballot election was held between March 31 and April 
21.  On April 21 the ballots were opened and counted and a Tally 
of Ballots issued showing that a majority of employees had voted 
to unionize.  Respondent filed objections to the election and on 
May 17, the Regional Director issued a decision overruling the 
objections and certifying the Union as the exclusive collective-
bargaining representative of Respondent’s employees in the fol-
lowing unit: 

Included: All full-time and regular part-time baristas, operation 
leads, bakers, and mixologists employed by the Employer at its 
Reserve Roastery store located at 1124 Pike Street, Seattle, 

6 The parties stipulated that De La Vega and Marpoe had the title of 
“Assistant Store Manager,” that Kaufman’s title was “Store Manager,” 
and that Barth was the “Managing Director.”  (J. 1)  At various times 
during the hearing, De La Vega and/or Marpoe were also referred to as 
being an “AM” or “Associate Manager” (37, 49–53, 99, 129, 143, 156, 
328, 359, 376), Kaufman and Underriter were referred to as being an 
“OM” or “Operations Manager,” (74, 163, 170, 248), and Barth was re-
ferred to at times as the “DM” or “District Manager”.  (74, 148, 163)  

7 I take administrative notice of the Regional Director’s March 17 
Decision and Direction of Election in Siren Retail Corp., d/b/a Star-
bucks, 19–RC–290608.  See Lord Jim’s, 264 NLRB 1098, 1098 fn. 1 

Washington.

Excluded: Office clericals, managers, and guards and supervi-
sors as defined in the Act.

In order to test the propriety of the Regional Director’s certifica-
tion, Respondent refused to recognize and bargain with the Un-
ion.  On November 30, the Board issued its ruling, affirming the 
certification and finding that Respondent has been refusing to 
bargain with the Union in violation of Section 8(a)(5) of the Act.  
See Siren Retail Corp., 372 NLRB No. 10 (2022).   

D. Respondent holds meetings with Seattle Roastery employees 
about the union drive

After the petition was filed, Respondent told employees there 
would be specific times that partners could “sit down and get the 
facts” and talk about the “process.” (Tr. 141–142)  Thereafter, 
Respondent held a series of meetings with workers regarding the 
union.  Throughout the union drive, Respondent maintained the 
position that it preferred to have a direct relationship with em-
ployees, without a union in place at the Roastery.  (Tr. 70, 374) 

During a four-week period between the filing of the petition 
and the start of the mail ballot election, Respondent held multiple 
meetings per week with employees about the union drive.  It ap-
pears that each employee attended at least three such meetings 
and they occurred in groups of about 10 to 20 workers.  Barth 
participated in 90% of these employee meetings, which occurred 
during worktime; partners were paid while they attended the 
meetings.  (Tr. 36, 70, 89, 84, 74, 142, 147–148, 247, 353–354)  

For partners, these meetings appeared on their work schedules 
as a block of time set aside for either a Siren Retail “promo set” 
or “training” session.  A promo set is a common phrase used at 
Starbucks and generally involves meetings where participants to 
go over the launch of a new item or holiday offerings.  For ex-
ample, over the Christmas period the company has promo set 
meetings to review menu boards for the holidays.  Or, the 
Roastery has promo set meetings to review and sample with em-
ployees new drinks or merchandise that is being offered.  Train-
ing meetings are generally just another term used for a promo set 
meeting and the two terms were largely used interchangeably.  
(Tr. 71–72, 84, 113, 319–324; GC 11, 12)  

Employees understood that they were required to attend what-
ever appeared on their work schedules, including meetings, and 
failing to show up for something on your schedule could poten-
tially subject a partner to discipline.  During one of the March 
meetings about the union drive, a partner asked whether the 
meetings were mandatory, and Kaufman answered “Yeah . . . We 
do have an obligation.”8  (GC 5(b) 40:24–40:46) (GC 9, p. 30).  

(1982) (The Board may take judicial notice of its own files); J. S. Aber-
crombie Co., 83 NLRB 524, 524-525, (1949) (Board takes judicial notice 
of representation proceeding, noting it “is the practice of the Board to 
take judicial notice of its own records and proceedings.”).

8 Recordings of two different meetings were introduced into evidence  
(GC 5(a), 5(b))  Transcripts of these recordings, commissioned by the 
government, were also accepted into evidence as an aid only.  (GC 7, 9, 
10)  I have carefully listed to each recording.  All quotations showing the 
words used in the various meetings come from the actual recordings 
themselves.  
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After the partner said that some workers did not want to be in the 
meetings, and were unsure if they were mandatory, Kaufman 
clarified her initial statement by saying that, if a meeting is on a 
work schedule more than 10 days in advance, employees are ob-
ligated to attend.  If something has been added to a work sched-
ule within 10 days, technically partners did not need to attend, 
but if they did, Kaufman said they would receive “predictabil-
ity.”  (GC 5(b) 43:00–43:28) (GC 9, p. 31–32)  Kaufman’s clar-
ification appears to be an acknowledgment of an employer’s ob-
ligations, albeit using the wrong number of days, under a City of 
Seattle ordinance titled the “Secure Scheduling Ordinance,” 
which went into effect in 2017.  See SEATTLE, WASH. MUN.
CODE § 14.22.005 (2022).9  This ordinance requires covered em-
ployers, such as Respondent, to post employee work schedules 
at least 14 days in advance and to respect an employee’s right to 
decline to work any hours that were not included on their original 
schedules.  Id. at §§ 14.22.040–14.22.045  And, absent certain 
exceptions, when an employer adds a shift to a schedule, or when 
a shift date or time is changed within this 14 day window, the 
employer is required to pay to the employee as compensation one 
additional hour of pay, at the employee’s scheduled rate of pay.  
Id. at § 14.22.050.  Employees refer to this additional hour of pay 
as “predictability pay.”  (Tr. 83)  (Tr. 72–73, 83–84, 144, 255, 
320)  

For the first employee meeting about the union drive, Re-
spondent offered workers predictability pay.  However, the sec-
ond and third meetings (on March 11 and March 22) were posted 
on employee work schedules three weeks in advance of the meet-
ings.10  Regarding these meetings, even though they appeared on 
employee work schedules as a block of time set aside for a promo 
set or training session, many times partners did not know the ac-
tual topic that was going to be discussed during the meeting until 
just before the meetings actually occurred.  Sometimes employ-
ees attended a promo set meeting one day, involving an actual 
new product launch, and the next day had a promo set meeting 
that, in reality, was a meeting about the union election.  (Tr. 82–
83, 247–249, 318, 321, 323)  

At some of the meetings, Respondent had literature/talking 
points set out on a table that was available for employees to take 
if they wanted. The literature, which was provided to Respond-
ent’s managers during training that was given by the company’s 
legal counsel, contained information about collective bargaining, 
negotiations, strikes, and voting, with citations and links to vari-
ous websites, including the NLRB and the Department of Labor.  
Respondent did not read from the literature during the meetings, 
nor was it passed out to employees.  Partners were simply told 
the information was available to take if they wanted.  (Tr. 362–
367, 387–388; R. 4)  

There was differing testimony as to whether Respondent did, 
or did not, take attendance at these meetings.11  Regardless, the 

9 See also, Kelly M. Lyden, Predictive Scheduling is Trending: Is 
Milwaukee Next?, 22 Marq. Benefits & Soc. Welfare L.R. 111, 115 
(2020) (discussing predictive scheduling ordinances passed by various 
cities, including the Seattle Secure Scheduling Ordinance). 

10 Tr. 82–83, 318.  See also, GC 5(b) 43:46–44:14 (employee noting 
that the March 22 meeting was scheduled in advance and was not subject 
to predictability pay); GC 9, p. 32.  

evidence shows that Respondent monitors the time of Roastery 
employees by having them clock in and out at the start and end 
of every shift and also during breaks.  If employees stayed for a 
meeting that was scheduled during their shift, Respondent’s rec-
ords would show the employee as having been clocked-in during 
that time.  (Tr. 79–82, 354, 369–370) 

1. The March 11 meeting

Respondent held a meeting with employees on March 11 to 
discuss the union organizing drive and petition.  At the time, eve-
ryone was still waiting for a determination regarding the date and 
manner of the union election.  Keanna Jo “K.J.” Lesser (Keanna) 
attended this meeting, which occurred in the Roastery library.12  
Keanna had worked at the Seattle Roastery as a barista since Au-
gust 2021, and previously was a barista at various Starbucks cof-
fee shops in Florida.13  Keanna’s March 11 work schedule shows 
that she was scheduled for a “promo set” meeting from 4:15 p.m. 
to 5:45 p.m. that day.  Employees receive their work schedules 
three weeks in advance of their assigned work dates, and when 
Keanna got her schedule she did not know what would be dis-
cussed during the March 11 promo set meeting.  It turned out to 
be a meeting about the union drive.  This was the second such
meeting that Keanna had attended; she recorded the March 11 
meeting on her iPhone. (Tr. 181, 139–140, 144–146, 181, 321–
322; GC 5(a); GC 7)  

The March 11 meeting Keanna attended included about 20 to 
25 of her coworkers.  Present for Respondent was Barth, Kauf-
man, Underriter, and Marpoe.  Everyone sat around the large ta-
ble in the library.  Keanna placed her iPhone on the table in plain 
view.  The recording of the meeting made by Keanna is just over 
one hour and thirty minutes long.  The General Counsel alleges 
that certain statements made by Respondent’s officials during 
this meeting were unlawful.  (Tr. 147–149, 156–157; GC 5(a))  

a. The relationship with management if workers unionize

The March 11 meeting started with Marpoe telling the gath-
ered employees that she wanted to give them a road map and 
update of where they are in the NLRB election process, infor-
mation and facts about Workers United, an overview of how un-
ions work in general, and of collective bargaining.  Marpoe told 
partners that they were encouraged to do their research.  She di-
rected them to the NLRB’s website, and said there are also other 
links out there for them to understand about unions and that that 
means for them. (GC 5(a) 0:00–0:57; GC 7, p. 2)  (Tr. 156–157)  
Marpoe next told the employees that:

If you want a union to represent you—uh—you want to give 
your right to speak to leadership through a union, you’re going 
to check off ‘yes’ for the election.  If you want to maintain a 
direct relationship with leadership, you’ll check off ‘no.’”  (GC
5(a) 0:58–1:15) (GC 7, p. 2)

11 If employees could not attend their scheduled meeting, they were 
allowed to attend one of the other meetings, as Respondent was holding 
multiple meetings per week during this period.  (Tr. 112–113, 353–354) 

12 Between the time of the union petition/election and the hearing in 
this matter, Keanna got married and changed her last name from Cohen 
to Lesser.  (Tr. 327)  

13 At the time of the hearing, Keanna no longer worked for Respond-
ent, having voluntarily left the company in June 2022.  (Tr. 140) 



DECISIONS OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD32

Marpoe then reminded employees that the vote will be by secret 
ballot, and they should vote for what is best for them, not based 
upon whatever promises that have been made or whether they 
are in a movement.  She also told employees that, because they 
are now in the election process, signed union cards do not mean 
anything and, by law, they can vote ‘yes’ or ‘no’ in the election, 
regardless of whether they had signed a union card. (GC 5(a) 
1:17–1:55) (GC 7, p. 2–3) 

After some discussions about union cards, and the anticipated 
election date, Marpoe told the partners “I think what’s at stake, 
is our culture.”  Marpoe said that she could not stress enough the 
openness, transparency, and connectivity she has had with part-
ners and leadership and believes she can go to her peers and lead-
ers, tell them how she is, what she thinks, and that she will be 
heard.  Marpoe said “that culture, with a union, is not the same.”  
She said that if partners unionized, “a third party comes in, and 
they speak for you.”  (GC 5(a) 3:42–4:19) (GC 7, p. 3–4)  

Marpoe explained that she was in a union once when she 
worked at Macy’s, and remembered a time when she needed 
more hours.  She went to the person who hired her to say that she 
needed more hours, but was told that she needed to talk to her 
union representative.  (GC 5(a) 4:20–4:38) (GC 7, p. 4)  Marpoe 
then said:

That’s it.  I could not have any other conversation with them 
[referring to the person who hired her].  And so that’s—that 
is—a representation of a union is the rules of employment will 
then be grounded in a contract.  And if it’s not in that contract, 
it’s not a conversation in my opinion that’s going to happen 
with leadership. We’ll be bound by the contract. So the union 
will be bound. And Starbucks will be bound.  So I want to be 
clear on that. That a third party comes in and speaks for you. 
And everything will be grounded, from my experience and my 
opinion through the lens of that contract. (GC 5(a) 4:38–5:20) 
(GC 7, p. 4–5) (Tr. 161) 

Marpoe then discussed Workers United, saying that it has about 
85,000 members and that union members pay dues.  She then 
continued on discussing the topic of dues and her experiences at 
Macy’s.  (GC 5(a) 5:20–6:28) (GC 7, p. 5)

b. The collective-bargaining process

After discussing the issues of dues, Marpoe returned to the 
topic of Workers United, saying that it represented American and 
Canadian workers in the textiles, gaming, pharmacy, and laundry 
industries, and that it is a division of a larger union, the Service 
Employees International Union.  She then discussed the vote, 
saying that a vote for the union does not give workers any wages, 
benefits, or hours; it is simply a vote on whether to give the 
Workers United the right to collectively bargain with Starbucks.  
“It’s just, are you willing to give your voice to a third party to 
speak for you, for collective bargaining purposes?  That is the 
vote.”  (GC 5(a) 7:13–7:23) (GC 7, p. 5–6)  Marpoe then dis-
cussed collective bargaining saying:

For collective bargaining, it can, there is no timetable for when 
an agreement may or may not happen. It can take on average a 
year to eighteen months for any kind of agreement to be 
reached. 

Currently the core store in Buffalo, New York, they have been 
3 months into the process and nothing has been reached.  So 
just be mindful of the fact that nothing overnight changes.  And 
with regards to your wages, benefits, or hours, that is what’s 
going to be negotiated in a contract, and everything is on the 
table.  So your benefits, wages, and hours, could go up, could 
stay the same, or you could lose benefits. 

And, also be mindful that, if a contract is ratified, it usually is 
on average in place for three years.  So Starbucks can roll some-
thing out—benefit wise. I remember a couple of years ago, they 
gave us bean stock that paid out in May, just as a, like, hey 
thanks for all your hard work.  Any of those things that aren’t 
in the contract will not be afforded to that, those union mem-
bers.  It has to be in the contract for you to receive it.  So I want 
to be clear on that process, that any promises that are being 
made that your wages, benefits, or hours are going to go up or 
get better, that’s not a guarantee because Starbucks is going to 
come to the table with something and the union is going to 
come to the table with something.  And there will be represen-
tation of course, on both sides, from the Roastery and from 
Starbucks, beyond just the lawyers, but it will be the lawyers 
ultimately coming to an agreement on a contract, that you will 
have to ratify or not ratify. 

Neither side can be compelled to make an agreement or to give 
a concession.  That is in the NLRB.gov law, you can go there 
and look at that.  You can’t be compelled to agree to something, 
neither you or Starbucks.  As long as we’re—as long as Star-
bucks and the Unions are bargaining in good faith, which 
means—good—a reasonable time, a reasonable place, and an 
open mind. Then the bargaining process can go on, for a very 
long time. (GC 5(a) 7:24–10:00) (GC 7, p. 6–7) 

Marpoe told the employees that they were gathered together to 
“just talk about it,” that they should get the facts for themselves 
to decide what they want, that Starbucks wants everyone to vote 
and make this decision on their own, and that she was “here for 
the partners.”  After saying that the leadership team was there to 
hear from partners and listen to their perspectives, Marpoe 
opened the meeting up for questions.  (GC 5(a) 10:04–12:13) 
(GC 7, p. 8–9)  

c. Time Limited Agreements (TLAs)

The meeting continued with employees asking questions 
about various subjects, including how unionization would affect 
the leadership working on the floor, and company-wide pro-
grams, like stock benefits, with Marpoe saying that her under-
standing was that “if it’s not in the contract, you would not ben-
efit from it,” and then the issue becomes whether the union wants 
to renegotiate the contract, and the costs associated with renego-
tiating in order to try and add something new.  But, she said, that 
if it is not negotiated in the contract, it will not be given by Star-
bucks.  (GC 5(a) 16:37–17:33) (GC 7, p. 12) (Tr. 168)  

This discussion led to the issue of TLAs, with an employee 
asking if access to TLAs, lateral transfers within the company, 
or moving from store to store, would be impacted.  Marpoe re-
plied “it could be,” and told them that hours, benefits, and wages
“are going to get negotiated into that contract.”  So, Marpoe said, 
“if that is something that’s important to partners,” like 
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transferring to a store back home to be with family, or to a store 
in another state because someone was going to school, “I don’t 
know. I can’t say. But that can be part of it. If it’s not in the 
contract, it might be a different process.”  Marpoe then told the 
partners that at licensed stores, like core stores inside Safeway 
grocery stores, employees cannot transfer to a nonlicensed stores 
but have to apply instead.  So, Marpoe said “if it’s something 
that’s important to partners and they want to get in that contract, 
that may also be part of the process.” (GC 5(a) 17:36–18:45) (GC
7, p. 13–14) (Tr. 168–169)

Underriter then said that TLAs are “super complex.”  Kauf-
man followed upon saying the complexity with TLAs was that a 
partner “here” would be protected under the union, but your con-
tract would only be union protected where you work.  Kaufman 
then said that whether a unionized partner would be allowed to 
go from their home store to other stores “is a big question. And 
maybe all of that needs to be specifically outlined on what is 
okay for that to be done. But you know, current working 
knowledge is current TLAs, as more TLA opportunities, would 
that be then,”14 at this point, Marpoe interjected, saying: 

Yeah, in my opinion. I’m speaking from my opinion.  I think 
TLAs go off the table because you’re still a union. And if you 
go there, you’re still in a union, but you’re in a non-union 
home. And I don’t see how, in my opinion, either Starbucks or 
the union would allow you to not adhere to union rules in a 
contract because then, you know, we’re talking a lot of stuff 
that goes on, like, you’re doing things, you’re paying your 
membership dues, but you’re not actually in a union job, and 
you’re not actually following the union rules. What does that 
say about the agreement? So in my opinion, TLAs are going to 
be sticky or gone.  (GC 5(a) 19:28–20:14) (GC 7, p. 14–15) 
(Tr. 170) 

Marpoe’s comments were followed by a six second pause, no-
body in the room said anything; Marpoe broke the silence by 
asking if anybody needed any chocolate, saying “I could use 
some right now.”  [GC 5(a) 20:14–20:20) (GC 7, p. 15) (Tr. 
171)  This provoked laughter from some in the room.  Marpoe 
then said, “I don’t know about you, but this is not an easy con-
versation to have and I want to be open and honest.  I don’t 
want to sugarcoat anything. I don’t know. Right. But I can tell 
you what, in my opinion, is probably going to happen.  If it’s 
not in that contract, it’s not going to happen.”  (GC 5(a) 20:23–
20:40) (GC 7, p. 15)  

At this point, Keanna  replied saying that she believed Re-
spondent’s scare tactics were a little inappropriate.  When asked 
by Barth for examples, Keanna pointed to the company saying 
that benefits will be off the table and said she was a little disap-
pointed in the way things were being said to sway people one 
way.  Kaufman thanked Keanna for her honesty, but told the
group that she was just going to be honest “about where I’m at.”  
She said that the most important thing Respondent can do is to 
make sure that everyone understood the permutations and that 
with any kind of negotiations, as with anything people do, there 
are no guarantees.  Kaufman said that sometimes there is a 

14 See GC 5(a) 18:50–19:28; GC 7, p. 14; Tr. 169–170.

misunderstanding that you cannot lose something that you value.  
Therefore, she said it is important to know that some benefits are 
more important than others to different people, and to 
acknowledge that those benefits could be at risk if there is “an 
ask for something that’s really, really, really, important to the 
Union members—to the partners” that may outweigh some of 
the other things that are on the table in the “list of ethics.”15  
Kaufman said there was a lot to choose from, because the list of 
ethics was 50 pages long.  For example, Kaufman said that if 
some partners are not at a stage in life where maternity leave is 
of value, that “can come off, if there’s something else that you’re 
getting” in the give and take of negotiations.  Kaufman said that 
she did not think that “anybody is intentionally trying to scare” 
anyone but Respondent wants to make sure that everyone is 
“aware . . . of it,” and employees should look at the resources, 
including NLRB.gov, case studies, and “other things you can 
look at” for the organization they are considering.  (GC 5(a) 
20:45–23:20) (GC 7, p. 15–17) (Tr. 172–173)

Kaufman acknowledged there are some personal feelings in-
volved, that in other meetings everyone has been asked  “what 
do you think” and stated she will share that willingly.  She said, 
however, that it is more complex than it may seem, that Respond-
ent is trying to share that there is more complexity involved, that 
some partners have more information than others, and there is a 
lot she wants to include for those partners who are still learning.  
Kaufman continued by saying that, because of the short time pe-
riod involved, what Respondent is trying to do is get everyone 
up to speed and understand what is on the table, the importance 
of the decision, and “to just have the facts” in order to “make the 
decision that’s right for you” because there is a lot to learn.  In 
reply, Keanna complained that Respondent was saying “get the 
facts for yourself and decide for yourself,” but at the same time 
was telling partners to “vote no.”  Barth replied saying “Well, 
that’s the company position . . . that’s the company’s position, 
and—I don’t think that that’s—an unknown to anybody in this 
room.”  (GC 5(a) 23:23–25:00) (GC 7, p. 17–18) (Tr. 173) 

d. Tipping

Respondent’s counsel admitted at the hearing that the issue of 
customers not being able to leave credit card tips at Starbucks 
locations across the country, including at the Seattle Roastery, 
was one of the issues in the unionization campaign.  The issue of 
tipping was discussed a few times during the March 11 meeting.  
At one point during the meeting, a barista named Ean spoke, say-
ing many workers believed there was a discrepancy between 
their pay and the amount of work they perform.  He expressed 
that it was unfair for Respondent to say partners’ relationship 
with management would change in a negative way if employees 
unionized, when their “main asking point” is that customers have 
the ability to tip partners in more ways, which would then in-
crease worker pay without Starbucks having to pay for it.  And, 
he said, tipping was something Starbucks could have imple-
mented “way before now and chose not to,” even though partners 
had been asking about this for a long time.  Ean communicated 
his dismay that Respondent would say that, because workers are 

15 It is unclear from the record what “list of ethics” Kaufman was re-
ferring to.  
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seeking these benefits they are going to have other benefits taken 
away or that their relationship with management would change, 
especially in light of the fact that everyone wants to increase their 
income at a time when inflation is high and wages are not keep-
ing up with the cost of living.  (GC 5(a) 28:56–30:30)  (GC 7, p. 
21–22) (Tr. 38–39, 176)  

After discussing an unrelated question asked by another em-
ployee, Barth  told Ean that she wanted to touch on one thing 
about tips, saying “it’s a technology piece that is in the way, 
um—and it has—it has been for years.”  (GC 5(a) 35:18–35:26)  
Barth said that tips have been a topic of conversation for some 
time, and the challenge for the company has always been on the 
back end; it was the technology piece that was the difficulty.  
Barth said everyone in the room wanted partners to make more, 
because they are incredibly valuable and they work their “butts 
off,” but she believed there is a constraint to the technology that 
is preventing that from happening and she is not sure the union 
is going to change that. (GC 5(a) 36:02– 36:41) (GC 7, p. 26–27) 
(Tr. 184–185)  

Ean replied saying that Starbucks is a billion dollar company, 
that there are other companies that tip through mobile pay all the 
time, and that Starbucks has had a mobile app forever.  Ean said 
the issues on the back end should have been resolved by now and 
there is no logical reason why a company with as much money 
and resources as Starbucks cannot figure out a mobile tip system 
and make it a priority when they are not even paying their baris-
tas a living wage.  Ean stated that the money on tips is not coming 
out of the company’s pocket, and by doing nothing, Starbucks is 
making a choice regardless of what is on the back end holding 
things up.  Barth replied saying that for the last three years this 
has been on their annual operating plan wish list because they 
know that the Roastery is more like a restaurant than it is a coffee 
shop; Ean said three years is a long time.  (GC 5(a) 36:42–37:47) 
(GC 7, p. 28) (Tr. 185–187)  

Barth told the room that it was a question of resources, she 
was not defending it, but was just expressing how the topic 
comes to her.  Ean noted that partners bus tables, and that in res-
taurants where people bus tables customers tip 25 percent most 
of the time, and “we don’t get that.”  Ean said that “when it 
comes to our labor and what we make in wages, it’s not adding 
up,” and this is the reason why so many stores across the country, 
and not just the Roastery, are unionizing.  Barth replied saying 
that “we’ve heard it loud and clear that wages and tips have been 
a big issue.”  (GC 5(a) 37:56–38:42) (GC 7, p. 28–29) (Tr. 187) 

The conversation about tipping went on, going back and forth, 
with a couple employees discussing their opinions on tips, their 
work, whether the Roastery is more like a restaurant or coffee 
shop when it comes to tipping and if Roastery employees should 
be paid more than partners at a Starbucks core store.  The discus-
sion then transitioned to wages, with an employee asking if 
Roastery employees will receive the same raise that Starbucks 
had recently given to workers at the core cafes.  (GC 5(a) 41:09–
43:03) (GC 7, p. 29–33) (Tr. 192)

Barth replied saying that, as a general rule, everything that 
happens at the Starbucks core stores will happen on the Siren 
Retail side as well, but it might seem less impactful because 
Roastery employees are paid higher than the market rate to begin 
with.  (GC 5(a) 43:00–44:21) (GC 7, p. 34–35)  After discussing 

the starting wage rates in general, including those at the Roastery
and Starbucks core stores, Marpoe told the employees that if they 
voted for the union they would get whatever wages are negoti-
ated into the contract, that is what you live with.  Marpoe said 
that she cannot sugarcoat that things could go up, stay the same, 
or employees could lose some things that, for most people may 
not be important, but for some might be important.  (GC 5(a) 
47:26–48:25)  (GC 7, p. 37–38) (Tr. 195).

At this point, Kaufman said that it sucks having to be the per-
son who is “just trying to share facts in terms of this is a big 
flipping decision with huge ramifications.”  And, as a manager, 
Kaufman stated that she is conditioned to look out for partners 
and tries to go to every one of these meetings because she wants 
to hear from partners and what matters to them, but that it is hard 
and is a lot of “heavy stuff.”  (GC 5(a) 48:28–49:00) (GC 7, p. 
38) (Tr. 195)  Kaufman then told the employees:  

I would say, like, hell yeah, if, you know, credit card tips could 
be, like, if that could just be switched on—that would be amaz-
ing. That server, that code, doesn’t exist yet. And, um, contract 
negotiations isn’t going to create the code. We use registers that 
are used in every other Starbucks. What updates on ours will 
impact every other Starbucks. When we talk about like mo-
bile—you know when you go to like Square, or whatnot, like 
that front end, credit card, those registers flip, so that a customer 
can make a personal choice as to how much to tip. Our equip-
ment doesn’t do that. And negotiations is going to have a hard 
time in us getting brand new equipment in here, plus server 
code. It’s just honest. (GC 5(a) 49:03–50:04) (GC 7, p. 38–39) 
(Tr. 195–196)

After this comment, the room was silent for half of a minute, 
until Marpoe announced that she was going to make some coffee.  
(GC 5(a) 50:04–50:34) (GC 7, p. 39) (Tr. 196)

e. Strikes

Over an hour into the meeting, the conversation turned to 
strikes.  Leading into this discussion, there was a dialogue about 
whether employees could vote the union out, with Keanna saying 
that partners were not stuck with the union forever if they union-
ized and down the road they could vote the union out if they
wanted.  Marpoe said she believed it was only after the end of 
the first contract that the employees could have another vote.  
Underriter then said his understanding was that, if employees 
voted to unionize, they could not change the decision until one 
year from the date of the original vote.  Underriter further said 
that, if the store voted to “deunionize” after one year while con-
tract negotiations were still ongoing, “that gets sticky.”  He said 
there were different rulings from the NLRB as to whether that is 
allowed “so like that gets sticky if you’re in negotiations.” (GC
5(a) 1:06:01–1:07:10) (GC 7, p. 49–51) (Tr. 204–205)

Kaufman then told employees that, once a contract is signed 
there is no getting out of the union until the contract ends.  Then 
the NLRB would need to conduct a vote, similar to what was 
currently happening at the store, but in reverse; that would be the 
only way to deunionize.  Kaufman further said that, if a contract 
is signed and partners wanted the agreement to be renegotiated 
before it ended, workers would contact their representatives; the 
representatives would go to the lawyers who would then attempt
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to bring Starbucks back to the negotiating table.  However, she 
said there is no guarantee, but there are other rights to exercise.  
(GC 5(a) 1.07.31–1:07:44) (GC 7, p. 51) (Tr. 206) 

At this point a barista named Justin asked about what he said 
was a common practice he had read about involving “scheduled 
walkouts, or those type of things,” where a group of workers go 
to their leaders and communicate they are “walking out because 
of these terms are not met and will not work until these terms are 
met or renegotiated.”  In reply, Kaufman said: “Yup—and for 
that all union partners would have to strike.”  Marpoe then added 
“there is no opt-out in the State of Washington.  Everyone will 
be union, if you go union, and the contract is ratified.”  And 
Kaufman finished by saying “the strike would be a simple ma-
jority as well.” (GC 5(a) 1:08:24–1:09:04) (Tr. 167, 206 – 207) 
(GC 7, p. 52).

In reply to these comments, the barista named Ean said that 
employees can choose not to strike, and explained that he was in 
a union at the University of Washington food services where a 
strike occurred, but he went to work instead and nothing hap-
pened.  In reply, somebody said “Hmm.”  Marpoe then told em-
ployees they only had 15 minutes left and they moved on to an-
other question.  (GC 5(a) 1.09.04–1:09:36) (GC 7, p. 52–53) (Tr. 
177, 207–208) 

2. The March 22 meeting

Respondent held another employee meeting on March 22.  
This meeting also occurred in the Roastery library and was at-
tended by Keanna along with between 15 to 20 baristas.  Kauf-
man and Barth were present for Respondent.  (Tr. 246–247)  

Keanna’s work schedule for March 22 shows that she was 
scheduled for “SR Training” from 2:30 p.m. to 4:00 p.m.  The 
previous day Keanna was also scheduled for an hour and a half 
“SR Training” meeting, which turned out to be an actual promo 
set meeting to sample new products that were being launched.  
On March 22, she learned about 10 minutes before the scheduled 
meeting that the “training” that day was actually going to be a 
meeting about the union.  This was the last meeting that Keanna 
attended about the union election; she also recorded this meeting 
on her iPhone.  (Tr. 247–249, 316–317, 323–325) (GC 5(b), 9, 
10, 12)  

The March 22 meeting started with Kaufman saying she ap-
preciated everyone being present, acknowledging that it is “a 
lot,” but given the timeline there was “just so much.”  Kaufman 
said she did not expect to be studying so much law, and that she 
appreciated everyone’s contributions, questions, efforts, and 
positive energy.  Kaufman said it was Respondent’s obligation 
to make sure all partners were informed of the process and the 
journey and this was why they were having these meetings.  She 
informed everybody of the election details, and said everyone 
has the same goal, which was 100 percent participation.  (GC
5(b) 0:00–1:19) (GC 9, p. 2) 

Kaufman discussed the election, saying that ballots are anon-
ymous and the question to be voted on was whether employees 
wanted to be represented by Workers United for collective bar-
gaining.  She said Workers United had committed to use mem-
bers “from our team” to determine bargaining priorities because 
apparently they do “not know how the Roastery works . . . and 
we do.”  If employees voted to unionize, Kaufman said that 

collective bargaining will begin, that she believes the Union will 
reach out and start collecting priorities from partners, and “until 
then, we are frozen.”  (GC 5(b) 2:40–4:09) (GC 9, p. 3–4)

Kaufman said things are frozen in both benefits and standard 
operations, calling it “the dynamic status quo,” and that every-
thing goes on as it would be before the vote and remains that way 
after the vote.  Kaufman said promotions can happen, along with
annual raises based upon years of service, and whatever percent-
age increase that is announced Starbucks wide, is what partners 
will get, but no other changes to benefits or pay outside of those 
normal cycles will be given until there is a contract.  (GC 5(b) 
4:40–5:10) (GC 9, p. 4–5)  After discussing whether employees 
were due to receive a raise, the discussion returned to things be-
ing frozen, with Kaufman saying that what is legally binding as 
per the NLRB’s status quo requirement is that “none of your ben-
efits can be added to you, and none of them can be taken away.”  
Barth followed up by saying that what normally happens will 
continue to happen, until such time as a contract is reached.  (GC
5(b) 6:36–6:49; 7:50–7:52) (GC 9, p. 6)

The conversation on this subject continued, and the partici-
pants discussed various other matters including collective bar-
gaining, negotiations, strikes, and the election process.  Regard-
ing collective bargaining, Kaufman said that the partners would 
elect and prioritize things they would ask for, and then bargain-
ing in good faith takes place; however neither side is obligated 
to agree to anything.  (GC 5(b) 8:40–9:25) (GC 9, p. 7)  Kaufman 
told workers that the priorities they gathered will go to the nego-
tiating table, and that “you will not be negotiating with us; it will 
be with Starbucks’ lawyers.”  She said things might get better, 
stay the same, or partners might lose—which is a strong word—
but some things could be negotiated away; whatever happens is 
up to that negotiating table.  For example, Kaufman said that as 
the process goes on, Starbucks could say that workers have great 
pay and benefits, so the company could not meet certain other 
demands.  At this point, negotiating table priorities would have 
to change or compromises made.  (GC 5(b) 12:30–13:49) (GC 9, 
p. 10–11) 

Regarding strikes, Kaufman said that the “process,” referring 
to negotiations, may take a long time and that partners can strike 
until generally a contract is signed, at which point there’s always 
a clause that says there will not be any labor issues during the 
contract; but striking before a contract is signed is possible.  
Kaufman discussed the Union’s strike fund, said that during a 
strike employees will not be able to receive paid sick time or va-
cations, their benefits could run out, and they cannot file for un-
employment.  She said the company is also allowed to bring in 
temporary workers and continue operating.  Kaufman was un-
sure whether workers could continue working during a strike, 
and a discussion then ensued amongst the various participants 
about this issue, with Keanna noting that in an earlier meeting 
employees were told that they had to participate in a strike, but 
that Ean proved that statement was wrong.  Kaufman replied by 
saying that it depends upon the Union’s bylaws as to whether or 
not a strike is determined by a majority of employees, but even 
if someone chooses to work during a strike, “you’re striking but 
you’re working.”  (GC 5(b) 14:40–15:25; 16:04–16:26) (GC 9, 
p. 11–12) 

Kaufman then said that there was much interest in what 



DECISIONS OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD36

workers would be able to negotiate.  She told the partners that 
the odds they would receive miles above everybody else is chal-
lenging without a compromise.  While the workers might ask for 
wage increases in a three to five year contract, either tied to in-
flation or tied to the minimum wage, she said “the approach on 
the other side will always be much more conservative because 
nobody knows what happens, like a pandemic for example. So 
high risk is challenging, without compromise.”  (GC 5(b) 16:33–
18:10) (GC 9, p. 13)

Kaufman also said that Starbucks has thousands of stores, 
which is unlike bargaining for a single factory, or a couple hun-
dred hotels or grocery stores in one region.  Therefore, she said 
“I think for unionized stores to get a super great deal, it’s going 
to be hounding, I think, for Starbucks to move all those billions 
of dollars that go to partners over to their legal department that’s 
constantly negotiating contracts.”  (GC 5(b) 18:13–18:58) (GC
9, p. 13)  Kaufman then discussed five Starbucks stores in Can-
ada that unionized, saying that only one still has its union con-
tract because the others voted to “deunionize.”  And for the one 
remaining unionized store, she said that they negotiated a pay 
increase of 69 cents, but also negotiated more paid time off.  
However, because they had a signed contract, those employees 
did not receive any of the increases that the rest of the market has 
received, so that store now makes less than the rest of the stores 
around them.  To this comment, Keanna can be heard on the re-
cording whispering “more scare tactics.”  Kaufman then said that 
she thinks, it is “really really important to know that,” while part-
ners will be present at the negotiating table, “this will be the law-
yers duking it out.”  (GC 5(b) 19:00–20:12) (GC 9, p. 13–14) 
(Tr. 172)  Kaufman then said:

And, uh—um, this will be lawyers duking it out for sure.  Uh, 
and then also, you know—I think this relied on Starbucks hav-
ing business for their part going up higher and higher.  Or it 
is—considering—uh, them to also prioritize, frankly, un-un-
ionized stores over unionized stores. I’m just being honest. (GC
5(b) 20:20–21:03) (GC 9, p. 14)

Keanna then asked if Kaufman was saying that partners won’t 
have much of a voice; Kaufman replied that they will definitely 
and absolutely have a voice, that their voice is incredibly im-
portant, but that it is a legal process and the lawyers will duke it 
out.  Keanna then asked Kaufman about her statement that the 
company will “pay attention to other stores, rather than us.”  (GC
5(b) 21:03–21:27) (GC 9, p. 14–15)  Kaufman replied by saying:

Well, we’ll be in contract, collective bargaining. We’ll be, 
wuh—your voice will be at that table, for sure. But—um—if—
uh—benefits are added, they will be added to non-collective 
bargaining stores.  (GC 5(b) 21:29–21:48) (GC 9, p. 15)  

Keanna asked “so we won’t get the new benefits that other stores 
will get?”  And Kaufman said, “it’s a risk.”  Keanna then said, 
“unless we negotiate it in the contract, which why wouldn’t we?”  
And Kaufman replied again saying “it is a risk.” (GC 5(b) 21:48–
22:00) (GC 9, p. 15)  

After this, a barista named Mark asked an open question to 

16 All of the Facebook posts discussed in this section are found in GC 
4.

anyone in the room about “deunionizing” and whether they could 
deunionize without having a contract.  Kaufman and a couple 
employees addressed the question, to the best of their under-
standing, with some employees relating things they had heard in 
other company meetings.  Kaufman then told the workers that 
she has never had to learn so much about the law and ultimately 
it is none of her business whether employees choose to organize 
and collectively bargain.  She said everybody has been through 
the worst two years of their lives, everyone is tired, everyone 
wants to get paid more, in her mind she is not in the upper class, 
and if employees “do it,” they should write a great/phenomenal 
contract because the likelihood of Starbucks coming back to re-
visit it is not that high.  (GC 5(b) 22:03–24:35) (GC 9, p. 15–16)  

The meeting then continued in the same general format for 
almost another hour.  Sometimes company representatives made 
various statements, resulting in questions from employees.  
Other times topics were raised, and employees discussed the is-
sue amongst themselves, until moving on to another issue.  And, 
there were instances where individuals made long statements 
about how they felt about the entire process.  

E. Facebook post by Respondent’s assistant manager

On February 14, the day the petition was filed, De La Vega, 
posted on Facebook about the petition.  De a Vega’s post reads 
as follows:16

As a leader of a prominent location, I’ve come across so many 
fantastic leaders and many that were the worst imaginable.

However, one of my favorite quotes passed down from me is 
this: “We always look at the mountains in front of us and forget 
the mountains behind us were just as hard to climb.” [mountain 
emoji] 

This quote will continue to ground me in how I show up as a 
leader for others and most importantly, myself! Today my lo-
cation has decided to begin the process of unionization. As I’m 
certain most media will begin to initiate propaganda but would 
like my friends and family to know.

Overall, the road ahead is unclear and fogged up with thoughts 
and feelings from others and myself. But I will always stay true 
to what has inspired me about leadership...and these are the 
times that forge what a true leader is.

However, I won’t be a martyr for anyone which side. I am my 
own person and will stay true to that 

[smiley face emoji]
De La Vega’s post sparked replies from his Facebook “friends,” 
some of whom were also employees of the Seattle Roastery.  The 
first employee to respond to the post, named Liza, worked on the 
roasting/manufacturing side at the Roastery.  Liza wrote that she 
was against having a union, that unionization has never suc-
ceeded and it would “tear us apart.”  She said that the company 
calls them “partner for a reason” and once the union comes in 
they would lose most of their good benefits.  Susan, another em-
ployee who also worked on the manufacturing side at the 
Roastery, commented saying “everyone was miserable after the 



SIREN RETAIL CORP. D/B/A STARBUCKS 37

maintenance union was voted in” at another roasting plant.17  De 
La Vega replied thanking them both for their comments.  (Tr. 93) 

The third person to comment on De La Vega’s post was 
Melissa Slabaugh (Slabaugh).  At the time, Slabaugh had been 
working as a mixologist at the Roastery for about four and a half 
years; she had started working at Starbucks in 2013.18  In her 
reply, Slabaugh wrote “[a]s I know both of you and support your 
perspectives, let me share some tidbits of what we have seen with 
unions,” and remarked that the cafe side of the Roastery “is a 
different entity with different struggles.”  Slabaugh further wrote 
that union dues were only $10 per week, would only apply after 
a contract was negotiated, and that her coworkers would only 
vote on a contract that essentially negated those fees; she also 
shared a link to an article about union enrollment.  Slabaugh con-
tinued her post saying that “the vote to unionize does not impact 
the manufacturing side because you guys are a different com-
pany essentially.  A totally different entity.  Which is why y’all’s 
practices are so different from ours.”  Slabaugh ended her re-
sponse by saying that the unity and comradery “on the Cafe side 
has been stronger than” what she had seen in quite some time, 
and while this “does not negate any experiences y’all may have 
had” it illustrates what was happening “on our side of the store.”  
(Tr. 42, 48–49, 53–54, 93–94)  

De La Vega responded to Slabaugh, saying “as you travel the 
road less traveled! Know I’m here for ya! As many times before 
this to!”  Slabaugh replied with link to the Workers United web-
site.  Susan responded, thanking Slabaugh “for some solid infor-
mation,” and saying that she has “seen the scheduling retail part-
ners have to deal with, and I understand.  I am hopeful that upper 
management will take note of our grievances.”  Liza wrote, “it 
will impact manufacturing side no matter what.”  Slabaugh an-
swered writing “it really won’t,” noting that the petition was spe-
cifically filed for the hourly cafe side workers, that the manufac-
turing side employees will not vote and therefore the union elec-
tion will “not impact your structure back there” since the manu-
facturing side is “a different company and different entity.”  
Slabaugh said she was trying to understand Liza’s comment, and 
asked her to “elaborate” in order to “understand where you’re 
coming from.”  Liza responded that this was “not a good place 
to discuss this issue.”  Slabaugh acknowledged Liza’s position, 
but disagreed, writing “it’s an excellent place to discuss the is-
sue,” and then wished Liza “a great day.”

De Le Vega responded to the posts saying “[a]dditionally, if 
passed, it does effect other locations and business units relation-
ships.”  De La Vega then wrote the following series of posts:

Mel[issa] Slab[augh] Liza . . . if union vote is passed, TLA op-
portunities would be on the table. As they wouldn’t be consid-
ered a part of the theoretical union. Since they are two different 
entities, we can’t share partners anymore for legality reasons.

Nothing will be guaranteed and everything will be on the table. 
Some might lose their free ASU others their healthcare. And 

17 The Seattle Roastery Reserve employees who worked in the pack-
aging, manufacturing, and roasting area were not part of the petition filed 
by the Union, and are not part of the certified unit.  It appears they 
worked for Starbucks under the Starbucks Manufacturing Corp. subsidi-
ary.  Tr. 104; see also, footnote 3 (Exhibit 21) (listing Starbucks Manu-
facturing Corp. as a Starbucks subsidiary). 

much else. Even negotiating higher wages wouldn’t be guaran-
teed.

From personal experience, I agree while corporate has made 
decisions for all of our lives. Let’s remember they paid for us 
to stay home for two months, instead of laying us off. And 
hourly wages have been the highest they’ve ever been. There 
has never been a priority on mental health or sick like there is 
now on our store.

And seeing decisions being made at the top, I can guarantee 
everyone the partners are always front and center in every de-
cision we make. And when we don’t agree with corporate non-
sense, we do what’s best for our store.

I’m still not positive what there is to gain besides showing cor-
porate leaders up? And I can attest I’m not a fan of them either.

Well you can, but it’s pretty controversial. And the pandemic 
is looming to a end. And with a potential unionization. Some 
of us will be forced with making a choice if this is still for us or 
not. I am too in that boat, in this moment.

Liza wrote back saying “Elijah . . . thank you for making it 
clear, we are all Starbucks employee no matter what.”  This 
prompted De La Vega to draft another series of posts saying:

All in all, these are all facts.

Being all locked into a three year contract, doesn’t seem to 
wise. When our world economics is 10 seconds to midnight 
[clock emoji] I’d leave some flexibility in policy during this 
time. But that’s from experience, how we had to pivot to part-
ner safety and business.

Not to mention, this third party has never consulted a coffee 
company quite like ours. And not to mention a multi-retail ex-
perience. Just seems to me, every detail hasn’t been figured out. 
And a very big opportunity on change management.

Slabaugh responded writing “I had a comment posted, but tbh, I 
don’t really trust this being out anymore.  Happy to talk in person 
Elijah or through personal messages.”  Notwithstanding, 
Slabaugh went on to post that she was “admittedly . . . checking 
on TLAs, however . . . this would be a corporate decision to take 
those benefits away. That would mean they came to the bargain-
ing table NOT in good faith. PERIOD. We are the union. No one 
is speaking for us.”  De La Vega responded writing that: 

everyone has an opinion on what’s best for their life. I haven’t 
found any evidence of supporting my life beneficially. In all 
honesty, undue stress on a human level. But at this rate I’m re-
silient. What I’d encourage is all to vote in fair election with 
transparency of what we can & can’t do. Let the voters decide 
what is best for our store. We are partners, and this company is 
why we have the opportunity to even go through this process. 
I owe very much of my success to the leaders of Starbucks 

18 At the time of the hearing, Slabaugh no longer worked for Respond-
ent.  She graduated from ASU’s online program through the Starbucks 
College Achievement Plan, and left the company in May 2022 to seek a 
job in her field of study.  (Tr. 42, 51–52) 
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guided by mission and values.

Slabaugh replied: 

Elijah . . . the labor laws fought for by activists are why we have 
the ability to do this. Not the company. To be clear.
You shouldn’t have to be resilient, you should be protected. 
Legally.

Union’s aren’t radical. And you’re right, we all have a right to 
choose what’s best for our life.

No one was pushed into this, information was given on a pro 
and con perspective. People saw more pros than cons, and we 
are being transparent. To imply anything else is disappointing 
and hurtful–on a human level.

This comment prompted a response from De La Vega who
wrote:  

thank you for the learning. I’m unaware of such policies due to 
the fact when I have an issue with my employer, I’ve learned 
to use my own voice to meet my concerns and find solutions. 
Even for others.

I’ve never thought of a need to be in a union. My goal is not to 
be at the Starbucks reserve Roastery decades.

I would rather get what I need from the company, and start my 
own business. I think that is what true success looks like to me.

And I’ve been lucky to find leaders at the Roastery that have 
given me stability in my life.

No matter what is chosen. The world is in a bigger crisis than 
unionizing revolution in Starbucks. Full stop. Finding peace in 
others and community is more important to me. 

Slabaugh replied saying:

we both have that in common.  Others just haven’t been as 
lucky in their outcomes.

I don’t want to be here for decades either, but we want every-
one’s time here to be enjoyable and fair for everyone, for what-
ever amount of time they are here. Long after any individual is 
gone from the building.

I too find so much respect in leaders at the Roastery, but time 
and time again I’ve stated there’s only so much y’all can do and 
it’s true.

Also true about the world. We can fight to make it better though 
collectively

De La Vega replied to Slabaugh writing, “I appreciate this con-
versation with you. Thank you for your patience and grace with 
me!”  Slabaugh responded saying “But this fight comes in bite 
sized pieces. This is one of those pieces.”  

At this point in the Facebook conversation, Keanna posted a 
comment.  Keanna learned about De La Vega’s post from 
Slabaugh and added De La Vega as a Facebook friend because 
she wanted to read what he was saying.  In her comment, Keanna 
wrote “i second the notion that you are great, but y’all can only 
do so much for us. when you come to learn a majority of our 
partners struggle with food insecurity, it can put things into a 
different perspective.”  De La Vega replied saying, “no hard 

feelings y’all! Thank you for sharing your perspectives! It is hard 
to hear people are having food insecurity. While I can’t control 
these variables specifically. If there is anything we can do to 
combat in the meantime, let me know.”  (Tr. 326–327, 335–336)  

A couple unknown people who did not work at the Roastery 
made brief comments in reply to this exchange, that solicited a 
short reply from De La Vega, saying thank you and hoping “all 
is well.” Then a former Roastery employee named Anton com-
mented.  Anton praised De La Vega’s leadership, said that what 
is transpiring amongst the “petitioned union cafes” was a literal 
title wave and long overdue, especially at the Roastery, and ob-
served that he was “pretty sure” he would have been fired if he 
“uttered the word union” during his tenure.  Anton offered to 
help if De La Vega needed any support, saying he now managed 
a cafe with unionized employees.  A former Roastery employee 
named Brittany responded to Anton’s post with four heart emo-
jis.  And, Slabaugh responded by saying that Anton was “incred-
ible,” and she was “inspired by present and past partners every 
single day.”  She also wrote “I also very much second Anton’s 
post in regard to you, Elijah. [smiley face emoji].” (Tr. 94–96)  

De La Vega responded as follows:

Mel[issa] Slab[augh] union or not. We are pressed with creat-
ing the space we want to see.  I’m interested in hearing pro-
union side more transparently and strategic. As the Roastery is 
prominent, I want to ensure we aren’t being used as a Trojan 
horse for everyone else political game. And the partners lead-
ing the initiative, protect not only their experience but the ex-
perience for all and find how a third party will support the ini-
tiatives mentioned. And bring this culture changer. What con-
tinues to ring clear to me…what evil is better? I’m confused 
either way but in time we will find our way one step at a time.

If union were to occur, it’d be interesting how my roles and 
responsibilities will change? What people can expect from me 
vs. union? How efficient is the process for 150 people? How 
will promotions be handled? What change can actually be ac-
complished while a contract is being drawn up for months, 
maybe years? As person who has admittedly work their a** off 
for corporate leaders that could care less. I understand the push. 
However, pro-union will not make you a better employee and 
might create a better work environment, but that isn’t clear just 
yet as no contract has been approved. This third party, can force 
everyone to go on strike whenever they want unpaid or face the 
consequences. Also, we are not protected from layoffs. (Re-
peating what I was told) All in all, sifting through propaganda 
is troubling lol

Protect, educate, and advocate for your own needs, not others 
[shield emoji] you can’t let this decision be decided by others. 
You are faced with knowing what your truest needs are and 
communicating and voting accordingly. 

For Anton, De La Vega wrote “Anton . . . def would like to meet 
up for coffee to catch up soon! Appreciate you and your tireless 
support along my journey! I’ll always hold dear the values you 
carried in the Roastery, that was failed to be recognized by lead-
ers. You are a true gem! [diamond emoji]

Slabaugh replied to De La Vega’s posts writing:
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Elijah . . . with strikes, it has to be voted on by the union…btw. 
so us. But your role wouldn’t really change. All of those things 
you mentioned? On the table for bargaining (including promo-
tions which aren’t handled with consistency or transparency 
atm). During that time nothing is legally allowed to change. 
Benefits are legally protected. But in contract negotiations we 
would be pushing for better, more comprehensive benefits and 
fairer workplace practices. All in all, it’s biggest push is to hold 
accountability to those above that hinder our resources in the 
store. 

The union is the workers. The workers do the bargaining, but 
with legal help. They represent us only in legalities but they 
don’t SPEAK for us. We do that.

Elijah . . . if you know me, you know then that I was up until 
odd hours constantly researching this particular union, re-
searching pros and cons of unions, looking at just about every-
thing imaginable before literally doing anything.

I have lost so much sleep making sure this was something that 
would benefit our partners, not take away from them.

I don’t do anything on others agenda 

Elijah . . . and that wasn’t meant to sound aggressive lol it was 
meant to remind you that I don’t take anything lightly, and I 
feel you know that already. I am excited to be able to talk about 
this openly now because man there is some seriously bad info 
swarming about right now in general, and all over the place.

De La Vega responded to Slabaugh’s post saying “I appreciate 
you and have always and will always respect your voice! Thank 
you for not taking my partner experience lightly! For that, you 
have my respect [raised fist emoji] you a leader too.  [smiley face 
emoji]”  De La Vega then posted “Man these Xbar peeps, are 
revolutionary! [sparkles emoji] #workingintrenchestogether!”  
And in another separate post wrote “We’ve come a long way! 
Proud we are able to have a discussion and share perspectives! 
[heart emoji]”

After this post, a former Roastery employee named Megan 
commented that she had “so many mixed feelings” on the sub-
ject.  She wrote that De La Vega was one of the few leaders that 
took time to help develop her skills, that she looks up to him, and 
hoped for the best during the process.  De La Vega thanked Me-
gan her for her words of positivity and expressed hope that all 
was well with her and her store.  Another person, unidentified in 
the record, responded by posting an emoji of clapping hands.  A 
person named Sean, who was also not identified in the record, 

19 Throughout this Facebook exchange, the individuals posting 
“tagged” each other in their comments.  A Facebook “tag” is a means of 
addressing a public communication to someone who then gets a notifi-
cation directing their attention to the post.  Majumdar v. Fair, 567 F. 
Supp. 3d 901, 911 (N.D. Ill. 2021).  It is similar to the way an email user 
receives a notification when an email is received, except the contact is 
made in public.  Id.

20 The analysis section of the Union’s brief is limited to this allegation 
only.  In its brief, the Union provided links to various notes from 
speeches given by Starbucks CEO Howard Schultz, along with a video 
and other items, that were taken from the Starbucks website and asks that 
I take administrative notice of these matters.  Although the Union partic-
ipated in the hearing, it did not attempt to introduce any of these items 

responded by saying that all this comes as a surprise as he had 
not heard the “faintest whisper in the store,” that this was even 
happening.  A former employee named Ryan responded to 
Sean’s comment by saying that he knew the union drive was hap-
pening even though he doesn’t even work at the Roastery. 
Slabaugh responded to Sean by tagging him and saying, “mes-
sage me.”  (Tr. 98)

An unknow person named Stephanie commented, “Elijah, I 
know you can lead through anything,” telling him to stay true to 
his values, listen to those he leads, and to remember that she is 
“just a phone call away.”  De La Vega responded by saying he 
appreciated Stephanie, that she continues to inspire him and her 
insights as a leader will always resonate with him.  This appears 
to be the last comment made by anyone involving De La Vega’s 
post.19

III. ANALYSIS

A. Group meetings with management about the union petition 
and election

The General Counsel alleges that the group meetings Re-
spondent held about the union petition and the election violated 
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.  (Compl. Para 6(a), 6(f), 7)  In support 
of this allegation, the General Counsel argues that the Board 
should overrule Babcock & Wilcox Co., 77 NLRB 577 (1948), 
and return to earlier precedent which held that an employer in-
dependently violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by compelling 
employees to listen to a speech on self-organization during work 
time.  Clark Bros. Co., 70 NLRB 802, 804–805 (1946).  (GC Br. 
at 27–44)  In its brief, the Union sets forth its support of the Gen-
eral Counsel’s position.20 (Union Br. at 8–20)  

Respondent, in turn, claims that the meetings in question were 
not mandatory.  (R. Br. at 20–21)  The Roastery contends that 
there is no evidence partners were compelled to attend these 
meetings, claims no employee was disciplined for failing to at-
tend a meeting, asserts that attendance was not taken, and points 
to the fact that employees were invited to share their perspectives 
and some employees made prounion statements.  The company 
maintains that the meetings constituted a free exchange of ideas 
from partners regarding their thoughts on unionization.  Id. at 21.  
Finally, Respondent asserts that no violation can be found be-
cause under extant Board precedent, citing Babcox & Wilcox, it 
is lawful for an employer to hold mandatory meetings with em-
ployees to discuss their efforts to unionize.  Id. at 20–22.  

into evidence.  Because I find that the items in question are ultimately 
irrelevant to my determination regarding this allegation, I decline to take 
administrative notice of them.  Hargis v. Access Cap. Funding, LLC, 674 
F.3d 783, 793 (8th Cir. 2012) (“Courts are not required to take judicial 
notice of irrelevant materials.”).  I further decline to take administrative 
notice of the Starbucks employee handbook which the Union appended 
to its brief; no attempt was made at trial to introduce the handbook into 
evidence.  The Union claims that the authenticity of the document cannot 
be seriously questioned, and cites various cases in which it asserts the 
handbook has already been received into evidence by the NLRB.  How-
ever, all of the cases cited by the Union involve Starbuck Corporation 
only; none involve Siren Retail.  In any event, I similarly find that the 
handbook is not relevant to this allegation.  Id. 
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1. Respondent’s postpetition group meetings were mandatory

The evidence supports a finding that the postpetition meetings 
management held with Roastery employees to discuss their un-
ionization efforts and the pending election were mandatory.  The 
meetings occurred during work time and employees were paid 
for the time spent in the meetings.  Also, the meetings appeared 
on employee work schedules, and there is nothing on those 
schedules to indicate that the meetings were voluntary or that 
employees otherwise did not have to attend.  (GC 11, 12)  See 
Relco Locomotives, Inc., 359 NLRB 1145, 1155 (2013) (reason-
able employee could only conclude their meeting attendance was 
required where the meeting notification listed their names and 
time of the meeting, the meetings appeared to have occurred dur-
ing the work day, and there was nothing on the notification in-
forming employees that they did not have to attend), reaffirmed 
361 NLRB 911 (2014).  

I credit the testimony from Keanna and Slabaugh that, like 
work shifts, employees were expected to attend meetings that ap-
peared on their work schedules and that failing to do so could 
result in discipline.  (Tr. 72–3, 144, 320)  And, the Roastery pre-
sented no evidence to the contrary.  As for Respondent’s asser-
tion that “no partners were disciplined for failing to attend” the 
meetings (R. Br. at 21), there was simply no evidence introduced 
that any employee had actually missed a scheduled meeting.  Un-
der these circumstances, it is reasonable to presume that no part-
ners were disciplined because everyone attended the meetings 
that appeared on their work schedules, knowing that attendance 
was mandatory. 

Similarly unremarkable is Respondent’s claim that the meet-
ings were voluntary, because no attendance was taken. (R. Br. at 
21)  Conflicting evidence was presented as to whether attendance 
was, or was not, taken during some of the meetings.  Notwith-
standing, it is undisputed that Respondent monitors time and at-
tendance by having employees clock in and out at the start and 
end of their work day and during breaks.  If desired, Respondent 
could simply review the time and attendance records to ascertain 
whether an employee missed a scheduled meeting.  And, the 
meetings themselves were small enough, anywhere from 10 to 
25 people, that Respondent could easily determine whether 
someone who was scheduled to work that day was absent from a 
meeting.  In these circumstances, the lack of someone physically 
taking roll during a meeting is insignificant to the question of 
whether the meetings were mandatory.

Contrary to Respondent’s claim, the fact the company did not 
stifle some employees from making prounion statements and in-
vited partners to share their perspectives about the unionization 
effort did not make the meetings voluntary.  While some em-
ployees did make statements in support of the union, other em-
ployees present did not speak during the meetings.  For example, 
in the March 22 meeting, of the approximately 15 to 20 employ-
ees present, only about nine were identified as having said any-
thing during the meeting.  (GC 9)  And, I credit Slabaugh’s tes-
timony that she did not want to attend these meetings, but did so 

21 A concise summary of the facts are found in the Circuit Court’s 
opinion. NLRB v. Injection Molding Co., 211 F.2d 59, 65 (8th Cir. 1954).  

22 The Board noted that an exception exists for situations where union 
membership is required pursuant to a valid union-security clause, as 

only because they were on her schedule and she was concerned 
about being disciplined if she did not attend.  (Tr. 77–78)  

Finally, supporting a finding that these meetings were not vol-
untary, is the statement made by Kaufman on March 22 that these 
meetings were, in fact, mandatory.  In reply to a question from 
Keanna asking if the meetings were mandatory, Kaufman said 
“Yeah . . . We do have an obligation.”  She then clarified this 
statement by saying that employees were obligated to attend if 
the meeting appears on an employee work schedule more than 
10 days in advance.  The evidence shows that the March 11 and 
March 22 meetings appeared on employee work schedules more 
than 14 days in advance, thereby making them mandatory.  Ac-
cordingly, the evidence fully supports a finding that these meet-
ings were, in fact, mandatory and employees were potentially 
subject to discipline if they did not attend. 

2. Respondent’s postpetition group meetings were lawful

Section 7 of the Act give employees the right to engage in un-
ion activities along with the right to refrain from any or all such 
activities.  Radio Officers’ Union of Commercial Telegraphers 
Union v. NLRB, 347 U.S. 17, 42 (1954) (employees have the 
right “to abstain from union activities without” their jobs being 
affected); Tamosiunas v. NLRB, 892 F.3d 422, 425 (2018) (Sec-
tion 7 protects the right of employees to bargain collectively 
through representatives of their own choosing, as well as the in-
verse right: to abstain from unionization).  And, the Board has 
found that an employer violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act when 
it forces employees to attend union meetings against their will.  
Injection Molding Co., 104 NLRB 639 (1953), enfd. 211 F.2d 59 
(8th 1954).  

In Injection Molding, workers were represented by a labor un-
ion which had fined an employee one dollar for his nonattend-
ance at a union meeting.21  The union notified the employer of 
the fine, and the employer deducted the fine from the employee’s 
pay without consent.  The Board found that the employer’s con-
duct, in deducting the fine over the employee’s protest, consti-
tuted a violation Section 8(a)(1) of the Act “because it tended to 
force [the employee] to attend union meetings against his will.”  
Injection Molding Co., 104 NLRB at 646.  The Board further 
found that “such conduct was in direct derogation of the right of 
employees under Section 7 of the Act to refrain from union ac-
tivities.”22  Id. 

The Board had previously applied this same general reasoning 
to meetings where an employer compels its employees to listen 
to a speech on self-organizing, finding that such conduct impairs 
employee free choice which is guaranteed in Section 7 of the Act.  
Clark Bros. Co., 70 NLRB 802, 804–805 (1946).  However, after 
Section 8(c) was amended into the Act, in Babcox & Wilcox, 77 
NLRB 577, 578 (1948), the Board changed course, holding that, 
even assuming employees were required to attend and listen to 
an employer’s anti-union speeches, Section 8(c) of the Act, and 
its legislative history, “make it clear that the doctrine of Clark 
Bros., no longer exists as a basis of finding unfair labor prac-
tices.”  

authorized in Sec. 8(a)(3) of the Act.  Injection Molding Co., 104 NLRB 
at 646.
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Courts have recognized that the “captivity” of an audience is 
an important factor in determining the proper degree of First 
Amendment protection for certain speech.  Aguilar v. Avis Rent
A Car Sys., Inc., 980 P.2d 846, 871–872 (Cal. 1999) (Werdegar,
J. concurring) (consolidating United States Supreme Court cases 
discussing the applicability of First Amendment protections to 
various speech involving different types of captive audiences, 
and arguing that the relative captivity of an audience is a relevant 
and important, if not dispositive, factor in determining whether 
government restrictions on speech in the workplace are permis-
sible under the First Amendment).  And, various commentators 
have remarked on the wisdom of the Board’s decision in Babcox 
& Wilcox, along with whether reforms in this area of the law 
should, or should not, occur.  See e.g., Roger C. Hartley, Free-
dom Not to Listen: A Constitutional Analysis of Compulsory In-
doctrination Through Workplace Captive Audience Meetings, 31 
Berkeley J. Emp. & Lab. L. 65, 78 (2010); Alan Story, Employer
Speech, Union Representation Elections, and the First Amend-
ment, 16 Berkeley J. Emp. & Lab. L. 356, 358 (1995); Daniel V. 
Johns, The Coddling of the American Worker’s Mind: The Anti-
Free Speech Nature of Popular Labor Law Reforms, 30 Wm. &
Mary Bill of Rts. J. 755, 762 (2022).  Ultimately, however, 
whether Babcox & Wilcox was rightly decided is beyond my pur-
view.  I am compelled to “apply established Board precedent 
which the Supreme Court has not reversed.  It is for the Board, 
not the judge, to determine whether that precedent should be var-
ied.”  Waco, Inc., 273 NLRB 746, 749 fn. 14 (1984) (internal 
citations omitted).  The facts here fall squarely within the ambit 
of Babcox & Wilcox and do not resemble the situation where the 
Board found an 8(a)(1) violation in Injection Molding Co.  As 
such, I recommend that this allegation be dismissed. 

B. Statements made at the March 11 meeting

1. Maintaining a direct relationship with management

Complaint paragraph 6(a)(i) alleges that the Roastery violated 
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act when Marpoe told employees during 
the March 11 meeting that, to maintain a direct relationship with 
Respondent, employees must vote against unionization and that 
if something is not in the contract employees cannot raise or have 
a conversation about that issue with management.  Regarding 
these allegations, the evidence shows that, at the start of the 
March 11 meeting, Marpoe told employees that she wanted to 
give them an update about the election process, information and 
facts about unions and how they work, and discuss collective 
bargaining.  Marpoe encouraged employees to do their own re-
search and then said:

If you want a union to represent you—uh—you want to give 
your right to speak to leadership through a union, you’re going 
to check off ‘yes’ for the election.  If you want to maintain a 
direct relationship with leadership, you’ll check off no.  

The General Counsel asserts that this statement violates Section 
8(a)(1) of the Act as Respondent did not equate union represen-
tation with collective bargaining and did not explain the legal 
obligations on all parties with respect to good faith bargaining.  
(GC Br. at 20)  The government also asserts that the vagueness 
of the statement could lead a reasonable employee to believe that 
they could not have a casual conversation with a supervisor, or 

that they would lose their right to speak with people in nonsuper-
visory roles if they are considered part of leadership. 

For many years the Board “consistently held” that an em-
ployer violates Section 8(a)(1) by telling employees “they would 
lose their right to speak directly with management” if they se-
lected union representation.  Dish Network Corp., 358 NLRB 
174, 175, 175 fn. 3 (2012) (Member Block concurring in part)
(collecting cases where the Board found violations).  However, 
that changed in Tri-Cast, 274 NLRB 377 (1985).  In Tri-Cast, 
the Board found that there “is no threat, either explicit or im-
plicit, in a statement which explains to employees that, when 
they select a union to represent them, the relationship that existed 
between the employees and employer will not be as before.”  274 
NLRB at 377.  The Board has since applied Tri-Cast to find no 
violation where an employer stated that “union representation 
might limit direct access to management,” Holy Cross Hospital, 
370 NLRB No. 16, slip op. at 1 fn. 3 (2020), and where an em-
ployer said, “if the union came in, employees could no longer 
come directly to management with problems . . . [and they] 
would have to go to the union with any complaint.”  Montgomery
Ward & Co , 288 NLRB 126, 126 fn. 3 (1988), remanded on
unrelated grounds 904 F.2d 1156 (7th Cir. 1990).  Here, I find
that Marpoe’s comments fall within those statements that are
privileged by the Board’s holding in Tri-Cast and its progeny.  
Therefore I recommend that complaint paragraph 6(a)(i) be dis-
missed.  

2. Discussing something that is not in the contract with 
management

Complaint paragraph 6(a)(ii) alleges that Marpoe violated 
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by telling employees they cannot raise 
or have conversations with Respondent about matters that are not 
in their contract if they unionize.  The evidence shows that, dur-
ing the March 11 meeting, Marpoe discussed with partners what 
she said was her experience working at Macy’s, where employ-
ees were unionized.  Marpoe told the partners there was a time 
when she went to the person who hired her to ask for more hours 
and was told she needed to talk to her union representative, and 
“[t]hat’s it.  I could not have any other conversation with them.”  
She then said: 

And so that’s—that is—a representation of a union is the rules 
of employment will then be grounded in a contract. And if it’s 
not in that contract, it’s not a conversation in my opinion that’s 
going to happen with leadership. We’ll be bound by the con-
tract. So the union will be bound. And Starbucks will be bound.  

Marpoe then said that she wanted to be “clear on that.  That a 
third party comes in and speaks for you.  And everything will be 
grounded, from my experience and my opinion through the lens 
of that contract.”  

The General Counsel asserts that Marpoe’s statement is un-
lawful, as she incorrectly tells employees that they will not be 
able to speak with their supervisors, does not equate union rep-
resentation with collective bargaining, or explain the obligation 
to bargain in good faith.  And, as with the previous allegation, 
the General Counsel also asserts that Marpoe’s use of the term 
“leadership” could be construed to make employees to believe 
that they cannot speak with nonstatutory employees in leadership 
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roles.  (GC Br. at 20)  Respondent asserts that this allegation 
should be dismissed because Marpoe’s comment is confusing, 
open to multiple interpretations, and is grounded in opinion.   (R.
Br. at 23–24)

In context, I believe Marpoe’s statements are covered by the 
Board’s holding in Tri-Cast, 274 NLRB 377 (1985), with respect 
to whether employees, after they unionize, will being able to 
speak with management about matters.  Accordingly, I recom-
mend that complaint paragraph 6(a)(ii) be dismissed.  Holy
Cross Hospital, 370 NLRB No. 16, slip op. at 1 n. 3; Montgom-
ery Ward & Co , 288 NLRB at 126 fn. 3.

3. Time Limited Agreements (TLAs)

Employees considered TLAs to be an important benefit, and 
during the March 11 meeting someone asked how bargaining and 
negotiations would effect TLAs and lateral transfers.  Marpoe 
replied saying that they both could be impacted because hours, 
benefits and wages are all negotiated into the contract.  She said 
that if something is important to the partners and they want to 
get it in the contract, “that may also be part of the process.”  Un-
derriter then said that TLAs are “super complex.”  And Kaufman 
followed-up saying TLAs are complex because a unionized part-
ner is protected under the contract, but only protected where they 
work, and it is “a big question” as to whether a unionized partner 
would be allowed to go from their home store to another store, 
and maybe all of that needs to be specifically outlined on what 
can be done.  Marpoe then interjected saying that:

Yeah, in my opinion. I’m speaking from my opinion.  I think 
TLAs go off the table because you’re still a union. And if you 
go there, you’re still in a union, but you’re in a non-union 
home. And I don’t see how, in my opinion, either Starbucks or 
the union would allow you to not adhere to union rules in a 
contract because then, you know, we’re talking a lot of stuff 
that goes on, like, you’re doing things, you’re paying your 
membership dues, but you’re not actually in a union job, and 
you’re not actually following the union rules. What does that 
say about the agreement? So in my opinion, TLAs are going to 
be sticky or gone.  

Neither Underriter nor Kaufman said anything in reply to Mar-
poe’s statement.  After a 6 second pause where nobody spoke, 
Marpoe asked if anyone wanted some chocolate; some in the 
room laughed.  Marpoe then said this is not an easy conversation 
to have, that she wants to be open and honest and does not want 
to sugarcoat anything.  But, Marpoe added, she can tell workers 
her opinion on what is probably going to happen.  Then she said 
that if it is not in the contract it is not going to happen.

In complaint paragraph 6(b)(iii) the General Counsel alleges 
that Marpoe’s statement about TLA’s being “off the table . .  
sticky or gone,” violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.  (GC Br. at 
21)  Respondent argues that no threats were made, and instead 
claims that Marpoe’s comments were “the conveyance of per-
sonal opinions about the potential future of such a benefit in a 

23 In the context used, in combination with the word “gone” and after 
saying that TLAs would be “off the table,” a reasonable employee would 
understand Marpoe’s use of the word “sticky” to mean something that is 
unpleasant or problematic.  See Merriam-Webster Dictionary Online, in-
cluding “unpleasant,” and “problematic” as definitions for the word 

unionized environment and an explanation that [the] ultimate 
fate is that TLA’s would be sticky–meaning still possible–or 
gone.”  (R. Br. at 9) (italics in original)  The company further 
asserts that Marpoe’s explanation of “sticky or gone” was be-
cause TLAs “were, in fact, complicated.”  Id. at 12  Finally, Re-
spondent argues that there should be no violation because in the 
March 22 meeting Marpoe explained that TLAs would “get ham-
mered out in the contract.”  Id. at 10.  

In assessing alleged threats, the Board uses an objective stand-
ard, whether a remark would tend to coerce a reasonable em-
ployee,  Hendrickson USA, LLC, 366 NLRB No. 7, slip op. at 5 
(2018).  And, the Board considers the totality of the relevant cir-
cumstances in determining whether an employer’s statement 
constitutes a violation.  Ebenezer Rail Car Services, 333 NLRB 
167 fn. 2 (2001).  Here, I believe that, considering the totality of 
the relevant circumstances, a reasonable employee would under-
stand Marpoe’s statement about TLAs as a threat of losing an 
existing benefit if employees unionized and therefore violates 
Section 8(a)(1).  Marpoe told the assembled employees she be-
lieved “TLAs go off the table because you’re still a union,” and 
that in her opinion “TLAs are going to be sticky or gone.”23  This 
occurred during a meeting where company officials said they 
were present to make sure employees “just have the facts” to 
“make the decision that’s right for you,” and to present the
“facts” regarding what the company described as “a big flipping 
decision with huge ramifications.”  Given her position with the 
company, and the fact Marpoe spoke in the presence of Barth, 
who did not contradict or her statement or otherwise say any-
thing in response, employees would understand that Marpoe was 
speaking as a representative of Respondent, and that her state-
ments were the company’s position on the matter.  

Advancing the coercive nature of Marpoe’s comments was the 
fact they were made during a mandatory meeting, whose purpose 
was to discuss the unionization petition, the pending election, 
and to persuade employees to adopt the company’s position that 
they should forego unionization.  Aldworth Co. Inc., 338 NLRB 
137, 141 (2002) (In finding statements violated Section 8(a)(1), 
the Board considered the context in which they were made, in-
cluding the fact they occurred during a meeting whose purpose 
was to discuss the union campaign); Mautz Paint & Varnish Co., 
117 NLRB 496, 508 (1957) (judge considers context in which 
statements were made, noting the employer “was not conducting 
a sedate seminar on the law. It was attempting to induce employ-
ees to forego union representation.”).  And, employees, in fact, 
understood Marpoe’s statement about TLAs as a threat.  Imme-
diately after her comment, Keanna said that Respondent’s scare 
tactics were inappropriate, and when asked for examples, she 
pointed to company statements about benefits being taken off the 
table. 

Respondent cannot point to the fact that Marpoe used the 
words “I think” or “in my opinion” to forestall the finding of a 
violation.  The Board long ago recognized that an employer 

“sticky.”  https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/sticky (last vis-
ited January 27, 2023).  That various employees complained regarding 
perceived threats about losing benefits during the meeting supports this 
finding.  
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cannot immunize its statements by simply characterizing them, 
“however coercive, as expressions of opinion.”  J.S. Abercrom-
bie Co., 83 NLRB 524, 530 (1949); see also Chief Freight Lines 
Co., 111 NLRB 22, 24–25 (1955), enfd. 235 F.2d 105 (10th Cir. 
1956) (Board noting that it would not “excuse an employer rep-
resentative, defending an 8(a)(1) charge, because he had only 
told the employees that ‘he thought’ they would be discharged if 
they persisted in exercising the rights guaranteed them by Sec-
tion 7 of the Act.”).  

While an employer can express a prediction on the precise ef-
fects it believes unionization will have on the company, such pre-
dictions must be “carefully phrased on the basis of objective fact 
to convey an employer’s belief as to demonstrably probable con-
sequences beyond his control.”  NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co.,
395 U.S. 575, 618 (1969).  “And any balancing of those rights
must take into account the economic dependence of the employ-
ees on their employers, and the necessary tendency of the former,
because of that relationship, to pick up intended implications of
the latter that might be more readily dismissed by a more disin-
terested ear.”  Id. at 617.  “The underlying message of Section
8(a)(1) is that an employer . . . needs to take care in the rhetoric
it uses when discussing union issues with its workers.”  AutoNa-
tion, Inc. v. NLRB, 801 F.3d 767, 774 (7th Cir. 2015).

Here, Marpoe statements were not phrased based upon objec-
tive facts outside of the company’s control.  She said “TLAs go 
off the table because you’re still a union,” and “are going to be 
sticky or gone.”  Also, her comment about how neither Starbucks 
nor the Union would allow employees not to adhere to union 
rules, while paying union dues, did not cure the damage caused 
by her statement.  There are multiple Board cases describing col-
lective bargaining agreements with provisions allowing unit em-
ployees to take a leave of absence for a certain period of time, 
even to work elsewhere with their employer’s approval, and then 
return to the bargaining unit while keeping their seniority.  See, 
e.g., Appalachian Power Co., 198 NLRB 576, 576, 1972 (con-
tract provision allowing employees, when conditions permit, to
take a leave of absence for up to one year, and work elsewhere
during this time, with the approval of the company); California
Saw and Knife Works, 320 NLRB 224, 309 (1995) (describing 
contract provision where, when granted, an employee can take a 
leave of absence for up to six months and return to their position 
with full seniority); Electrical Workers IBEW Local 1212 , 288
NLRB 374, 378, (1988) (contract provision allowing employees 
to take a 2 year leave of absence to conduct union business in 
connection with the broadcasting industry while allowing them 
accrue/retain seniority throughout their leave).  There is certainly 
no reason beyond Respondent’s control that Siren Retail and the 
Union could not craft an agreeable contract provision to allow 
for unit employees to continue to enjoy TLA benefits, and then 
return to their bargaining unit positions when the TLA expired.  

Finally, as for Respondent’s claim that there was no threat 

24 See Ghee v. Apple-Metro, Inc., No. 17-CV-5723 (JPO), 2018 WL
575326, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 13112, at *1-3 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 26, 2018)
(describing practice of New York restaurants which use tablets for pay-
ment and tipping and do not allow customers to tip less than a predeter-
mined percentage); Simon Hedlin and Cass R. Sunstein, Does Active 
Choosing Promote Green Energy Use? Experimental Evidence, 43 

because of subsequent statements made about TLAs in the 
March 22 meeting (R. Br. at 10–12), there is no evidence that the 
same employees were present in both the March 11 and 22 meet-
ings.  See Service Employees Local 399 (City of Hope), 333 
NLRB 1399, 1401 (2001). (“[T]here must be adequate publica-
tion of the repudiation to the employees involved.”).  Accord-
ingly, by telling partners that TLAs would be off the table, sticky 
or gone, if they unionized, Respondent threatened employees 
with decreased benefits in violation of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.  
Cf. Bethany Medical Center, 328 NLRB 1094, 1105 (1999) (tell-
ing employees that if they persisted in activities protected by
Section 7 of the Act their accrued benefits “may be in jeopardy”
constituted an unlawful threat); Textron, Inc., 199 NLRB 131,
135 (1972) (“Section 8(c) does not protect the expression of an
intention to make bargaining demands that will place in jeopardy
the employees’ existing benefits”).

4. Tips

For years, merchants have had the ability to process customer 
credit card tips at the point of sale.24  However, Starbucks stores 
including the Roastery historically have been unable to do so.  
The inability of customers to leave credit card tips was one of the 
issues that drove employees during the union campaign.  

At one point during the March 11 meeting, an employee 
named Ean said there was a discrepancy between the amount of 
work partners perform and the pay they receive.  He complained 
that Respondent was telling employee their relationship with 
management will change in a negative way and benefits will be 
taken away if they unionized, when the main asking point in the 
union drive was for the company to give customers the ability to 
tip partners in more ways, which would increase worker pay 
without Starbucks having to pay for it.  Ean also said that part-
ners had been seeking increased tipping options for a long time, 
and Starbucks could have implemented this at any time but had 
chosen not to do so.  

Barth replied saying that the issue with tips was “a technology 
piece that is in the way” and it has been for years.  She said tips 
have been a topic of conversation for some time, that the chal-
lenge for the company is on the “back end,” and the technology
piece was the difficulty.  Barth further said she believed there 
was a constraint on the technology preventing this from happen-
ing and was not sure the union was going to change that.  Ean 
responded that Starbucks was a billion dollar company and the 
issues on the back end should have been resolved by now.  Barth 
said this issue had been on their annual operating plan for three 
years and Ean countered that three years was a long time.  He 
later noted that partners at the Roastery bus tables, but do not get
tips, while at restaurants where workers bus tables, customers 
leave tips of 25 percent most of the time.  Ean said that, when it 
comes to employee wages in relation to their labor, it was not 
adding up and this was the reason why employees at so many 
Starbucks stores, including the Roastery, were unionizing.  Barth 

Ecology L.Q. 107, 121, 121 fn. 71 (2016) (discussing that taxis and res-
taurants have installed credit card touchscreens or tablets, which have 
suggested tip amounts, to process credit card payments); John Keith, 
FROM THE CHAIR, 40 Los Angeles Lawyer 8, 8 (November, 2017) 
(describing Las Angeles bakery that uses a tablet for payment and re-
quires a tip between 18 to 30 percent).
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replied saying “we’ve heard it loud and clear that wages and tips 
have been a big issue.” 

For the next 10 minutes the conversation on tips continued and 
a discussion ensued about wages.  Then, Kaufman said it sucks 
being the person who is “just trying to share the facts in terms of 
this is a big flipping decision with huge ramifications.”  Kaufman 
said that she is conditioned to look out for partners and tries to 
go to every one of these meetings because she wants to hear from 
employees about what matters to everyone, but said it is hard and 
a lot of heavy stuff.  Kaufman then told the partners 

I would say, like, hell yeah, if, you know, credit card tips could 
be, like, if that could just be switched on—that would be amaz-
ing. That server, that code, doesn’t exist yet. And, um, contract 
negotiations isn’t going to create the code. We use registers that 
are used in every other Starbucks. What updates on ours will 
impact every other Starbucks. When we talk about like mo-
bile—you know when you go to like Square, or whatnot, like 
that front end, credit card, those registers flip, so that a customer 
can make a personal choice as to how much to tip. Our equip-
ment doesn’t do that. And negotiations is going to have a hard 
time in us getting brand new equipment in here, plus server 
code. It’s just honest. 

After this comment, the room went silent for half of a minute, 
until Marpoe said that she was going to make some coffee.  

Pursuant to Section 8(d) of the Act “wages, hours, and other 
terms and conditions of employment” are mandatory subjects of 
bargaining.  29 U.S.C. 158(d).  The definition of “wages” is 
broad.  Weyerhaeuser Timber Co., 87 NLRB 672, 675, (1949).  
It includes tips and gratuities that employees receive from cus-
tomers, even though the employer is not the source of the benefit.  
The Capital Times Co., 223 NLRB 651, 652 (1976).  “The pay-
ment of tips is beneficial to the employer in that it gives an in-
centive to the employee to render good customer service on be-
half of the employer to the customer.”  Id.  

An employer is also required to bargain with the union repre-
senting its employees regarding the means of payment relating
to wages.  Tribune Publishing Co., 351 NLRB 196, 197 (2007)
enfd. (564 F.3d 1330) (DC. Cir. 2009) (Since employee payroll
deductions are a mandatory subject of bargaining, by extension
the means by which those deductions are made, direct deposit, is
also a mandatory subject of bargaining); Electro-Flyte, Inc., 331 
NLRB 633, 636, 2000 (“The subject of health insurance premi-
ums and the means of their payment relates to wages, hours, and 
other terms and conditions of employment . . . and is a mandatory 
subject . . . of bargaining.”); Cf. Titan Box Corp., 208 NLRB 
787, 789 (1974) (A wage incentive plan that could increase em-
ployee wages based upon their personal effort, and in no way is 
dependent upon the company’s profit or loss, is a method of pay-
ment and a mandatory subject of bargaining.).  The timing of 
these payments are also a mandatory subject of bargaining.  Som-
erville Mills, 308 NLRB 425, 439 (1992) (“the hour at which 

25 Respondent telling employees that, if they unionize, they will not 
receive anything that is not specified in their contract is not necessarily 
accurate.  If a benefit has become an established past practice, an em-
ployer cannot unilaterally cease providing it to employees, even if the 
benefit is not expressly embodied in the collective bargaining agreement.  
Central Illinois Public Service Co., 139 NLRB 1407, 1415 (1962), enfd. 

employees can obtain their paychecks constitutes a mandatory 
subject of collective bargaining.”).

Over the years counter-service credit card tipping has become
omnipresent, and Respondent’s employees were frustrated with
the company’s inability to offer credit card tipping.  This was a
big issue in the organizing drive.  When employees raised the
matter during the March 11 meeting, Barth said the issue was a
back-end technology piece and she was unsure the Union would
change that.  Kaufman then followed up saying that the server
and code for credit card tipping does not exist yet, and contract
negotiations is not going to create code.  She also said that, while
other merchants have credit card tipping at the point of sale, the
company’s “equipment doesn’t do that” and “[i]t’s just honest”
that negotiations would “have a hard time in getting brand new
equipment in here, plus service code.”   In short, by these state-
ments both Barth and Kaufman were telling employees that
changes to tipping could only flow from the Respondent, and not
the collective-bargaining process.  I believe that, in context, Re-
spondent’s reply to the concerns raised by partners in the meet-
ing would lead reasonable employees to believe that it would be
futile for them to select the Union to bargain with Respondent
over the issue of credit card tipping.  By so doing, Respondent
violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

5. Bargaining

About seven minutes into the March 11 meeting, Marpoe told 
employees that the pending unionization vote does not give 
workers any wages, benefits, or hours and it was simply for part-
ners to decide on whether to give the Union the right to collec-
tively bargain with Starbucks.  Marpoe then discussed collective-
bargaining and told the gathered employees that:

For collective bargaining, it can—there is no timetable for 
when an agreement may or may not happen. It can take on av-
erage a year to eighteen months for any kind of agreement to 
be reached. 

Currently the core store in Buffalo, New York, they have been 
3 months into the process and nothing has been reached.  So 
just be mindful of the fact that nothing overnight changes.  And 
with regards to your wages, benefits, or hours, that is what’s 
going to be negotiated in a contract, and everything is on the 
table.  So your benefits, wages, and hours could go up, could 
stay the same, or you could lose benefits. 

Marpoe then told employees to be mindful that, if a contract is 
ratified, it is usually in place for three years and during that time 
Starbucks “can roll something out” involving benefits, like Bean 
Stock, and that any of those things that are not in the contract 
will not be afforded to union members; for them to receive it, it 
has to be in the contract.25 Marpoe said any promises being made 
that wages, hours or benefits will go up or get better is not guar-
anteed because both the Union and Starbucks will both “come to 
the table with something,” that neither side is compelled to make 

324 F.2d 916 (7th Cir. 1963) (gas discount had become an established 
past practice which employer could not unilaterally cease, even though 
it was never written into the collective-bargaining agreement); Dearborn
Country Club, 298 NLRB 915, 915 (1990) (longstanding practice of al-
lowing servers to work overtime had become an extracontractual condi-
tion of employment).  
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an agreement or give a concession, and as long as both Starbucks 
and the Union is bargaining in good faith, which means “a rea-
sonable time, a reasonable place, and an open mind.  Then the 
bargaining process can go on, for a very long time.” 

Citing Airtex, 308 NLRB 1135, 1135 fn. 2 (1992), and Valerie 
Manor Inc., 351 NLRB 1306 (2007), the General Counsel argues 
that Marpoe’s statements violate Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. (GC
Br. at 22–24)  Respondent asserts that these statements were “ob-
jectively lawful.”  (R. Br. at 12–13).   

As noted by the General Counsel, in Airtex, 308 NLRB 1135, 
1135 fn. 2 (1992), the Board found a violation where the com-
pany president told two employees during a restaurant conversa-
tion that negotiations could last a year, that he only had to nego-
tiate with the union, and not sign a contract.  Id.  In finding a 
violation, the Board noted that these statements did not stand 
alone, and the company president had also threatened one of the 
employees, who was the lead union adherent, with job loss, while 
making specific offers to him of a supervisory position and other 
“blandishments” if he gave up his support of the Union, thereby 
browbeating him in front of a coworker.  The Board said that, in 
this context, the president’s statement about negotiations and not 
having to sign a contract “was not a mere statement of law” but 
was “a threat that employee support for the union would be fu-
tile.”  Id.  In Valerie Manor Inc., 351 NLRB 1306, 1313 (2007),
the Board found a violation where the employer said negotiations 
could take up to two years and the parties could reach an im-
passe. Again these statements were made in the context of other 
extensive and serious unfair labor practices including: repeated 
threats of facility closure, job loss, and loss of wages and bene-
fits.  Id. at 1306–1307.  

In other contexts, the Board has found that statements about 
bargaining taking years, without any guarantees, to be lawful.  
Histacount Corp., 278 NLRB 681 (1986).  In Histacount Corp., 
no violation was found where the employer sent a letter to em-
ployees that said:  bargaining can continue for weeks, months, or 
even years until the parties come to a mutual agreement; there is 
no guarantee existing benefits will survive bargaining; the com-
pany is legally entitled to bargain from ground zero; every ben-
efit is up for grabs; and while the company would bargain in 
good faith, it would do so in light of all its legal rights. 278 
NLRB at 686. Ultimately, these statements were found lawful, 
with the Board finding that, in context, they did not appear to 
relay the message that the employer would unilaterally discon-
tinue existing benefits if the employees selected union represen-
tation, but rather that existing benefits may be lost as a result of 
bargaining.  Histacount Corp., 278 NLRB 681, 689 (1986). 

It appears, therefore, that in reviewing statements made by an 
employer about bargaining, the Board looks at the statement it-
self, and its immediate context, to determine whether what was 
said is coercive and constitutes a violation.  Wild Oats Markets, 
Inc., 344 NLRB 717, 717–718 (2005); See also Mantrose-
Hauser Co., 306 NLRB 377, 377–378 (1992) (no violation 
where statements in mailing sent to employees were devoid of 
any other unlawful statements and the employer did not commit 
any other unfair labor practices).  And, “[w]hen the question is 
close, a critical factor in determining whether the statement has 
a threatening color is whether the context of the statement in-
cludes contemporaneous threats or unfair labor practices.  

Hendrickson USA, LLC v. NLRB, 932 F.3d 465, 472 (6th Cir. 
2019) (internal quotations omitted).

Here, Marpoe’s comments occurred in the context of other co-
ercive statements that were made during the March 11 meeting, 
including the threat that TLAs would be “off the table” if em-
ployees unionized, and the threat that the Union could not bar-
gain about credit card tips.  Accordingly, given the other con-
temporaneous threats made during the March 11 meeting, I find 
that, in context, Marpoe’s statements here, including her com-
ments about how long bargaining can take, are coercive and vi-
olate Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. 

6. Statements about strikes

About a half-hour before the March 11 meeting ended, there 
was a discussion regarding whether employees could vote the 
union out at some later date.  Kaufman said that, once a contract 
is signed there was no getting out of the union until the contract 
ends, and then NLRB would have to conduct another vote.  Kauf-
man further said that, if partners wanted to renegotiate a signed 
contract during the term of the agreement, there were no guaran-
tees that Starbucks would come back to the negotiating table; she 
said there are no guarantees, but there were other rights to exer-
cise.  At this point a barista named Justin asked about what he 
described as a common practice he had read about involving a 
“scheduled walkout, or those type of things,” where workers go 
to their leader and say they are walking out and would not work 
until certain terms are met or renegotiated.  Kaufman then said: 
“Yup—and for that all union partners would have to strike.”  
Marpoe followed up saying “there is no opt-out in the State of 
Washington.  Everyone will be union, if you go union, and the 
contract is ratified.”  And Kaufman finished by saying “the strike 
will be a simple majority as well.”  In reply to Respondent’s 
comments, another barista said that employees can choose not to 
strike, and conveyed his experience working during a strike 
without suffering any repercussions.  

Complaint paragraph 6(d) alleges the statements by Respond-
ent that all union partners would have to strike, and that there is 
no opting out in the State of Washington, constitute violations of 
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.  I disagree.

After Justin asked about what he described as a common prac-
tice of a “scheduled walkout, or those type of things” in order to 
get an employer to agree to negotiate the modification of a signed 
collective bargaining agreement, Kaufman said:  Yup—and for 
that all union partners would have to strike.  In context, it is un-
clear exactly what Kaufman was trying to explain, because Jus-
tin’s question about a “scheduled walkout, or those type of 
things,” occurring mid-contract was similarly vague.  Whether 
workers can strike during the term of a contract depends upon a 
variety of variables.  See e.g., Mastro Plastics Corp. v. NLRB, 
350 U.S. 270 (1956); NLRB v. Lion Oil Co., 352 U.S. 282 (1957); 
Caterpillar Tractor Co. v. NLRB, 658 F.2d 1242, 1247 (7th Cir. 
1981); 29 U.S.C. § 158(d).  

What is clear is that Kaufman did not say “all employees 
would need to strike if they were represented by a union” as ar-
gued by the General Counsel, nor do her words “imply that a 
strike would be an inevitable result of unionizing.”  (GC Br. at 
25)  Her comments about a strike came in response to a very 
narrow hypothetical poised by Justin where:  (1) employees had 



DECISIONS OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD46

unionized; (2) the Union and Respondent had entered into a col-
lective bargaining agreement; (3) employees wanted to modify 
the contract during the term of the agreement; (4) Respondent 
refused to renegotiate the contract; and (5) employees wanted to 
engage in a “scheduled walk out, or those type of things” to pres-
sure Respondent to bargain a modification.  Considering Kauf-
man’s words objectively, and in context, I find that her statement 
was not coercive, and would not reasonably tend to interfere with 
employee rights.  As such, I recommend that the allegation in 
complaint paragraph 6(d)(i) be dismissed.  

As for Marpoe immediately following up with the statement “ 
there is no opt-out in the State of Washington.  Everyone will be 
union, if you go union, and the contract is ratified,” clearly this 
is a misstatement of the law.  There is no blanket requirement
that everyone must join a union once a majority of employees 
vote for union representation and after a contract is ratified.  Nev-
ertheless, the Board has held that misstatements of the law, in-
cluding telling employees they would have to join the union if 
the union won the election, are not in themselves a violation of 
Section 8(a)(1) if there is no express threat that the employer, by 
its own action, would impose dire consequences upon employees 
and if the statement does not contain an implicit threat on em-
ployee rights.  Daniel Construction Co., 257 NLRB 1276, 1276 
(1981), enfd. mem. 732 F.2d 139 (1st. Cir. 1984).  While Mar-
poe’s statement came immediately after Kaufman’s comments, I 
find it significant that Marpoe did not say anything one way or 
another about the status of any employee who might strike, what 
actions the employer would take on its own initiative, or that an-
ything negative would happen to an employee if such a strike 
occurred.  Accordingly, taken in context, I find that Marpoe’s 
statement, although false, does not contain either an explicit or 
implicit threat on employee rights, and falls within the misrepre-
sentations of the law that the Board has countenanced.  There-
fore, I recommend that complaint paragraph 6(d)(ii) be dis-
missed.

C. Statements made at the March 22 meeting

The March 22 meeting lasted about an hour and 15 minutes.  
Kaufman and Barth led the discussion, which was attended by 
anywhere from 15 to 20 baristas, including Keanna who rec-
orded the meeting.  About 15 minutes into the meeting, Kaufman 
told employees that negotiations may take a long time and that 
during this process employees can generally strike until a con-
tract is signed, at which point there is always a clause in the 
agreement that prohibits any labor issues during the term of the 
contract.  However, she said that striking before a contract is 
signed is possible.  They continued to discuss strikes, the Un-
ion’s strike fund, and whether employees could or could not con-
tinue working during a strike.  Kaufman then told partners that 
there was much interest in what employees would be able to ne-
gotiate in a contract and said the odds of employees receiving 
miles above everybody else is challenging without compromise.  
Kaufman said that, while partners might ask for a wage increase 
in a three to five year agreement that is tied to inflation or the 
minimum wage, Respondent will always be much more con-
servative, because nobody knows what happens, like a pan-
demic; high risk is challenging without compromise.  

Kaufman told employees that, unlike bargaining for a single 

factory, or a few hundred hotels or grocery stores in one partic-
ular region, Starbucks has thousands of stores.  Therefore, she 
said “I think for unionized stores to get a super great deal, it’s 
going to be hounding, I think, for Starbucks to move all those 
billions of dollars that go to partners over to their legal depart-
ment that’s constantly negotiating contracts.”  Kaufman then dis-
cussed five Starbucks stores in Canada that had unionized, say-
ing that all but one had voted to deunionize later.  For the one 
remaining store, Kaufman said that while they had bargained for 
more time off, the pay increase they negotiated in their contract 
was 69 cents.  Therefore, because that store had a signed con-
tract, it did not receive any of the other increases the rest of the 
market received so they now make less than the rest of the stores 
around them; after this comment, Keanna can be heard whisper-
ing “more scare tactics.”  Kaufman followed-up by telling part-
ners that, while they will be present at the negotiating table, it 
will be the lawyers duking it out.  She then said:

And, uh—um, this will be lawyers duking it out for sure.  Uh, 
and then also, you know—I think this relied on Starbucks having 
business for their part going up higher and higher.  Or it is—
considering—uh, them to also prioritize, frankly, un-unionized 
stores over unionized stores. I’m just being honest.

Keanna then asked if Kaufman was saying that partners won’t 
have much of a voice, to which Kaufman said that they will def-
initely and absolutely have a voice, that their voice is incredibly 
important, but that it is a legal process and the lawyers will duke 
it out.  Keanna then asked Kaufman about her statement that the 
company will “pay attention to other stores, rather than us.”  
Kaufman replied by saying:

Well, we’ll be in a contract, collective bargaining. We’ll be, 
wuh—your voice will be at that table, for sure. But—um—if—
uh—benefits are added, they will be added to non-collective 
bargaining stores.  

Keanna asked “so we won’t get the new benefits that other 
stores will get?”  And Kaufman said, “it’s a risk.”  Keanna then 
said, “unless we negotiate it in the contract, which why wouldn’t 
we?”  And Kaufman replied again saying “it is a risk.”  After this 
exchange, another employee present at the meeting said that he 
wanted to ask an open question to anyone in the room about
deunionizing, asking whether they had to have a contract in place 
or if workers could deunionize without having a contract.  At the 
end of the discussion about deunionizing, Kaufman told the 
workers it was ultimately none of her business whether they 
chose to unionize, that everyone has been through the worst two 
years of their lives, everyone was tired and wanted more pay, and 
that she does not view herself as being in the upper class.  She 
told the partners that if they “do it” they should write a great/phe-
nomenal contract because the likelihood of Starbucks coming 
back to revisit it is not that high.

Complaint paragraph 6(e) alleges that the statements at the 
meeting about Respondent prioritizing nonunionized stores over 
unionized stores, and about benefits being added to 
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nonunionized stores, constitutes a violation of Section 8(a)(1).26  
I agree.

In context, I believe the message from Respondent was objec-
tively clear, if employees unionized the company would priori-
tize nonunionized stores for additional upgrades or benefits over 
the Roastery.  By threatening employees that future upgrades 
and/or benefits could be put at risk if employees unionized, 
Kaufman violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act, as her statements
would be perceived as threats by a reasonable employee.  EPE, 
Inc. v. NLRB, 845 F.2d 483, 492 (4th Cir. 1988) (Board properly 
found an 8(a)(1) violation where company president told em-
ployees that “union members would not be eligible for benefits 
that were to be available to nonunion workers.”) enfg. 284 
NLRB 191, 197, 201 (1987); Cf. Gem Knits, Inc., 174 NLRB 
449, 452 (1969) (statement to employees, in the context of dis-
cussions about the union, that the employer would not purchase 
new equipment until things had worked out a violation); Stahl
Specialty Co., 364 NLRB 635, 640, 652, (2016) (Management 
speech during mandatory meeting, including comments that sug-
gested further investment in the plant would be put at risk if em-
ployees unionized, a violation); Melville Confections, Inc. v. 
NLRB, 327 F.2d 689, 691 (7th Cir. 1964) cert. denied 377 U.S. 
933 (1965) (Employer violated Section 8(a)(1) by maintaining a 
profit sharing plan which, by its terms, specifically excluded em-
ployees represented by a union), enfg. 142 NLRB 1334 (1963).

D. De La Vega’s Facebook posts

Complaint paragraph 5(b) alleges that De La Vega’s Face-
book posts threatened employees by telling them they would lose 
their TLAs, ASU tuition, and/or healthcare benefits in violation 
of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.  Respondent asserts there can be no 
finding of a violation because:  (1) “De La Vega’s Facebook 
posts cannot be attributed to Starbucks;” and (2) De La Vega’s 
statements were lawful.  (R. Br. at 27-30)

Regarding De La Vega, the Roastery entered into a written 
stipulation that, as the assistant store manager, at various times, 
he was a supervisor within the meaning Section 2(11) of the Act, 
and/or an agent of Respondent within the meaning of Section 
2(13) of the Act.  And during the hearing, Respondent’s counsel 
clarified the stipulation stating there was no dispute that De La 
Vega was an associate store manager on February 14, and that 
his job with the Roastery is supervisory.  Respondent’s position 
is that De La Vega’s Facebook postings were not part of his job 
duties and/or were outside the scope of his job duties and there-
fore were not attributable to Respondent.  (Tr. 128–131; J. 1)

The fact that De La Vega’s Facebook posts may have occurred 
while he was not at work is immaterial, as some of his Facebook 
“friends” were employees at the Roastery and he was directly 
addressing the unionization efforts at the Roastery in his posts.  
Big Ridge, Inc., 358 NLRB 1006, 1020 (2012), affirmed by 361 
NLRB 1372 (2014), enfd. 808 F.3d 705 (7th Cir. 2015) (collect-
ing cases where violations were found based on statements made 
after work and finding that Facebook posts made by a foreman 
while he was not at work violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act).  

26 The complaint alleges that Marpoe made these comments, however 
the evidence shows that it was Kaufman who was speaking.  (GC 9, pp. 
14–15) (Tr. 255)  

Likewise, even if De La Vega “had not intended his Facebook 
posts to be seen by . . . employees, it was virtually certain under 
the circumstances, and therefore reasonably foreseeable, that 
they would be,” and he received several responses from Roastery 
employees.  Id. at 1020–1021.  Therefore, the only remaining 
issue is whether De La Vega’s Facebook comments are objec-
tively coercive.  I find that they are.  

During the back and forth between De La Vega and his vari-
ous Facebook friends, in one post he addressed Slabaugh and 
Liza directly saying: 

. . . if union vote is passed, TLA opportunities would be on the 
table. As they wouldn’t be considered a part of the theoretical 
union. Since they are two different entities, we can’t share part-
ners anymore for legality reasons.

Nothing will be guaranteed and everything will be on the table. 
Some might lose their free ASU others their healthcare. And 
much else. Even negotiating higher wages wouldn’t be guaran-
teed.

Regarding De La Vega’s statement about TLAs, his post is ob-
jectively read as saying that employees would no longer be able 
to partake in TLAs if they unionized, because the Roastery and 
the other Starbucks corporate entities where employees work un-
der a TLA “are two different entities, [and] we can’t share part-
ners anymore for legality reasons.”  Sharing partners between 
two different areas of the Starbucks organization, in order for 
employees to gain work experience and a broader understanding 
of the company, is the primary purpose of TLAs.  While De La 
Vega claimed that, if employees unionized, TLAs would cease 
for “legality reasons,” he did not give a “a lawful explanation 
based on objective facts as to why such a loss of benefits would 
occur.”  Poly-America, Inc. v. NLRB, 260 F.3d 465, 485 (5th Cir. 
2001) (internal quotation omitted); see also Gissel Packing Co.,
395 U.S. at 618 (while an employer can express predictions
about the effects of unionization it must be “carefully phrased on 
the basis of objective fact to convey an employer’s belief as to 
demonstrably probable consequences beyond his control.”).  Ac-
cordingly, under the circumstances, I find that the statement con-
stituted a threat of a reduction in benefits, specifically TLAs, if 
employees unionized, and violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

I also find that De La Vega’s comment that “some might lose 
their free ASU others their healthcare. And much else,” is coer-
cive and a violation of Section 8(a)(1).  De La Vega was not 
simply saying that, if employees unionized, certain existing ben-
efits might be negotiated away through the natural give and take 
of collective bargaining.  Instead, he was relaying a message to 
employees that, if they voted to unionize, some existing benefit 
will definitely be lost, whether it was ASU tuition benefits, 
healthcare, or “much else.”  This comment is objectively coer-
cive and constitutes an unlawful threat.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.  The Respondent is an employer engaged in commerce 
within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.
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2.  Workers United, affiliated with the Service Employees In-
ternational Union, is a labor organization within the meaning of 
Section 2(5) of the Act.

3.  By threatening employees that existing benefits will be re-
duced if they vote to unionize, Respondent violated Section 
8(a)(1) of the Act. 

4.  By threatening employees that they will lose existing ben-
efits if they vote to unionize, Respondent violated Section 
8(a)(1) of the Act.

5.  By threatening employees that it would be futile for them 
to unionize, Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

6.  By threatening employees that, if they unionize, the com-
pany will prioritize nonunion stores and unionized stores will not 
receive added benefits, Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of 
the Act.

7.  The above unfair labor practices affect commerce within 
the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act.

REMEDY

Having found that the Respondent has engaged in certain un-
fair labor practices, I shall order it to cease and desist therefrom 
and to take certain affirmative actions, as further set forth in the 
Order below, designed to effectuate the policies of the Act.  The 
Respondent shall be required to post the attached notice in ac-
cordance with J. Picini Flooring, 356 NLRB 11 (2010), and 
Durham School Services, 360 NLRB 694 (2014).  

In the complaint, the General Counsel seeks additional reme-
dies including a request for a notice reading and training for su-
pervisors and managers on employee rights under the Act.  The 
General Counsel’s arguments in favor of both of these remedies 
is limited to one footnote.  (GC Br. at 45, fn. 39)  In this same 
footnote, the General Counsel also asks that a posting of em-
ployee rights be ordered, to be posted alongside the notice.  Be-
cause the General Counsel has not shown that the Board’s stand-
ard remedies are insufficient to remedy the unfair labor practices 
found herein, I find that these additional remedies are not neces-
sary.  

Consistent with FDRLST Media, LLC, 370 NLRB No. 49, slip 
op. at 1 fn. 5 (2020), enf. denied 35 F.4th 108 (3d Cir. 2022), and 
Tesla, Inc., 370 NLRB No. 101, slip op. at 9 (2021), I shall also 
order Respondent to direct De La Vega to delete the unlawful 
posts from his personal Facebook page/account and to take ap-
propriate steps to ensure that De La Vega complies with the di-
rective.  

On these findings of fact and conclusions of law, and on the 
entire record, I issue the following recommended27  

27 If no exceptions are filed as provided by Sec. 102.46 of the Board’s 
Rules and Regulations, the findings, conclusions, and recommended Or-
der shall, as provided in Sec. 102.48 of the Rules, be adopted by the 
Board and all objections to them shall be deemed waived for all purposes.

28 If the facilities involved in these proceedings are open and staffed 
by a substantial complement of employees, the notices must be posted 
within 14 days after service by the Region. If the facilities involved in 
these proceedings are closed or not staffed by a substantial complement 
of employees due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pan-
demic, the notices must be posted within 14 days after the facilities reo-
pen and a substantial complement of employees have returned to work. 
If, while closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of employees 

ORDER

Respondent Siren Retail Corp. d/b/a Starbucks, its officers, 
agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1.  Cease and desist from 
(a)  Threatening employees by telling them that existing ben-

efits will be reduced if they vote to unionize.
(b)  Threatening employees by telling them that they will lose 

existing benefits if they vote to unionize.
(c)  Threatening employees by telling them that selecting un-

ion representation would be futile.
(d)  Threatening employees by telling them that, if they vote 

to unionize, the company will prioritize nonunion stores and un-
ionized stores will not receive added benefits. 

(e)  In any like or related manner interfering with, restraining, 
or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed 
them by Section 7 of the Act.

2.  Take the following affirmative action necessary to effectu-
ate the policies of the Act.

(a)  Direct its agent/supervisor Elijah De La Vega to delete the 
February 14, 2022 posts—“if union vote is passed, TLA oppor-
tunities would be on the table. As they wouldn’t be considered a 
part of the theoretical union. Since they are two different entities, 
we can’t share partners anymore for legality reasons” and “Noth-
ing will be guaranteed and everything will be on the table. Some 
might lose their free ASU others their healthcare. And much else. 
Even negotiating higher wages wouldn’t be guaranteed.”—from
his personal Facebook page/account, and take appropriate steps 
to ensure De La Vega complies with this directive.

(b)  Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at its Se-
attle Reserve Roastery, located at 1124 E Pike Street, Seattle, 
Washington, copies of the attached notice marked “Appendix.”28  
Copies of the notice, on forms provided by the Regional Director 
for Region 19, after being signed by the Respondent’s authorized 
representative, shall be posted by the Respondent and maintained 
for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous places, including all 
places where notices to employees are customarily posted. In ad-
dition to physical posting of paper notices, notices shall be dis-
tributed electronically, such as by email, posting on an intranet 
or an internet site, and/or other electronic means, if the Respond-
ent customarily communicates with its employees by such 
means. Reasonable steps shall be taken by the Respondent to en-
sure that the notices are not altered, defaced, or covered by any 
other material. If the Respondent has gone out of business or 
closed the facility involved in these proceedings, the Respondent 
shall duplicate and mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice 
to all current employees and former employees employed by the 

due to the pandemic, the Respondent is communicating with its employ-
ees by electronic means, the notice must also be posted by such electronic 
means within 14 days after service by the Region. If the notice to be 
physically posted was posted electronically more than 60 days before 
physical posting of the notice, the notice shall state at the bottom that 
“This notice is the same notice previously [sent or posted] electronically 
on [date].” If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States 
court of appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the 
National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judg-
ment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the 
National Labor Relations Board.”
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Respondent at its Seattle Reserve Roastery at any time since Feb-
ruary 14, 2022.  

(c)  Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with the 
Regional Director for Region 19 a sworn certification of a re-
sponsible official on a form provided by the Region attesting to 
the steps that the Respondent has taken to comply.

Dated, Washington, D.C.  January 31, 2023

APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES

POSTED BY ORDER OF THE

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated 
Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on your be-

half
Act together with other employees for your benefit and 

protection
Choose not to engage in any of these protected activi-

ties.

WE WILL NOT threaten employees that benefits will be reduced
if they vote to unionize.

WE WILL NOT threaten employees that they will lose existing 
benefits if they vote to unionize.

WE WILL NOT threaten employees that selecting union repre-
sentation would be futile. 

WE WILL NOT threaten employees that if they unionize the 

company will prioritize nonunion stores and unionized stores 
will not receive added benefits.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, re-
strain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights listed 
above.

WE WILL direct our agent/supervisor, Elijah De La Vega to de-
lete the February 14, 2022 posts—“if union vote is passed, TLA 
opportunities would be on the table. As they wouldn’t be consid-
ered a part of the theoretical union. Since they are two different 
entities, we can’t share partners anymore for legality reasons” 
and “Nothing will be guaranteed and everything will be on the 
table. Some might lose their free ASU others their healthcare. 
And much else. Even negotiating higher wages wouldn’t be 
guaranteed.”—from his personal Facebook page/account, and 
WE WILL take appropriate steps to ensure De La Vega complies 
with our directive.

SIREN RETAIL CORP. D/B/A STARBUCKS

The Administrative Law Judge’s decision can be found at 
www.nlrb.gov/case/19-CA-290905 or by using the QR code be-
low. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the decision from 
the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, 1015 
Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 
273–1940.


